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SECTION A: THE PERFORMANCE REPORT  
 

 
 
This overview provides a short summary of the Board’s purpose, the key risks to the achievement of its 
objectives and how it has performed during the year. 
 
1.1 Statement from the Chief Executive on the Performance of NHS Lanarkshire 
 
2021/22 was the second full year where the NHS operated on an emergency footing, responding to the global 
Covid-19 pandemic. This has had a profound impact on activity during the year.    
 
Services which had been set up at pace in the early stages of the pandemic to save lives and minimise spread, 
were well established by 2021, though continued to evolve. Alongside regular testing in NHS and Social Care 
settings, a wide network of community testing centres was in place, promoting asymptomatic testing as well as 
testing people with symptoms. 214,188 cases were picked up in year through these routes. Test and Protect 
followed up on cases, tracing contacts and advising on isolation to prevent spread. In December 2020 NHS 
Lanarkshire vaccinated the first care home resident against Covid-19 setting off a huge programme that 
responded rapidly to evolving national advice. In 2021/22 1,123,031 doses were given as well as the normal flu 
vaccination programme expanding to take in the over 50’s.  As at 24 May 2022 90.5% of the over 40s had 
received at least 3 doses with 1,562,931 cumulative doses having been delivered. As new drugs became 
available to treat Covid-19, a new service was set up to make sure the most vulnerable people were identified 
and brought in to the treatment pathway.   
 
Despite the more transmissible delta and omicron variants appearing in 2021/22 and the progressive lifting of 
physical restrictions, the protective measures above helped to reduce the incidence of serious illness with days 
spent in hospital within 28 days of a positive Covid-19 test dropping from 47,130 in 2020/21 to 33,870 this year 
with an even greater impact on ICU admissions. Daily numbers varied from a low of 5 on the 29th May 2021 to 
a high of 382 on 28th March 2022. With no period free from cases during the year, additional PPE, physical 
distancing, enhanced cleaning, regular testing and the need to keep separate pathways remained throughout, 
impacting on the time taken at each stage of a patient’s journey. Staff absences due to having to isolate or 
being ill due to Covid-19 averaged at 2.3%, though peaked at 4.7% when Covid-19 cases were at their highest. 
Despite expanded use of bank staff and agency, internal redeployment, supernumerary recruitment of 
healthcare support workers and bringing in the newly qualified nurse intake 4 months early, being able to staff 
to the level of demand was a constant challenge.   
 
There were 203,578 Emergency Department attendances in 2021/22, 21.4% up on the previous year. In March 
2020 when the first case of Covid-19 was recorded in Scotland attendances at the ED’s dropped sharply from 
prep-pandemic levels but have been climbing back to within 4 % of the 2018/19 level.   Emergency admissions 
were a similar level to those in 2018/19 but with a longer length of stay there was pressure on hospital 
occupancy, exacerbated by periods where specific areas in the hospital had to be closed to control the spread 
of Covid-19. Waiting times within the EDs grew, with 70% of patients seen within 4 hours compared to 84.8% 
in 2019/20. 
 
Social Care services faced similar issues maintaining staffing and at points were unable to admit to various 
care homes because of Covid-19 outbreaks. The number of bed days occupied by people who were clinically 
ready to leave hospital but whose discharge was delayed had dropped from 80,772 in 2019/20 to 46,743 in the 
first year of the pandemic. 57,853 bed days were lost to delayed discharge in 2021/22, climbing back throughout 
the year to nearer pre pandemic levels in the final quarter where Covid-19 levels were having a severe impact. 
There has been strong partnership working with the Integrated Joint Boards and Local Authorities who also 
provided invaluable support with community testing and premises for the vaccination programme.   
 
The sustainability of GMS services was already a high-risk pre-pandemic and GP practices experienced periods 
of extreme strain over the year. High levels of staff absence due to Covid-19 meant between January and 
February 2022 GP services Lanarkshire wide had to move to urgent care only. 
 
A combination of the impact of Covid-19 infection control measures, staffing shortages and growing demand 
meant waits for diagnostic tests have increased. At 31 December 2021 there were 20,695 people waiting, 85% 
more than at the end of February 2020 with 65.2% waiting more than 6 weeks compared to 8.6% at February 
2020. Numbers waiting for outpatient appointments had also increased to 39,145 at 31 March 2022. 
 
With pressure on beds and staffing the ability to see elective cases was hugely curtailed, although 4,916 more 
people were seen in 2021/22 than in the first year of the pandemic. A national clinical prioritisation tool is being 
used to ensure the most urgent patients are seen first.  
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NHS Lanarkshire followed the guidance on minimising the spread of Covid-19 throughout while also being 
conscious that the longer the pandemic lasted the more the potential harm from delayed treatments grew. 
Mortality, as expected was higher during 2020/21. The Board’s standardised Hospital Mortality rates remain 
within the expected ranges as shown on page 11.  
 
More detail on each element can be found in the performance analysis section of this report. 
 
Further waves of Covid-19 as immunity wanes or new variants appear is a real possibility and a permanent 
vaccination workforce is being established, expected to start a booster campaign in the autumn. Even if further 
disruption from Covid-19 is avoided, the scale of the recovery task is immense. A goal of NHS Lanarkshire’s 
long-term healthcare strategy is to shift the balance away from treatment in hospitals. This includes preventing 
ill-health in the first instance and developing enhanced community services where people are looked after at 
home or in homely settings. The Scottish Government has targeted over £610m nationally in enhancing social 
care and multi-disciplinary working. Approximately £75m is expected for Lanarkshire with £4.67m for multi-
disciplinary teams and £3.5m for additional healthcare support workers to flow through the NHS Board and the 
rest through the two councils. Both Integrated Joint Boards have approved proposals to boost social care in the 
community and to support people back to their own homes where possible after a hospital stay. Relieving the 
current unsustainable levels of pressure on unscheduled care and reducing the waiting times in the Emergency 
Departments will depend very much on joint working and successful outcomes from these investments.  
 
Relieving the pressure from unscheduled care is also essential to be able to remobilise planned care. Local 
services are being gradually stepped up as physical distancing requirements are relaxed.  The Scottish 
Government’s plan is for an expanded network of elective centres and shared learning coordinated by the 
Centre for Sustainable Development hosted by the Golden Jubilee national waiting times unit. NHS Lanarkshire 
will build on this and any local learning from adaptations made during the pandemic. Remobilisation plans are 
being drawn up for submission to the Scottish Government in July 2022.  
 
Workforce availability and finance will be real constraints with efficiency, workforce planning and development, 
employability initiatives and creative recruitment important themes. In everything it approaches the Board wants 
to do so through the lens of trying to reduce health inequalities which have been exacerbated during the 
pandemic. It aims to function as an anchor institution whose size and influence within the community can be a 
force for good working alongside both local authorities.  
 
For staff the last 2 years have been almost without respite and whilst the Board has put in place various 
wellbeing supports, assisted by Scottish Government and NHS Charities together monies, the toll of working 
through this global event needs to be recognised. Our continued thanks go to our staff and primary care 
contractors for all they have done and continue to do. We recognise too the heavy impact on the public of 
extended waiting times and thank them for their continued patience. Remobilisation will be gradual and will not 
be easy but by working together and learning the most we can from any new approaches we hope eventually 
to rebuild more sustainably.  
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1.2 Lanarkshire Health Board (Commonly known as NHS Lanarkshire) – Role and Responsibilities 
 
Lanarkshire Health Board was established under the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1972 and is 
responsible for commissioning and providing health care services for the residents of Lanarkshire. 
 
NHS Lanarkshire at a glance 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The principal role of NHS Lanarkshire remains the protection and improvement of the health of the resident 
population, and the delivery of high quality, patient-focused services.  As well as setting strategic direction, 
setting annual and longer-term objectives, and monitoring performance against these, NHS Lanarkshire 
ensures there are high standards of corporate governance and effective financial stewardship. 
 
The Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 seeks to bring greater integration of health and social 
care services. In line with its requirements, in June 2015, two separate legal bodies, known as Integration Joint 
Boards (IJBs), were established, one for North Lanarkshire and one for South Lanarkshire. Formal powers were 
transferred to these bodies from 1st April 2016. Under the Act the NHS Board delegates the planning and 
commissioning for Primary, Community and Mental Health services to the IJB’s. The IJBs also strategically 
plan, alongside the NHS Board for Accident and Emergency Services, and inpatient services for General, 
Geriatric, Respiratory, Rehabilitation and Palliative Care inpatient services. Each Integration Joint Board 
comprises 4 directors from the NHS Board, 3 of which are non-executive directors, and 4 councillors from the 
respective Council.  Each have appointed a Chief Officer and a Chief Finance Officer responsible for delivery 
of the IJB’s objectives. 
 
The IJB decide what integrated services will be provided and how they will be funded and direct the NHS Board 
and Local Authority to deliver those services.   
 
NHS Lanarkshire contracts with GPs, opticians, dentists and pharmacists to provide a full range of primary care 
services.  £351.567m was spent on these in 2021/22, including £136.565m to reimburse the cost of GP 
prescribed drugs. The NHS Board’s Acute Division operates three large district general hospitals – Wishaw, 
Monklands and Hairmyres – all with University status. All three district general hospitals provide full accident 
and emergency services and are supported by a number of smaller satellite units such as Stonehouse, Udston 
and Coathill hospitals. £453.836m was spent by the Acute Division in 2021/22 on staffing, supplies and drugs, 
with property costs being picked up centrally. The need to access specialist services, plus a high number of 
patients choosing to use hospitals they find geographically more convenient (predominately in Glasgow), means 
that NHS Lanarkshire has a high proportion of expenditure in out of area services. During 2021/22, NHS 
Lanarkshire spent £212.181m with other NHS bodies in Scotland. To provide financial stability during the 
pandemic when patient flows were disrupted, payments to other NHS bodies were based on previous years’ 
use.  
 
 

At midyear 2020 there were 
estimated to be 661,900 

residents (12.1% of Scotland) 

Older age bands will grow faster, the 
over 75s population is expected to 
grow by 26.9% from 2017 to 2027, 

and by a further 29.2% by 2037 

 6,405  live births registered  in 
2021 up from 5,969 in 2020 

Overall life expectancy is 75.42 
years for a man born between 2018 
and 2020, and 79.84  for a woman , 

This is a drop from the 76.04 for men 
and 80.31 for women born between 

2017 and 2019. 

People in Lanarkshire 
still live on average a 
year less than others 

in Scotland 

£1.778 bn was spent on 
healthcare by NHS 

Lanarkshire in 2021/22 

Employs 15,433 staff 
(Headcount), 13,062 (whole 

time equivalent) 

100 GP 
Practices 

Had on average 2,074 
staffed hospital beds at 

March 2021 but also 
significant flow to Glasgow 

hospitals 

Spends £233.328 m   
per annum on 

medicines 
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Some very high risks facing NHS Lanarkshire at the start of the year have been managed down. As the Board 
developed its response to Covid-19 and delivered a successful vaccination programme the earlier risks around 
the pandemic response and in particular that the Board could not sustain a workforce to meet the pace of roll 
out could be deescalated. The risk that the Board may be unable to breakeven in 2021/22 has been closed 
following certainty on Covid-19 support funding and successful financial management of the Board’s other 
budgets. It has however been replaced with a very high risk that the Board could not achieve financial breakeven 
in 2022/23 as opening forecasts predict a gap between costs and income of over £38m and continued service 
pressures make it difficult to pursue efficiencies or savings programmes. The very high risk that the Board would 
not be able to recover performance during the year due to the significant pandemic impact on service delivery 
materialised and so was removed as a risk. The scale of the recovery effort needed however continues to grow 
and once new expectations are clarified with Boards the risk needs to be reassessed and reinstated as 
appropriate. Some very high risks from previous years remain on the register, exacerbated by Covid-19. These 
include the sustainability of GP practices and the two centre out of hours model. A number of separate risks 
relating to delayed discharges and unscheduled care demand were coalesced into a single very high risk on 
the ability to maintain patient flow. The risk that NHS Lanarkshire, faced with increased demand and staffing 
shortages across various areas, would not be able to maintain the necessary safe workforce remains very high 
and is now supplemented by a risk around being able to maintain staff wellbeing across a fatigued workforce.  
The risk that the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service cannot meet the increasing clinical demands due 
to a significantly high number of cumulative staff vacancies for both clinical and non-clinical posts and 
challenges recruiting to new posts identified through the national recovery and renewal fund is classed as very 
high though by May 2022 there were some hopeful signs that measures taken were near to turning this around.  
The level of delayed discharges, increased reliance on IT systems bringing cyber threats and the need always 
to handle data safely are ongoing high risks. The high numbers of occasions where data is needed or 
communicated and the complexity of applying interpreting means a very high background risk that NHSL is 
inadvertently non-compliant through human error; lack of understanding or ineffective practice and this is a 
regular focus of the Information Governance Committee. A new very high risk was introduced in year on the re-
procurement of the Laboratory Managed Service contract due to the complexity of the process and the impact 
on other services if there was to be any disruption.  
 
All identified high risks are regularly reviewed and mitigating actions put in place. The Board has a well-
established risk management process and the Governance report on page 19 provides further detail. The risk 
register was considered by the Board in March 2022.  
 
2. Performance against key non-financial targets 
 
2.1 Corporate Performance Management Systems 
 
The Board has well established corporate performance systems that provide regular reports both against Annual 
Operational Plan (AOP) Standards and Corporate Objectives to the Board and against a wider suite of indicators 
to its Planning, Performance and Resources Committee (PPRC). 
 
During the pandemic the impact on normal services was so profound that the traditional performance measures 
were less relevant. The 2020/21 objectives ( https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/about-us/corp-strategy/) 
were not revised until March 2022 when the Board approved interim Corporate Objectives for 2022/23. 
 
Although an AOP was prepared and submitted in March 2020, Scottish Government never formally signed it 
off, replacing it with later requests for remobilisation plans.  In the absence of a 2021/22 AOP and any new 
national performance targets from the Scottish Government, the Board or PPRC continued to review progress 

against the draft 2020/21 AOP targets and previous local standards, although its agenda was more focussed 

on the various strands of the Covid-19 response. The Board improved its presentation of the data, adopting run 
charts with information on statistical significant in line with good practice improvement methodology.  Where 
available data was out of date or where measures had not been confirmed the indicator was not included in the 
suite reviewed regularly as it provided no current meaningful information. This applied to 5 of the previous 26 
indicators including the GP access targets which even pre-pandemic were only reassessed every 2 years.  The 
latest full published report, AOP covering quarter 3, 2021/22 was reviewed by the March 2022 Board. The 
2021/22 quarter 4 position will be reviewed by the PPRC in June 2022.  For consistency with previous years, 
the Board’s performance against the traditional indicators is described in the following section. The activity 
figures in the performance analysis section give a more detailed picture of the scale of the recovery task facing 
NHS Lanarkshire.  
 
2.2 Performance against Annual Operational Plan Indicators 
 
 
NHS Lanarkshire is currently meeting or exceeding the target for 7 of the 21 AOP and previous LDP national 
targets (including financial targets) actively monitored during 2021/22. These are: 

https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2022-march-30-board-papers/
https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2022-march-30-board-papers/
https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/about-us/corp-strategy/
https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2022-march-30-board-papers/
https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2022-march-30-board-papers/
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 Proportion of patients beginning cancer treatment within 31 days of decision being taken to 

treat. The target set is 95%. (AOP) 
 
At December 2021, NHS Lanarkshire was at 98.2% (March 2021, 98.8%) 
 

 At least 80% of pregnant women in each SIMD quintile will have booked for antenatal care by 
the 12th week of gestation. (Locally Agreed Standard)  
 
At March 2021 NHS Lanarkshire early booking achievement ranged upwards from 90% across the five 
quintiles. (March 2020 upwards from 91.2%) 
 

 Eligible patients will commence IVF treatment within 12 months. The Locally Agreed Standard 
set is 90%. 
 
At March 2022, NHS Lanarkshire achieved 100% (March 2021, 100%) 
 

 Clients will wait no longer than 3 weeks from referral received to appropriate drug or alcohol 
treatment that supports their recovery. The Locally Agreed Standard set is 90%. 
 
NHS Lanarkshire achieved 98.5% at December 2021 (December 2020, 99.6%).   
 

 Sustain and embed alcohol brief interventions (ABIs) in 3 priority settings (primary care, A&E, 
antenatal) and broaden delivery in wider settings. The Locally Agreed Standard set is 7,381 to 
be delivered in the year. 
 
NHS Lanarkshire delivered 11,263 by March 2020. (March 2019 10,101). More recent data is still 
awaited. 
 

 Achieve smoking cessation target numbers for 2019/20: Target 902 twelve week quits from the 
40% most deprived areas. (Locally Agreed Standard) 
 
943 successful twelve week quits were recorded in the year to March 2021.  More recent data is 
awaited.  
 

 Financial Performance – see page 9 

There are 8 targets where NHS Lanarkshire did not achieve the previously expected performance. 
These are; 
 

X  Proportion of patients beginning cancer treatment within 62 days from urgent referral with 
suspicion of cancer. The target set is 95%. (AOP) 
 
At December 2021, NHS Lanarkshire achieved 88.1%. (March 2021, 90.9%) 
 

X 95% of patients to wait no more than 12 weeks for a first outpatient appointment.  (AOP) 
 
At 31 March 2022 56.65% of people on the waiting list for outpatient treatment in NHS Lanarkshire had 
been waiting less than 12 weeks (31 March 2021 56.6%, 31 March 2020 92.3%)  
 
 

X  90% of Psychological Therapies patients to start treatment within 18 weeks of referral. (AOP) 
 
In the quarter to 31 March 2022 85.5% of patients in Lanarkshire started their psychological therapy 
within 18 weeks of referral compared to (31 March 2021 74.7%) 

 
X  Sickness absence to be 4% or less. (Locally Agreed Standard) 
  
 NHS Lanarkshire’s sickness absence rate was 5.5% in March 2021, peaking at 8.07% in November 

2021 and sitting at 6.6% in March 2022. 
 

This excludes absences due to Covid-19 which averaged 2.2% over the year.  
 

X  No patient to wait more than six weeks for any of the eight key diagnostic tests and 
investigations. The AOP target is 95%. 
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37.8% of patients waiting at the end of March 2022 had been waiting less than six weeks (March 2021, 
60.1%)  

 
 

X No patient to wait more than 12 weeks from referral to treatment (AOP) (The AOP target set is 
75% compliance). 

 
Of patients seen in the quarter to March 2022, 51.04% had waited less than 12 weeks (March 2021 
63.6%).  
 

X 90% of young people children to start treatment within 18 weeks of referral for specialist Child 
& Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) (AOP) 

  
NHS Lanarkshire achieved 81.1% at March 2022 (55.3% at March 2021) 
 

 
X 95% of people wait less than 4 hours from arrival to admission or discharge or transfer for A&E 

treatment. (AOP) 
 

March 2022, 60.2% of people stayed less than 4 hours in A & E (March 2021, 82.8%) 
 
There are 6 targets, including 3 new targets introduced in 2020/21 where either no specific end point was set 
by Scottish Government for 2021/22 or there was a longer time period to achieve or the there is a time lag in 
getting the relevant data to measure achievement. NHS Lanarkshire’s progress against these is described 
below. 
 
Clostridium Difficile Infections (C Diff): During 2019/20 a new target was introduced to achieve a reduction 
of 10% in the rate of healthcare associated C Diff from 2019 to 2022 per 100,000 total occupied bed days, with 
2018/19 used as the baseline. This would involve NHS Lanarkshire reducing to a rate of 14.8. At December 
2021 NHS Lanarkshire sat at 21.4 (March 2021, 23.7). (AOP) 
 
Staphylococcus Aureus Bacteraemia Infections (SAB): During 2019/20 a new target was introduced to 
achieve a 10% reduction in the rate of healthcare associated SAB from 2019 to 2022 per 100,000 total occupied 
bed days, with 2018/19 used as the baseline. This would involve NHS Lanarkshire reducing to a rate of 16.1 
by the end of 3 years. At December 2021, NHS Lanarkshire sat at 16.6 (March 2021,26.8) (AOP)  
 
E. coli bacteraemia infections (ECB): A further target was introduced mid-year in 2019/20 for a reduction of 
50% in healthcare associated E. coli bacteraemia (ECB) by 2023/24, with an initial reduction of 25% by 2021/22. 
This would involve a reduction in healthcare associated ECB to 33.5 per 100,000 total occupied bed days by 
2021/22. At December 2021 this sat at 36.6 (March 2021 39.4) (AOP) 
 
Three new targets were introduced in 2020/21. The trajectory for two of these has still to be confirmed. These 
are: 
 

 A 10% reduction of antibiotic use in Primary Care (excluding dental) by 2022, using 2015/16 data as 
the baseline (items/1000/day).   The target is 1.8. Performance at September 2021 was 1.9, up from 
1.56 at March 21. 

 
- Use of intravenous antibiotics in secondary care defined as DDD/1000 population/day will be no higher 

in 2022 than it was in 2018.  At June 21 the Board was at 85%.  
 

- Use of WHO Access antibiotics (NHSE list) ≥60% of total antibiotic use in acute hospitals by 2022.  At 
June 21 the Board was at 56.9% 

 
The Board previously reviewed 6 key measures introduced to track performance under integration including 
reducing the number of A & E attendances and unplanned admissions, reducing the resulting number of bed 
days, reducing the number of bed days lost to delayed discharges, percentage of last 6 months of life spent at 
home or in a community setting and increasing the percentage of resources spent in the community. The routine 
focus during the pandemic switched to the more immediate operational measures of delayed discharges as 
well waiting times for AHP services.  
 
Performance Analysis 
 
The impact of trying to prevent the spread of Covid-19 and treating those who became seriously ill was deep and 
wide ranging. In 2021/22 NHS Lanarkshire, at 323.6 per 1000, had the highest number of confirmed positive  
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cases in Scotland though its hospitalisation rate at c 51 per 1000 had decreased from being the second highest 
in 2020/21 to the fifth highest in the current year.  
 
The Board had expanded its workforce by 9.2%, the equivalent of 1,103.8 whole time staff since March 2020. 
Staffing and running costs of the vaccination programme alone were over £16.656m (with the cost of most 
premises and vaccines on top), with over 158 people employed in Test and Protect at its peak and other new 
services such as a flow navigation service and an anti-viral pathway established since 2019/20. There was 
supernumerary recruitment across many services, with the acute bringing in substantial additional numbers of 
healthcare support workers and opening access to agency staffing for unfilled shift in an unprecedented fashion. 
The spend on agency nursing within the acute rose from £3.524m in 2020/21 to £13.164m in 2021/22. Despite 
every feasible measure being enacted, the expansion was not enough to cope with the combination of new 
demands and staff absences due to sickness (which ranged between 5.46% and 8.07%) and the Covid-19 related 
absence (which ranged between 0.9% and 4.7%).  Five additional areas, two of which were offsite, were set up 
to take additional patients but only 2 could ever be staffed and even then only intermittently.  The Acute sites 
reassessed staffing levels shift by shift, juggling between areas to ensure minimum safe staffing.  
 
With the same pressures in community and social care, the ability to support people out of hospital was also 
constrained. The Chief Officers of the Integrated Joint Boards were an integral part of the NHS Boards emergency 
command and control group and huge efforts have been made since the start of the pandemic across health and 
social care to streamline processes or mitigate capacity shortfalls due to care homes being closed to admissions 
or homecare staff being unavailable. 
 
Where people are finished their episode of hospital care but are still waiting for support to be able to leave, most 
often social care, it is termed a delayed discharge. In 2019/20 on average 220 hospital beds every day across 
Lanarkshire were blocked to new admissions because of delayed discharges, giving a total of 80,772 lost bed 
days across the year. In 2019/20 on average 7.9% of total discharges from hospital were classed as delayed.  
 
In April 2020 there was a dramatic change in hospital occupancy as people stayed away, fewer planned 
treatments were scheduled and there were intense efforts to transfer people safely from hospital in advance of 
the rising numbers of Covid-19 patients being admitted. In total there were 3,266 discharges from Lanarkshire 
hospitals in April 2020, compared to 6,359 in April 2019. With fewer discharges in total, there were fewer delayed 
discharges – at 8%, the percentage of discharges that were delayed remained consistent with the pre-pandemic 
proportion for the first 9 months of that year. From January 2021 however, the proportion of discharges classed 
as delayed began to drop. Even though discharges in the first 6 months of 2021/22 had climbed up to 89.8% of 
pre-pandemic levels, the number of those discharges that were subject to a delay sat at 51% of the previous 
level, with only 4.3% of discharge being subject to a delay compared to the 7.9% previously. The total number 
of bed days lost to delay in 2021/22 was 57,853 compared to 80,722 pre pandemic.  Full data is not yet available, 
but as the graph below shows there has been a substantial increase in the final quarter of the year. During that 
period there was significant staff absence or care homes closed due to Covid-19, and the full impact of 
recruitment in social care had not yet been felt. It is hoped going in to summer 2022/23 that the substantial 
investment in social care announced by Scottish Government in the budget manages to reverse this. 
 

 
 
Emergency Department attendances in Lanarkshire, as shown in the table below, had been increasing steadily 
since 2015/16. 2019/20 was heading to be the highest year yet but when the Covid-19 reached the UK people 
stayed away and the numbers in March 2020 were only 69.7% of those in the previous March. As the graph  
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shows numbers have since climbed, briefly peaking above pre-pandemic levels in June 2021, falling back again 
then rising in the final quarter.  Despite rising numbers, the Emergency Departments had managed to treat more 
patients within 4 hours each successive year up until 2019/20, when there was already a struggle to maintain 
this turnaround before the further constraints from operating in an environment with Covid-19 present.  Since 
2018/19 there has been both non-recurring and recurring investment in the Emergency Departments assessed 
as £4.240m in real terms with 70 additional WTE staff in 2021/22 than in 2018/19. Detailed work is underway to 
look at the best way to improve flow through the department and how to provide better pathways for people who 
don’t need to be in an emergency department. A cross system unscheduled care board is meeting to oversee 
the improvements.  The ability to maintain patient flow through the system is recognised as a very high risk to 
the Board.  
 

 
 
Although ED attendances in 2021/22 were 3% less than in the 2018/19, the resulting 67,680 emergency 
admissions were over 99.9% of those in 2018/19 suggesting those presenting were on average, sicker. Data on 
average length of stay for 2021/22 is still provisional and only available up to December 2021 but the early 
indication from the first 9 month’s data is that, at 6.08 days, the average length of stay is higher than the 5.53 in 
the earlier period. That greater length of stay combined with beds being temporarily unavailable in wards closed 
due to Covid-19 has led to sustained periods of high hospital occupancy. This in turn has severely restricted the 
pace at which the elective care programme could be picked up.  
 
In the 2019 calendar year, before any pandemic impact was felt, NHS Lanarkshire treated 27,072 inpatients and 
daycases. In 2020/21 this dropped to 7,709. In 2021/22 this increased by 63.8% to 12,625 still far short of the 
throughput needed to make inroads into the backlog which had risen from 7,020 at 31/3/20 to 12,456 at 31/3/22. 
 
With lengthened waiting lists across Scotland since the start of the pandemic a national clinical prioritisation tool 
has been introduced to ensure those needing treatment most urgently are seen first. It can be found at 
https://www.gov.scot/publications/supporting-elective-care-clinical-prioritisation-framework/. It gives guidance on 
determining a patient’s clinical urgency and sets out review stages to ensure each individual patient’s case is 
assessed regularly to ensure the most appropriate care and support is provided. It has 4 bands of priority with 
priority 4 meaning a clinician has assessed the patient could safely wait more than 12 weeks. Using the tool 38% 
of patients on the waiting list for surgery at April 2022 have been categorised as Priority 4 which would give a 
provisional target of 62% being seen within 12 weeks. Covid-19 rates remained high in the hospital during the 
quarter to 31/3/22, contributing to a shortfall against this intermediate target with 51.04% of those seen waiting 
less than 12 weeks. 9066 people were waiting more than 12 weeks at 31/3/22. Clinical urgency remains the 
priority at all times with the focus on scheduling Priority 2 and 3 patients within the 12 weeks.  By the end of April, 
the aim was to be running approximately 70 % of the pre Covid-19 elective theatres and every effort will be made 
to schedule Priority 4 patients with lengthy waits into available capacity. The graph below shows how the numbers 
waiting have grown over time, with the beginning of a turnaround in April 2022.  
 
 

 

  
Annual 

attendances 

Seen 
within 4 
hours  

% seen 
within 

4 
hours 

2021/22 203,578 142,518 70.0% 

2020/21 167,709 145,739 86.9% 

2019/20 211,083 179,112 84.9% 

2018/19 211,257 191,715 90.7% 

2017/18 205,648 188,328 91.6% 

2016/17 198,621 183,693 92.5% 

2015/16 191,524 176,850 92.3% 

https://www.gov.scot/publications/supporting-elective-care-clinical-prioritisation-framework/
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Cancer treatment continues to be given priority. The quarter 4 data shows that NHS Lanarkshire achieved the 
National Standard of 95% of all patients diagnosed with cancer will begin treatment within 31 days of decision to 
treat. However only 81.04% of cases met the 62-day standard from initial referral to treatment due to ongoing 
challenges within the diagnostic element of the pathways mainly due to scopes and radiology capacity to support 
the Breast one stop pathway. 
 
Restrictions in outpatient capacity with physical distancing and the emergency care demand mean the numbers 
being added to the inpatient and day case lists for surgery are lower than pre-pandemic. 24,865 were added to 
the list in 2019/20 compared to 10,195 in 2021/22. As outpatient activity expands, the pent up demand will 
increase the numbers needing inpatient or day case treatment.  
 
Clinical teams continue to see urgent new outpatients through a variety of different care models (face to face and 
virtual).  Routine activity is gradually being introduced following individual departmental risk assessments to 
reduce 2 metre physical distancing and the redeployment of clinical staff to acute areas. NHS Lanarkshire has 
recommenced outpatient activity with a range of external providers who will be undertaking face to face 
consultations. The focus will be to reduce the waiting times for routine patients, particularly those waiting over 52 
weeks. 
 
The following table shows how achievements up to March 2020 in increasing throughput and reducing numbers 
waiting were eroded from the start of the pandemic. In 2021/22 there was a 56.2% increase from the previous 
year in numbers seen. As more people who had been waiting longer were seen, the percentage seen within 84 
days was diluted.  
 

  16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 

Number seen  130,668 131,048 137,789 136,747 68,794 107,473 

Seen within 12 weeks 102,754 96,247 112,910 118,353 46,835 70,907 

% within 12 weeks 78.6% 73.4% 81.9% 86.5% 68.1% 66.0% 

Nos waiting at year end 28,091 25,840 23,164 19,970 29,566 39,145 
 
The graph below shows the trend in numbers of people waiting for outpatient appointments.  
 

 
 
Waiting times for diagnostic tests have also been severely impacted by physical distancing requirements and 
workforce shortages. Waiting times for 8 key diagnostic tests and investigations, including imaging, endoscopies, 
colonoscopies and cystoscopies are monitored. The normal target is to ensure that 95% of the results of any test 
or investigation is available within 6 weeks of receiving the request. The graph below shows the sharp increase 
in numbers waiting over 6 weeks in the first quarter when pandemic restrictions came in and the steady growth 
up to December 2021 as demand continued to outstrip capacity.  
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Radiology imaging remains under significant stress due to increasing demand for inpatient, outpatient and cancer 
examinations, particularly in MRI and subspecialty MRI examinations.  Additional external and internal capacity 
is being sourced to address these waits.  All aspects of endoscopy remain challenged due to staffing and 
accommodation constraints.  Alternatives to endoscopy, for example cytosponge and colon capsule endoscopy 
are being introduced. 
 
Outside the acute sector the waiting times to access child and adolescent mental health services remained a 

concern, with the ability to bring it down in the face of recruitment difficulties and high levels of urgent demand 

rated very high in the organisations risk register. There has been significant Scottish Government investment in 
this area. A new service model proven to have success elsewhere is being rolled out, there has been intensive 
extensive recruitment activity and over half of the projected 100 WTE new posts from the Recovery and Renewal 
Fund will be in place by the end of May 2022. New staff will support the roll out of the new model and other wider 
developments around the Neurodevelopmental Pathway, Out of Hours, Liaison and Intensive services. The latest 
published activity and performance statistics are shown in the following table.  
 

  
12 months to 

Dec 21 
12 months to 

Dec 20 19/20 18/19 

Waiting at start of period 1,204 972 1,164 894 

Seen in 12 months 949 1,058 1,889 2,006 

Still waiting at end of period 1,887 1,204 1,184 1,164 

Added to list during 12 months 1,632 826 1,909 2,276 

% seen within 18 weeks 64.3% 58.8%      57.01% 76.6% 
 
The Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) is calculated by comparing the number of actual deaths within 
30 days of admission to hospital against the number of predicted deaths.  This single quality indicator has been 
used by Health Improvement Scotland to reflect patient safety and use as a flag for engagement with Boards 
where there is an upward change in HSMR. The Patient Safety Programme set a national target of a 10% 
reduction between January 2014 and December 2018. NHS Lanarkshire achieved a reduction in HSMR of 
25.9%. Since August 2019 an updated methodology has been used, charting each hospitals position on a funnel 
plot to show if it falls within expected range. The latest data, issued in February 2022, covers admissions from 
October 2020 to September 2021. The three NHS Lanarkshire hospitals are highlighted on the funnel plot as the 
three larger dots with labels, as below.  All hospitals are shown to be within control limits for the current reporting 
period in comparison to the HSMR for Scotland (1.00).  
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Social Matters 
 
NHS Lanarkshire is committed to contributing to a fair and just society. Its emerging healthcare strategy seeks 
to clearly position it as an anchor institution in Lanarkshire whose size and level of engagement with its partners 
allows it to make a positive impact to community wellbeing and inequalities. Its equality strategy commits to 
effective partnership working with communities to reduce inequalities, looking at areas such as homelessness, 
financial inclusion and poverty, and community resilience. It has been accredited as a Living wage employer and 
its procurement strategy, updated in June 2022, sets out its commitment to seeking community benefits and Fair 
Work employment, encouraging local businesses to bid for NHS contracts to stimulate the local economy. The 
Board aims to maximise its contribution to employability both for young people entering work and for older people 
who may wish to re-train as a consequence of job loss – or where current employment has difficulty in being 
sustained. In 2021/22, NHS Lanarkshire had 21 students on Project Search, supported 58 Modern 
Apprenticeships in a range of disciplines and had 5 Graduate Apprenticeships, with further cohorts planned for 
2022 through the 15 students completed Kickstart.  18 students completed the Clinical Employability Programme 
with New College Lanarkshire and have secured posts on the staff bank, and a further 18 commenced in April 
2022 Young Persons Guarantee. The Board hosted a successful Virtual Careers Fair with 356 participants with 
a number of online sessions to support school pupils e.g. UCAT prep, application/ interview process, mock 
interview. Over 100 volunteers have now been re-engaged to provide support to the Acute Sites in a range of 
roles e.g. ED, mealtimes, community mums, meet and greet and ward support.  
 
The Board has issued guidance and made available learning for staff on spotting and responding to suspected 
human trafficking.  Its code of conduct and fraud policy have strong anti-corruption, and anti-bribery provisions 
and its checks look to avoid engaging with any organisation with serious organised crime connections. Under the 
leadership of the Director of Public Health, NHS Lanarkshire fulfils its public sector duty under the PREVENT 
programme.  PREVENT is part of the UK Counter Terrorism Programme. Its aim is to stop people from being 
drawn into violent extremist activity, by intervening before criminal activity has taken place. 
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Financial Performance 
 
NHS Boards are required to meet 3 financial targets in-year: a Revenue Resource Limit a Capital Resource 
Limit and a Cash requirement. The Revenue and Capital Resource Limits are further analysed into Core and 
Non-Core where Non-Core represents item of expenditure that are of a technical accounting nature, details of 
which can be found on the Statement of Resource Outturn. The Board met all 3 targets. 
 

2021            
Actual     

Outturn   

Limit as 
set by 

SGHSCD 

2021          
Actual     

Outturn 
Variance 

(Deficit)/ Surplus 

£’000      £’000       £’000         £’000 

       

1,561,008 Core Revenue Resource Limit 1,635,375 1,635,375 0 

30,300 Non-core Revenue Resource Limit 29,425 29,425 0 

1,591,308 Total 1,664,800 1,664,800 0 

     

23,340 Core Capital Resource Limit 29,480 29,480 0 

0 Non-core Capital Resource Limit 0 0 0 

23,340 Total 29,480 29,480 0 

     

1,585,814 Cash Requirement 1,670,537 1,670,537 0 

     

MEMORANDUM FOR IN YEAR OUTTURN 

    

        £’000 

Core Revenue Resource Variance (Deficit)/Surplus in 2021-22     0 

Financial flexibility: funding banked with/(provided by) Scottish 
Government*      0 

Underlying (Deficit)/Surplus against in year total Revenue 
Resource Limit        0 

 
A one-year financial plan was submitted to Scottish Government by NHS Lanarkshire in March 2021. Due to 
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Scottish Government paused the three-year Annual Operating and 
financial planning process. Recognising the exceptional nature of 2021/22 and the impact on delivery of 
financial plans additional non repayable funding was provided to support in year financial balance across all 
NHS Boards. NHS Lanarkshire received £9m. This compensated for the difficulties in pursuing efficiency 
schemes during the pandemic which in other times would have been needed to balance the Board’s budget.  
 
The core revenue limit provides funding for the day to day pay and supplies costs of running the health service. 
It has a base element which can be relied on to continue into following years and receive any uplift voted for 
Health Boards in the Scottish Budget. This sat at £1,285.937m in April 2021 (1.4% more than the April 2020 
starting position).  The remainder – which in 2021/22 amounted to £349.438m - is released in year, targeted for 
specific purposes. Medium to long term planning against these in year allocations is often more difficult because 
of uncertainties about their level and duration. 
 
The base allocation received a £19.006m (1.5%) uplift, of which £4.219m went to North Lanarkshire IJB and 
£2.910m to South Lanarkshire IJB. There was no additional funding this year to bring NHS Lanarkshire closer 
to its share of the national resource allocation formula (NRAC).  £20.316m was received to cover the excess 
costs of the one year pay deal for Agenda for Change and medical staff over the public sector pay policy though 
the estimated £2.794m tail from the previous years’ pay deal remained a cost pressure.  
 
The expenditure on drugs prescribed through the hospitals increased from £82.502m in 2020/21 to £96.723m. 
As the graph below shows there has been a steady upwards rise, driven by the expanded use of new high-cost 
drugs over the last 5 years (35.7% in total), interrupted by the first year of the pandemic but now accelerating. 
With the allocation uplift sitting at 1.5%, the 17.4% increase in expenditure in 2021/22 creates a £13.023m new 
cost pressure that in the longer term has to be met from savings in other areas. It is estimated that since 2014/15 
the expenditure increase has outstripped the funding growth by £29.607m, and with the continued high growth 
forecast for 2022/23, this is a major contributor to the financial challenges facing the Board.  
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Other cost pressures facing the Board included expansion in the regional elective centres, moving Microsoft 
products on to the national cloud-based solution, an increase in the national risk pool for clinical negligence and 
other claims, rising energy and supplies costs.  
 
The opening plan assumed that if all additional costs related to responding to Covid-19 were funded the Board 
would still face a recurring gap of circa £29m that needed to be filled by recurring efficiency savings. The 
financial sustainability programme was stood down in March 2020 to allow maximum focus on the Covid-19 
response and given the sustained pressure on the system was not reactivated in 2021/22. An estimated 
£0.847m of savings were delivered recurringly though a slower pace than forecast for in some developments 
areas which means the underlying gap moving into 2022/23 is now assessed at £24.254m.  
 
During 2021/22 the NHS Board received £149.365m of funding to support the additional costs of responding to 
the Covid-19 pandemic, £98.635m of which was passed to the IJBs.  Of this, £28.670m was paid to the Local 
Authorities to cover social care sustainability payments and other additional social care costs, £5.089m used 
for community and mental health services and £64.876m remained in reserve at the year-end for future Covid-
19 costs. The £50.730m amount retained by the Board matched in year expenditure and included the £9m of 
cover for efficiency schemes which could not be progressed, £16.656m for the vaccination programme, 
£8.156m for testing and tracing, £11.247m for additional staffing and beds and £4.987m on other costs 
associated with infection control, public health input or equipment. PPE and test kits were supplied free of 
charge to the Board during the year but at the year-end a funding adjustment of £5.697m, in addition to the 
figures quoted above was made to reflect the amount the Board had used.  
 
In 2020/21, the first full year of the pandemic staff costs increased by £74.814m (12.6%) on the previous year. 
This included £7.191m for a one off £500 thank you payment. Whole-time equivalent staff rose by 783 (6.6%) 
largely as a result of successful mass recruitment for the different areas of the Covid-19 response though also 
reflecting a pre-planned investment of £2.999m through the primary care improvement fund to support 
sustainability of General Practices. In 2021/22 pay costs rose by a further £31.026m (4.6%) and whole-time 
equivalent staff numbers increased by 320.9 to 13,061.5. Taken together this means the 2021/22 staff numbers 
were 1,103.9 (9.2%) higher than in 2019/20 and the pay expenditure had increased by £105.840m (17.8%).  
 
Expenditure on agency and locum staff increased by 52.7% to £26.328m with the increase coming mostly from 
acute nursing as the sites struggled to maintain safe staffing numbers in the face of high absence levels and 
high emergency workload. Staff absence due to sickness and Covid-19 (including the need to isolate) ranged 
from 7% in May 2021 to 11.49% in March 2022.  
 
Normally the Board would have received and used substantial in year funding to meet acute access times. In 
2019/20 this was £11.741m. Although there had been early hopes of a recovery the resurgence of Covid-19 in 
Lanarkshire in September 2020 and successive waves thereafter prevented additional measures to reduce the 
backlog. Although funding was available, the staffing and physical space was not and only £1.979m of additional 
Scottish Government funding could be used.  
 
Any underspend against the budget delegated to the IJB’s remains with the IJB, held in reserves for carry 
forward into future years. The total amount of in-year funding, much of it relating to specific commitments, 
transferred to reserves from the NHS allocations was £115.805m, including the £64.876m relating to Covid-19. 
Also included were accumulated balances on the Primary Care Improvement fund, additional funding for multi-
disciplinary teams and healthcare support workers, money to expand mental health, alcohol and drugs and 
traumatic brain injury services.  
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The Board completed a £30.013m capital programme. £5.621m (2021/22 6.529m) was spent replacing medical 
equipment at the end of its life.  As in previous years, substantial expenditure was incurred in keeping the aging 
infrastructure at University Hospital Monklands fit for continued use. £5.856m (2020/21, £3.858m) was spent 
on fire safety, security, ventilation and drainage. Any work on this busy site requires careful programming and 
infection control measures and is often limited by the ability to temporarily vacate areas. £5.744m was spent 
on fees and other costs of progressing the Monklands replacement business case and £6.750m on procuring 
the new site. Work continued on the works needed to establish a new theatre with advanced imaging capabilities 
at University Hospital Hairmyres for the regional vascular service and work commenced to establish a base for 
the child and adolescent mental health service in South Lanarkshire and the Medical Education and Training 
department underwent a refurbishment that increased its capacity.  
 
The amount of capital required to maintain business continuity on University Hospital Monklands along with the 
need to replace medical equipment, invest in Information Management & Technology and adapt for service 
change places a heavy demand on the formula capital allocation which has had to be supplemented by property 
sales and one-off funding. 
 
Additional Explanations of Amounts Included in the Financial Statements 
 
The following section highlights significant estimates included in the accounts: 
 
Provisions for impairment of receivables are contained in note 9 of the accounts. 
 
Details of outstanding liabilities can be found in note 12 of the accounts. There are no significant contingent 
liabilities requiring disclosure in 2021/22. 
 
NHS Lanarkshire has legal obligations in relation to clinical and non-clinical claims. Details of these are 
contained in notes 13 and 14 of the accounts.  
 
There are no retrospective restatements or post balance sheet items. 
 
Any changes in non-current assets can be found in notes 6, 7, 9 and 10 of the accounts. 
 
Payment Policy  
 
The Scottish Government is committed to supporting business in the current economic situation by paying bills 
more quickly. The intention is to achieve payment of all undisputed invoices within 10 working days, across all 
public bodies. 
 
The target has been communicated to all non-departmental public bodies, who are working towards the 
accelerated payment target of 10 working days. 
 
Prior to this, the Board did endeavour to comply with the principles of The Better Payment Practice Code by 
processing suppliers’ invoices for payment without unnecessary delay and by settling them in a timely manner: 
 

 In 2021/22 average credit taken was 8.46 days (2020/21 – 9.87 days);  

 In 2021/22 the board paid 93.39% by value (2020/21 – 93.43%) and 95.35% by volume within 30 days 

(2020/21 – 93.50%);  

 In 2021/22 the board paid 82.79% by value (2020/21 – 84.28%) and 90.34% by volume within 10 days 
(2020/21 – 87.97%).  

 
Private Finance Initiative/Public Private Partnerships 
 
The facilities at Hairmyres, Wishaw and Stonehouse Hospitals are provided to NHS Lanarkshire under private 
finance initiatives. The contracts run until 30 June 2031, 30 November 2028 and April 2034 respectively. The 
estimated capital value of the facilities is £233.210m. 
 
Three community Health Centres in East Kilbride, Kilsyth and Wishaw are provided to NHS Lanarkshire under 
the Scottish Future Trust Hubco leased model.  These new facilities opened in 2015/16 and are provided by 
HUB South West Scotland under a 25-year contract.  The current estimated capital value of these facilities is 
£43.7733m. 
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Pension Liabilities 
 
The accounting policy note for pensions is provided in Note 1 and disclosure of the costs is shown within Note 
19 and the Remuneration Report. 
 
Sustainability and Environmental Reporting 
 
The Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009 originally set out measures adopted by the Scottish Government to 
reduce emissions in Scotland by at least 80% by 2050. The Climate Change (Emissions Reductions Targets) 
(Scotland) Act 2019 amended this longer-term target to net zero by 2045, five years in advance of the rest of 
the UK. In 2020, the Climate Change (Scotland) Amendment order came into force to reflect this and now 
requires NHS Boards to report on their progress in delivering their emissions reduction targets. 
 
All designated Major Players (of which NHS Lanarkshire is one) are required to submit an annual report to the 
Sustainable Scotland Network detailing compliance with climate change duties imposed by the Act and the 
Amendment order. The information returned by the Board is compiled into a national analysis report, published 
annually and superseding prior requirements for public bodies to publish individual sustainability reports. 
 
Further information on the Scottish Government’s approach can be found in the Climate Change Plan 2018 -
2032 while national reports can be found at the following resource: 
https://sustainablescotlandnetwork.org/reports 
 
Events after the end of the reporting period 
 
There are no important events affecting the Board since the year end. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed        29 June 2022 
Chief Executive 

 
 
  

https://sustainablescotlandnetwork.org/reports
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SECTION B: THE ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT  
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
 
The Directors’ Report 
 
The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022. 

 
1. Date of Issue 

 
Financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 29 June 2022. 
 

2. Appointment of Auditors 
 

The Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 places personal responsibility on the Auditor General 
for Scotland to decide who is to undertake the audit of each health body in Scotland. The Auditor General 
appointed Audit Scotland to undertake the audit of NHS Lanarkshire.  The general duties of the auditors of health 
bodies, including their statutory duties are set out in the Code of Audit Practice issued by Audit Scotland and 
approved by the Auditor General. 
 

3. Board Membership 
 

Under the terms of the Scottish Health Plan, the Health Board is a board of governance whose membership will 
be conditioned by the functions of the Board.  Members of Health Boards are selected on the basis of their 
position or the particular expertise which enables them to contribute to the decision-making process at a strategic 
level. 
 
The Health Board has collective responsibility for the performance of the local NHS system as a whole, and 
reflects the partnership approach, which is essential to improving health and health care.  
 

 Chair                      Mr M Hill (from 1 January 2022) 
     Mrs N Mahal (to 31 December 2021) 
 

Executive Directors Mrs H Knox   Chief Executive 
    Mrs L Ace   Director of Finance 

Mr E Docherty Director for Nurses, Midwives and Allied Health 
Professionals 

    Dr J Burns   Medical Director 
    Prof S J Pravinkumar  Director of Public Health (from 1 December 2021) 
    Mr G Docherty   Director of Public Health (to 1 December 2021) 

 
Non-Executive Directors Mrs L Macer, Miss M Morris (to 31 August 2021), Mr P Campbell (to 31 August 

2021), Dr A Osborne (to 28 February 2022), Councillor P Kelly, Mrs M Lees, 
Councillor J McGuigan, Mr B Moore, Mrs L Thomson, Ms L McDonald, Mr A Boyle, 
Mr N Findlay (from 1 October 2021), Mr D Reid (from 1 October 2021), Mr J Muir 
(from 1 October 2021), Mr P Couser (from 1 February 2022), Mr N Dar (from 1 
February 2022), Mr C Lee (from 1 February 2022), Ms S White (from 1 February 
2022) 

 
4. Statement of NHS Board Members’ Responsibilities 

 
Under the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978, the Health Board is required to prepare accounts in 
accordance with the directions of the Scottish Ministers which require that those accounts give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Health Board as at 31 March 2022 and of its net expenditure for the year then 
ended. In preparing these accounts the Directors are required to: 

 

 Apply on a consistent basis the accounting policies and standards approved for the NHS Scotland by Scottish 
Ministers; 

 Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable; 

 State where applicable, accounting standards, as set out in the Financial Reporting Manual, have not been 
followed where the effect of the departure is material; 

 Prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Board will 
continue to operate. 
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The Health Board members are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are maintained, which 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Board and enable them to ensure that 
the accounts comply with the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 and the requirements of the Scottish 
Ministers. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Board and hence taking reasonable steps 
for the prevention of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The NHS Board Members confirm they have discharged the above responsibilities during the financial year and 
in preparing the accounts. 
 

5. Board Members’ and Senior Managers’ Interests 
 

Details of any interests of Board members, senior managers and other senior staff in contracts or potential 
contractors with the Health Board as required by IAS 24 are disclosed in note 24.  
 
The board members’ and senior managers’ declarations of interests can be found on the Boards website using 
the following link –  
Our Board | NHS Lanarkshire 
 

6. Directors Third Party Indemnity Provisions 
 

No qualifying third-party indemnity provision (whether made by the Board or otherwise) has been in place for one 
or more of the Directors at any time during the financial year. 

 
7. Corporate Governance 

 

The Board meets regularly during the year to progress the business of the Health Board.  The Scottish Health 
Plan established that the following standard committees should exist at unified NHS Board level: 
 

 Clinical Governance; 

 Audit; 

 Staff Governance; 

 Discipline (for primary care contractors).  
 
In early 2020 the Cabinet Secretary issued guidance to notify all NHS Boards that they were to operate on an 
emergency footing during the Covid pandemic. This resulted in a number of Governance Committees being stood 
down from April 2020, and papers were presented to the Board to ensure that interim governance arrangements 
were in place, and were reviewed regularly, including by Internal and External Auditors. This meant that some 
Committees met on fewer occasion than their terms of reference prescribed. The risks that were allocated to 
these Committees were overseen by the Board.  
 
Healthcare Quality Assurance and Improvement Committee 
 
The membership of the Healthcare Quality Assurance and Improvement Committee comprises Non-Executive 
Directors from Lanarkshire NHS Board, and is chaired by a Non-Executive Director of Lanarkshire NHS Board. 
 
The Healthcare Quality Assurance and Improvement Committee supports the Board in its responsibilities for 
issues of clinical risk, control and governance and associated assurance in the area of Clinical Governance, 
through a process of constructive challenge.  

 
The Committee is responsible for providing assurance at all levels across the organisation that the health 
improvement and care we provide fulfils the Quality Ambitions of being Safe, Effective and Person-Centred and 
that staff at all levels are given necessary support to identify areas for quality improvement and the training and 
development to implement change. 
 
The Healthcare Quality Assurance and Improvement Committee met 6 times in 2021/22. 
 
Chair Mrs L Thomson 
Members Mrs M Lees, Dr A Osborne (to 28 February 2022), Mr A Boyle, Ms L McDonald (to 

15 December 2021), Miss M Morris (to 31 August 2021), Mr D Reid (from 15 
December 2021) 

 
 
 
 

https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/about-us/board/
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Audit Committee 
 
The Audit Committee comprises Non-Executive Directors from the Lanarkshire NHS Board and is chaired by a 
Non-Executive Director of Lanarkshire NHS Board.  The Committee met on 4 occasions during 2021/22. Its role 
is to: 
 

 Receive assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Board’s system of internal control and, in 
particular, risk management; 

 Approve the Strategic Internal Audit Plan and Annual Audit Programme; 

 Consider regular Status Reports on progress with scheduled and non-scheduled Audits; 

 Oversee and monitor the action taken or proposed by Management in response to Audit recommendations; 

 Oversee the operational effectiveness of the Internal Audit function. 
 
Chair   Mr B Moore 
Members Mrs L Macer, Mr P Campbell (to 31 August 2021), Dr A Osborne (to 28 February 

2022), Councillor J McGuigan, Ms L McDonald, Mr J Muir (from 15 December 2021) 
 
Staff Governance Committee 
 
The Committee has an important role in ensuring consistency of policy and equity of treatment of staff across the 
local NHS system, including remuneration issues, where they are not already covered by existing arrangements 
at national level. The Staff Governance Committee is an essential element of the Governance Framework and 
ensures compliance with the national Staff Governance Standard. The Committee met 4 times in 2021/22. 
 
Chair   Mrs L Macer  
Members Mr B Moore, Mr P Campbell (to 31 August 2021), Miss M Morris (to 31 August 2021), 

Ms L McDonald, Mrs L Thomson (from 15 December 2021), Mr N Findlay (from 15 
December 2021) 

 
Remuneration Sub-Committee 
 
The Board’s Remuneration Sub-Committee is chaired by the Board Chair and comprises the Employee Director 
and 4 other Non-Executive Directors. Its principal responsibility is for decisions on the appointment, remuneration 
and terms and conditions of service for Executive Directors and other staff on Executive and Senior Management 
pay arrangements. It also has responsibility for other pay issues such as Discretionary Points and pay issues not 
covered by Regulation. The Committee me 7 times in 2021/22. 
 
Chair   Mr A Boyle (from 1 January 2022) 

Mrs N Mahal (to 31 December 2021) 
Members Mr B Moore, Mrs L Macer, Miss M Morris (to 31 August 2021), Mr P Campbell (to 31 

August 2021), Mrs L Thomson (from 15 December 2021), Mr M Hill (from 1 January 
2022) 

 
Discipline (for Primary Care Contractors) 
 
Disciplinary matters for primary care contractors would first be considered by an appropriately constituted Board 
reference committee. If that reference committee considers that a practitioner should be referred, in addition to 
notifying the practitioner, it will advise the Central Discipline Unit (CDU) and the Central Legal Office (CLO), both 
in National Services. CDU will undertake the administrative tasks so that a case can proceed while CLO will draw 
up the statement of case and represent the referring board at hearings.  

 
Disciplinary cases will be considered by one of 2 groups of 7 NHS Boards acting as consortia. An NHS board 
cannot refer a case for consideration by the consortium of which it is a member. 
 
In 2021/22, no Reference Committee meetings were required to be convened by NHS Lanarkshire. 
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Additional Board Committees - 
     
Acute Governance Committee 

The Acute Governance Committee comprises Non-Executive Directors of the Lanarkshire NHS Board and is 
chaired by a Non-Executive Director of the NHS Board.  The Committee has a remit to monitor and review the 
provision of services by the Acute Operating Division, to ensure that services are provided as efficiently as 
possible, to meet all recognised standards, within available resources and that services increasingly are designed 
and operated to deliver an integrated patient service. The Acute Governance Committee met 4 times in 2021/22. 
 
Chair   Ms L McDonald (from 1 March 2022) 

Dr A Osborne (to 28 February 2022) 
Members Ms L McDonald (to 28 February 2022), Councillor P Kelly, Miss M Morris (to 31 

August 2021), Mrs L Thomson, Mr J Muir (from 15 December 2021) 
 
Population Health, Primary Care & Community Services Governance Committee 
 
The Population Health, Primary Care & Community Services Governance Committee comprises Non-Executive 
Directors of the Lanarkshire NHS Board and is chaired by a Non-Executive Director of the NHS Board. The 
Committee has a remit to govern the actions of NHS Lanarkshire in protecting and improving the health of the 
population with particular emphasis on addressing inequalities and on delivering effective primary care services.  
The focus will be on populations and the actions of organisations; provide support to the governance and delivery 
of community-based services by Health and Social Care Partnerships given their role in the delivery of 
programmes and services that impact on public health; and be responsible for monitoring the governance of 
mental health (including learning disability) services. The Board decided to stand down all non-essential 
meetings, including the Committee, in April 2020, but reviewed this position in August 2021 and the Committee 
started to meet, with a Covid focused agenda, from September 2021. 
 
The Committee met on 5 occasions. 
 
Chair   Mr A Boyle (from 1 September 2021) 

Miss M Morris (to 31 August 2021) 
Members Mr P Campbell (to 31 August 2021), Mrs M Lees, Mr B Moore, Mr A Boyle, Councillor 

J McGuigan, Mr N Findlay (from 15 December 2021) 
 
Monklands Replacement Oversight Board 
 
The Monklands Replacement Oversight Board was established in October 2019 to provide the required degree 
of assurance on the progression of the Monklands Replacement Project in accordance with the Corporate 
Objectives of NHS Lanarkshire and the appropriate statutory and mandatory standing orders and regulations. 
However, in May 2021 the Board decided to delegate this oversight to the Planning, Performance and Resources 
Committee. In January 2022, the Board reviewed these arrangements and decided to establish a new Standing 
Committee of the Board, the Monklands Replacement Project Governance Committee, from 1 April 2022. 
 
Health and Social Care Partnership Joint Integration Boards 

 
The Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 signalled a move to the Integration of Adult Health and 
Social Care, with effect from April 2015. The Bill requires each Health Board and Local Authority to establish an 
‘Integration Authority’ to deliver nationally agreed outcomes for Health and Social Care. Integration Boards have 
been established for South and for North Lanarkshire, with membership as follows: 
 
South Lanarkshire Health and Social Care Partnership Integration Joint Board 
 
Chair   Councillor J Bradley, South Lanarkshire Council  
Vice-Chair   Mr P Campbell, Non-Executive Director, Lanarkshire NHS Board (to 31 August 2021) 

Ms L McDonald, Non-Executive Director, Lanarkshire NHS Board (from 15 December 
2021) 

Members   Councillor R Lockhart, South Lanarkshire Council 
   Councillor J McGuigan, South Lanarkshire Council 
   Councillor A Falconer, South Lanarkshire Council 
   Mrs L Thomson, Non-Executive Director, Lanarkshire NHS Board 
   Mrs L Macer, Non-Executive Director, Lanarkshire NHS Board 

Ms L McDonald, Non-Executive Director, Lanarkshire NHS Board (to 14 December 2021) 
Mr D Reid, Non-Executive Director, Lanarkshire NHS Board (from 15 December 2021) 

 
North Lanarkshire Health and Social Care Partnership Joint Integration Board 
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Chair   Councillor P Kelly, North Lanarkshire Council (from 1 March 2022) 

Dr A Osborne, Non-Executive Director, Lanarkshire NHS Board (to 28 February 2022) 
Vice-Chair   Councillor P Kelly, North Lanarkshire Council 
Members   Councillor J Logue, North Lanarkshire Council 
   Councillor M Gallacher, North Lanarkshire Council 
   Councillor J Linden, North Lanarkshire Council 
                     Miss M Morris, Non-Executive Director, Lanarkshire NHS Board (to 31 August 2021) 
   Mr B Moore, Non-Executive Director, Lanarkshire NHS Board 

 
Mr P Campbell, Non-Executive Director, Lanarkshire NHS Board (to 31 August 2021) 
Mr N Findlay, Non-Executive Director, Lanarkshire NHS Board (from 15 December 2021) 
Mr A Boyle, Non-Executive Director, Lanarkshire NHS Board (from 15 December 2021) 

 
Pharmacy Practices Committee 

The Pharmacy Practices Committee is a statutory committee and is responsible for the consideration of 
applications to establish community pharmacy premises within the defined geographical area of the Lanarkshire 
NHS Board.  
 
Co-Chairs  Mr B Moore (from 15 December 2021), Miss M Morris (to 31 August 2021), Mrs L McDonald  
Members Mrs C Prentice, Mrs M Caraher, Mrs L Robertson, Mr C J Sargent, Mr J Woods 

 
Area Clinical Forum 

The role of the Area Clinical Forum is to support the NHS Lanarkshire Board in the conduct of its business 
through the provision of multi-professional advice, maximising the contribution of clinicians in all aspects of the 
NHS Boards work. In doing so represent the integrated multi professional view of the advisory structures for: 
Allied Health Professions, Dental, Healthcare Sciences, Medical, Nursing and Midwifery; Optometric, 
Pharmaceutical and Psychology.  
 
Chair  Mrs M Lees 
Members The Forum comprises 17 members, 2 from each professional committee (Allied Health 

Professions, Dental, Healthcare Sciences, Medical, Nursing and Midwifery, Optometric, 
Pharmacy, Psychology) and a third from the Committee which the Chairperson is a member. 
The Board’s Medical Director attends the meeting regularly. 

 
8. Remuneration for non-audit work 

 
Details of any remuneration paid to auditors in respect of any non-audit work carried out on behalf of the board 
is disclosed in note 3. 

 
9. Value of Land 
 

The difference between the market value and the balance sheet value of land is not significant. Land is re-valued 
annually. 

 
10. Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 

 
Sections 31 and 32 of the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 impose new duties on the Scottish 
Government and listed public bodies to publish information on expenditure and certain other matters as soon as 
is reasonably practicable after the end of each financial year. This information can be found on the Board’s 
website under the following link - Financial Information | NHS Lanarkshire 
 
Information specifying the number of individuals who received remuneration in excess of £150,000 can be found 
in the Staff Report. 

 
11. Personal data related incidents reported to the Information Commissioner 

There were 5 personal data related incidents reported in the year. 
 
12. Disclosure of Information to Auditors 

 
 The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each 

aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Board’s auditors are unaware; and each director has 
taken all the steps that he/she ought reasonably to have taken as a director to make himself / herself aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Board’s auditors are aware of that information.  

https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/about-us/financial/
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities  
 
Under Section 15 of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000, the Principal Accountable Officer 
(PAO) of the Scottish Executive has appointed me as Accountable Officer of Lanarkshire Health Board. 
 
This designation carries with it, responsibility for: 
 

 The propriety and regularity of financial transactions under my control;  

 The economical, efficient and effective use of resources placed at the Board’s disposal; and 

 Safeguarding the assets of the Board. 
 
In preparing the Accounts I am required to comply with the requirements of the Government’s Financial Reporting 
Manual and in particular to: 
 

 Observe the accounts direction issued by the Scottish Ministers including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis; 

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government’s Financial Reporting Manual 
have been followed and disclose and explain any material departures; 

 Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis. 
 
I confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole are fair, balanced and reasonable and take personal 
responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced 
and understandable. 
 
I am responsible for ensuring proper records are maintained and that the Accounts are prepared under the principles 
and in the format directed by Scottish Ministers. To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged 
my responsibilities as accountable officer as intimated in the Departmental Accountable Officers letter to me of the 
15 June 2020. 
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Governance Statement 
 
Scope of Responsibility  
 
As Accountable Officer, I am responsible for maintaining an adequate and effective system of internal control that 
supports compliance with the organisation’s policies and promotes achievement of the organisation’s aims and 
objectives, including those set by Scottish Ministers. Also, I am responsible for safeguarding the public funds and 
assets assigned to the organisation. 
 
Purpose of Internal Control  
 
The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify, prioritise and manage the 
principal risks facing the organisation. The system aims to evaluate the nature and extent of risks, and manage risks 
efficiently, effectively and economically. 
 
The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the 
organisation’s aims and objectives. As such, it can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance. 
 
The process within the organisation accords with guidance from Scottish Ministers in the Scottish Public Finance 
Manual (SPFM) and supplementary NHS guidance, and has been in place for the year up to the date of approval of 
the annual report and accounts. A number of changes were made on 2 March 2020 when the Board invoked its 
emergency command and control arrangements to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic and these are explained in 
this statement.  
 
The SPFM is issued by Scottish Ministers to provide guidance to the Scottish Government and other relevant bodies 
on the proper handling and reporting of public funds. The SPFM sets out the relevant statutory, parliamentary and 
administrative requirements, emphasises the need for efficiency, effectiveness and economy, and promotes good 
practice and high standards of propriety. 
 
Governance Framework  
 
Board Purpose 
 
NHS Lanarkshire is responsible for commissioning and providing health care services for the residents of 
Lanarkshire. A Board (the NHS Board), with a majority of Non-Executive members, sets its strategic direction in line 
with national policy and local needs and, supported by a number of governance committees, receives assurance on 
achievement of its objectives and on the quality of its services. The NHS Board’s work is closely linked with that of 
the North Lanarkshire and South Lanarkshire Integration Joint Boards. These are separate legal bodies set up under 
the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 which aims to better integrate Health and Social Care services. 
The planning, commissioning and oversight of a range of health services and adult social care are delegated by the 
Board and Local Authorities to Integration Joint Boards.  The delegated services include adult social care, primary 
and community care, mental health and a range of hospital services including Accident and Emergency, geriatric 
medicine and general medical inpatients. Having received a delegated budget to cover these services, the IJBs 
develop integrated strategic commissioning plans then direct the Health Board to provide the relevant health services.  
 
Emergency Operating Arrangements 
 
On the 2nd of March 2020 NHS Lanarkshire moved from normal operating into emergency response mode in order 
to be able to react quickly to the evolving Covid -19 pandemic. Under the Boards agreed resilience arrangements a 
command and control structure was established. A Strategic or “Gold” command group met regularly- daily at the 
height of the pandemic, twice weekly by March 2022- to assess the situation and take any decisions needed to best 
respond. A well-defined structure of tactical sub groups covering cross cutting themes such as Clinical, Public health, 
Vaccinations or Logistics reported in to the Strategic Command group. These groups were populated by people with 
the expertise to decide on and implement key actions. Operational groups based round sites or services were also 
set up and had clear lines of reporting and escalation through the command structure to allow rapid assessment and 
resolution. There were protocols around maintaining action logs and a separate Covid-19 risk register. Further 
information can be found on page 7. This structure remained in place throughout 2021/22 with the national 
emergency status being removed on 30 April 2022 and the Board’s Gold command group standing down on 5th of 
May 2022. 
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Board and Committee Meetings 
 
The NHS Board would normally have met in public at least 5 times with a Planning, Performance and Resource 
Committee (PPRC) meeting at least 4 times in the intervening months for a more detailed consideration of issues. In 
recognition of the Public Health emergency, the Scottish Government Director of Health Finance, Corporate  
 
Governance and Value recognised governance arrangements would need to change in a letter to Board Chairs dated 
25 March 2020. At the April 2020 meeting the Board endorsed to Command and Control mechanism and agreed 
replacing PPRC with a focussed monthly Board meeting, further reviewing governance arrangements at intervals.   
Three governance committees covering staff, audit and clinical governance continued to meet as necessary with an 
enhanced focus on Covid-19. The May 2021 Board agreed to stand up all Governance Committees with agendas 
focussed on key issues and revert to bi-monthly meetings of the Board from June 2021, interspersed by PPRC. This 
was only partially achieved as a further Covid-19 wave appeared in September 2021 and the Population Health, 
Primary Care and Community Services Committee and the Acute Governance Committee meetings were delayed 
until later in the year.  During 2021/22 all Board, Planning, Performance and Resources Committee (PPCR) and 
Governance committee meetings were held virtually. Monthly Board meetings were livestreamed from January 2021 
onwards to ensure the public could still access them.  
 
Non-Executive Directors were kept informed on fast moving developments between Board meetings by a weekly 
electronic briefing and regular briefing sessions to allow more interactive questioning.  Board Development events 
and a finance seminar were also held to allow more in depth presentations and discussions to help shape future 
thinking.   

The January 2022 the Board agreed to the establishment of a Monklands Replacement Project Governance 
Committee as a sub-Committee of the Planning, Performance and Resources Committee, while recognising that the 
decision making rested ultimately with the NHS Board. The role of the Governance Committee, and the PPRC was 
to provide oversight and assurance during the period when the Outline Business Case was being developed in 2022. 
The OBC will be approved by the full NHS Board. 

The Corporate Governance Blueprint Improvement Plan & Active Governance Action Plan update was presented to 
the June 2021 Board, the effectiveness of the governance arrangements were discussed in a Board session in 
November 2021 and a further update was presented to the Board meeting on 15 December 2021. 

 
Healthcare Strategy 

 
The Board’s Healthcare Strategy, “Achieving Excellence”, which gained Cabinet Secretary approval on 28 April 2017 
is aimed at helping people live longer, healthier lives. It can be found at Achieving Excellence.  The document is 
consistent with the overarching strategic direction set out in the national health and social care delivery plan published 
in December 2016 which can be found at: Health & Social Care Delivery Plan. 
 
Work to scope out refreshing the healthcare strategy commenced in early 2020, however, progress was limited as a 
result of service pressures associated with the global pandemic.   The programme was revived in April 2021 when it 
was agreed that, rather than a “refresh”, a new healthcare strategy would be written. The title of “Our Health Together 
- Living Our Best Lives in Lanarkshire.”  was agreed at a Board development event in June 21. 
 
This strategy refresh retained the original aims of Achieving Excellence, namely: 
 
• Modern fit for purpose NHS services, focused on prevention, reducing inequalities and access to care; 
• Substantial & sustainable improvements in the delivery of safe services; 
• Excellence in employment, staff engagement and partnership working; 
• Greater integration of public services driven by partnerships and collaboration; and 
• Best outcomes and value for money. 
 
But expanded the core principles to include: 
 
• NHS Lanarkshire will be an exemplar anchor institution in our own NHS care delivery work and in how we 

support and catalyse action with our local partners; 
• NHS Lanarkshire will build upon the learning and collaboration that has been reinforced by the pandemic to 

ensure that we have a resilient healthcare system for the future; and 
• NHS Lanarkshire will see addressing inequalities and promoting wellbeing as core ways of working both in 

service delivery and in partnership working.  
 
A Strategic Delivery Team, drawing members from Health, the Health and Social care partnerships, the Local 
authority and the third sector will provide a whole-system approach to developing the new strategy. Individual 
workstreams have been defined and membership assigned. Progress will be reported through the Board and PPRC.  

https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2021-december-15-board-papers/
https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/achieving-excellence/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/health-social-care-delivery-plan/?utm_source=redirect&utm_medium=shorturl&utm_campaign=healthandsocialcaredeliveryplan
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An early draft of “Our Health Together “will be developed by late Autumn 2022, with a finalised plan available by the 
end of 2022.   
 
The NHS Board’s healthcare strategy sits alongside the strategic commissioning plans developed by the Integration 
Joint Boards for Health and Social care in North and South Lanarkshire. North Lanarkshire IJB, following extensive 
engagement, published a refreshed three-year Strategic Commissioning Plan in March 2020 covering 2020-23 which  
 
can be found at March 2020 Board.  South Lanarkshire IJB had undertaken a similar exercise in 2021/22 and its 
strategic commissioning plan to cover the period 2022 to 2025 can be found at  
https://www.southlanarkshire.gov.uk/directory_record/629761/strategic_commissioning_plan_2022_-_2025 
 
In May 2018 the Board approved a revised quality strategy for 2018- 2023 with strong links to  Achieving Excellence.  
 
Normally the Board’s strategy and objectives are published at the start of the year in the Annual Operational Plan 
(AOP). During 2021/22 the national and local priority became the response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the 
normal AOP process was suspended and replaced with remobilisation plans. The unpredictable nature of the 
pandemic meant there were multiple iterations of the plan – with the latest version RMP4 AOP – approved by the 

Board on 15 December 2021. 
 

Performance Management and Assurance Arrangements  

 

The Board normally maintains an overview of performance through reports against AOP targets with the PPRC or 

Board considering a wider range of indicators.  In the absence of a 2021/22 AOP and any new national performance 

targets from the Scottish Government, the Board or continued to review progress against the draft 2020/21 AOP 

targets.  The latest full published report AOP, covering quarter 3,  2021/22 was reviewed by the March 2022 Board. 

The 2021/22 quarter 4 position will be reviewed by the PPRC in June 2022.   

 
The Board also received reports throughout the year on key system indicators such as A&E performance, elective 
waiting times and delayed discharges. In addition, regular reports on financial performance and Health Care 
Associated infection continued to be provided to the Board.  
 
The Annual Operational Plan is normally supported by corporate objectives which identify the critical areas of 
business that must be delivered on time and to standard during the forthcoming year and cascade down through 
divisional, team and personal objectives.  These were paused in March 2021 to reflect on the pressures facing local 
systems.   As the 2021/22 Corporate Objectives were not finalised no mid-year or year-end progress reports could 
be prepared. Interim Corporate Objectives for 2022/23 were approved at the March 2022 meeting of the Board. and 
can be found at corporate objectives.  
 
To oversee the system of internal control the Board has established, in addition to the PPRC, Standing Committees 
for Clinical Governance, Staff Governance and Audit, chaired by Non-Executive directors. NHS Lanarkshire’s Clinical 
Governance Committee, (Health Quality Assurance and Improvement Committee - HQAIC), has a remit to ensure 
that clinical governance mechanisms are in place and effective throughout NHS Lanarkshire, including health 
improvement activities and to ensure effective mechanisms are in place for the collection, storage, security, 
dissemination and use of information.  
 
The Staff Governance Committee’s remit is to ensure consistency of policy and equity of treatment of staff across 
the local NHS system, that the NHS Staff Governance Standard is met and to provide oversight of the Workforce 
strategy. 
 
The Audit Committee receives assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Board’s systems of internal 
control, from external and internal audit as well as from internal sources and other committees. Key issues arising at 
each committee meeting are reported to the next Board meeting along with full committee minutes when they are 
available.  
 
In addition to the above an Operating Management Committee with a Non-Executive Chair provides more detailed 
oversight in the Acute Division and a Population Health, Primary Care & Community Services Governance 
Committee provide oversight of the delivery of these functions to supplement the IJBs’ strategic overview. The Board 
established a new Governance Committee in the year 2021/22, the Monklands Replacement Project Governance 
Committee and the Board approved their Terms of Reference in January 2022. 

 
The terms of reference of all governance committees were reviewed in year and changes incorporated in the updated 
of the code of corporate governance approved by the Board in May 2022. Information on the membership of these 
committees is set out in the Accountability report.  
 

https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2020-march-25-board-papers/
https://www.southlanarkshire.gov.uk/directory_record/629761/strategic_commissioning_plan_2022_-_2025
https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2019-may-30-board-papers/
https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2021-december-15-board-papers/
https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2022-march-30-board-papers/
https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2022-march-30-board-papers/
https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2022-may-25-board-papers/
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Each committee has a remit specifying clearly its responsibilities; work plans are produced at the start of the year, 
minutes or verbal updates are reported at the public Board meeting and annual reports confirming they have fulfilled 
their role are considered by the Board at the end of the year. The annual reports were submitted to the Board in May 
2022  and considered by the Audit Committee in June 2022 to help inform the committee’s overview of governance 
arrangements for this statement.  Through the additional assurance work, each of these committees was able to 
confirm that there was an adequate and effective system of internal control in place in the areas within their remit,  
 
 
highlighting any matters of concern that the Audit Committee might want to consider in reaching an overall conclusion 
on the strength of internal control.  
 
In March 2022 the Board reviewed, updated and approved its Scheme of Delegation and its Standing Financial 
Instructions (SFIs & SoD). 
 
A register of key legislation is maintained with the controls in place to ensure compliance is documented and 
periodically reviewed. Under normal operating compliance with circulars is achieved through the Board Secretary 
providing links to circulars as they are issued with a further listing at the weekly Corporate Management team for 
wider awareness and discussion if required. During the pandemic there was a high volume of Covid-19 specific 
circulars or professional guidance and these were routed through the Strategic (Gold) Command meetings for 
immediate action and this continued throughout 2021/22. The normal reporting to CMT was temporarily suspended, 
resurrected on 17 May 2021 with reports covering April to August and then stood down again between September 
2021 and 1 April 2022 when monthly reports to the CMT were reinstated. 
 
The Corporate Management Team (CMT) and Audit Committee receive reports on the status of internal policies and 
procedures so they can monitor compliance with the internal policy on keeping these up to date.  
 
The Network and Information Systems Directive (NIS) focuses on the availability of crucial network and information 
systems in order to protect the UK’s critical infrastructure and thereby ensure service continuity.  NIS requirements 
are much wider than the Cyber Essentials accreditation the Board obtained in 2018 (and expired in June 2021).  A 
formal project was established in 2019/20 to deliver the required a range of policies, procedures and controls to meet 
the NIS standards. Substantial progress had been made, monitored by the Information Governance Committee and 
its newly established Cyber Security sub group. The Scottish Government Competent Authority “Health CA” 
completed a desktop audit of NHS Lanarkshire and published an interim report in February 2021.  A detailed action 
plan arising from that was followed up by an on-site audit in October 2021. The report from this was issued in January 
2022 and showed significant improvement in overall compliance to 68% from 52%, and risk exposure reduced to a 
very low 1% from 16%. Based on this report, the action plan for NIS has been updated. An on-going programme 
work is defined for 2022/23 and is co-ordinated through a NIS Programme Board which meets on a monthly basis.  
The next NIS audit is scheduled for 04/10/22 and following this assessment the Board will determine the governance 
arrangements and activities required to complete the NIS Programme and transition to Business as Usual. 
 
NHS Lanarkshire has a Fraud Policy and Response Plan, and a designated Fraud Liaison Officer (FLO) operating 
in accordance with issued guidance and standards. The Fraud Liaison Officer reports through the Director of Finance 
to the Audit Committee and has direct access to the Chief Executive. NHS Lanarkshire works closely with the NHS 
Counter Fraud services (CFS), a national service established to provide expertise to NHS bodies in fraud 
investigations, to ensure all reported cases of suspected fraud are appropriately followed up and any relevant lessons 
learned. The Board’s fraud policy was reviewed in 2020 and an updated version taken to the June 2020 Audit 
Committee. A structured review of the fraud risk register was undertaken in 2020 and reviewed by the audit committee 
in September 2020. In September 2021 the audit committee was updated on CFS’s intention to adapt UK Fraud 
Standards which will be taken forwards in partnership with Boards from April 2022 in a phased approach The Board 
participates in the National Fraud Initiative where records across various public sector bodies are electronically cross 
matched and any anomalies indicating potential fraud are investigated. This is a Biennial review with data matches 
being provided to the Board in early 2021 and investigations completed by February 2022. Audit Scotland review the 
Board’s approach and confirm its adequacy. 
 
It was recognised that the pandemic was likely to lead to an increase in fraudulent activity. CFS produced a rolling 
Covid-19 Intelligence Alert which staff were signposted to in the regular staff briefing. Where this highlights risks 
relevant to NHS Lanarkshire, further targeted communication or proactive assurance work is undertaken. This is 
supplemented by the online e-learning module and advertising any relevant virtual roadshows run by CFS. The Audit 
Committee receives quarterly updates on reactive and proactive work.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2022-may-25-board-papers/
https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2022-march-30-board-papers/
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It is important that staff feel it is safe and acceptable to raise concerns and have routes to do so. The Public Services 
Reform (the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman) (Healthcare Whistleblowing) Order 2020 (SS1 2020/5) SPSO 
changed the way in which the NHS in Scotland handles whistleblowing concerns.  It gave the Scottish Public Services 
Ombudsman (SPSO) the role of Independent National Whistleblowing Officer (INWO) and introduced a Non-
Executive Whistleblowing Champion to monitor and support the effective delivery of NHS Lanarkshire’s 
Whistleblowing Policy. The role is predominantly one of assurance, providing critical oversight and ensuring that 
managers are responding to whistleblowing concerns in accordance with the Standards and raising any issues of 
concern with the Board.  The Whistleblowing Champion also has responsibility for ensuring that services delivered 
indirectly, including primary care services, contracted services and those delivered by Health and Social Care 
Partnerships are meeting the requirements of the Standards. They are supported by a network of confidential 
contacts. NHS Lanarkshire replaced its own internal policy with the new Whistleblowing Standards on 1st April 2021. 
The Board reviewed activity and actions taken in the first 3 quarters of the year at its meeting of 30 March 2022. 
 
 
Stakeholder Engagement 
 
NHS Lanarkshire engages with a wide range of stakeholder groups and forums including, but not limited to, the 
Disability Engagement Group, Lanarkshire Ethnic Minority Action Group, public partnership forms, North Lanarkshire 
community boards, carers groups and the third sector. Meetings of these groups have been disrupted during the 
Covid-19 pandemic. However, where possible, engagement has continued through online meetings on topics 
including the Covid-19 vaccination programme. As well as having public representation on the Acute Governance 
Committee and relevant other groups, a Public Reference Forum for person-centred care has been in place since 
June 2015. The Public Reference Forum usually meets quarterly which provides an opportunity for open discussion 
on subjects of public interest in relation to health and social care in Lanarkshire. During 2021/22 the Forum was 
unable to meet as the group members were not able to accommodate online meetings and were unable to attend 
face to face meetings due to pandemic restrictions. For 2022/23 arrangements have been put in place to 
accommodate online meetings for the Forum members. The outputs from the Public Reference Forum are reported 
to the Person Centred Care Group which is a sub-group of Healthcare Quality Assurance and Improvement 
Committee (HQAIC).  
 
In March 2020 the NHS Board approved a new communications and engagement strategy for 2020 – 2025 and this 
can be found at March 2020 Board . 
 
NHS Lanarkshire’s approach to stakeholder engagement is in line with the Scottish Government's Planning with 
People - Community Engagement and Participation” guidance for NHS Boards, Integration Joint Boards and Local 
Authorities that are planning and commissioning care services in Scotland.  
 
NHS Lanarkshire works closely with Healthcare Improvement Scotland – Community Engagement including regular 
meetings to discuss the Board’s approach to service change engagement.  
 
During 2021/22 NHS Lanarkshire engaged with stakeholders on the preferred option to relocate (planned) inpatient 
orthopaedic surgery to the new University Hospital Monklands when it opens around 2028. Extensive engagement, 
including 400 responses to a survey, was carried out with stakeholders. Feedback from this was captured in an 
engagement report and considered by the NHS Lanarkshire Board at its meeting on 20 December 2021. HIS-CE 
advised that the engagement process satisfied the requirements of the Planning with People guidance.  
 
Stakeholder engagement on the new Monklands hospital has continued through a number of other routes. This has 
included meetings of the Monklands Engagement Forum which includes public stakeholder representatives. Public 
stakeholders have also been involved in the hospital design workshops. During the final quarter of 2021/22 a pre-
application planning consultation was undertaken as part of the process to develop the new hospital. This included 
a range of opportunities for stakeholders to provide feedback. In line with current Scottish Government guidance due 
to the pandemic, the pre-application consultation was carried out as an online exercise. 
 
Early engagement work took place during 2021/22 towards developing a new Lanarkshire healthcare strategy – Our 
Health Together. This included engagement events with planning partners, the third sector and staff. A set of co-
production principles were developed to guide future engagement work on the strategy which will be taken forward 
during 2022/23. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2020/5/article/3/made
https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2022-march-30-board-papers/
https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2020-march-25-board-papers/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/planning-people/pages/2/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/planning-people/pages/2/
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The national finding that ethnic minorities were disproportionately impacted by the pandemic led to NHS Lanarkshire 
conducting four interactive, online, engagement forums during September 2020 to understand how inequalities were 
experienced by staff, including the impact of Covid-19.  This was followed up by a wider staff questionnaire its own 
staff survey and establishing a Black, Asian and Ethnic Minorities (BAME) Forum for staff working in NHS 
Lanarkshire. In 2021/22, the development of staff networks has continued with the Ethnic Minority Employee Network 
(EMEN) meeting quarterly throughout the year, developing an action plan and issuing regular newsletters. Following 
an employee survey, the first LGBT+ network was held in February 2022 and is now planned to continue quarterly 
through 2022/23. On on-line forum is also planned to discuss the direction of an employee disability network. 
 
The Board Annual Report on Feedback, Comments, Concerns and Complaints for 2020/21 was considered in draft 
by the Board’s clinical governance committee (HQAIC) in September 2021. It described activities undertaken to 
encourage patient feedback through a wider variety of mediums, key performance indicators on the handling of 
complaints and improvement actions taken. HQAIC received regular updates on Scottish Public Sector Ombudsman 
rulings including an annual overview report which was considered at the July 2021 meeting.  
 
Board Learning 
 
Development needs for Non-Executive directors are initially identified through national and local induction 
arrangements. Thereafter these are highlighted in discussion with the Chair informally through the course of the year 
and as part of the annual appraisal. Similarly, development needs for Executive directors are identified initially 
through local induction arrangements and thereafter though the individual performance management process (with  
 
mid-year and annual review) where needs are identified in discussion with the Chief Executive and form part of each 
individual’s Personal Development Plan. The performance of senior managers is reviewed independently by a 
remuneration committee composed of Non-Executive directors.  
 
In addition, whole Board development needs can arise for a number of reasons, for example, in response to new 
policies, working arrangements or changes to legislation. During 2021/22, 11 briefing or discussion events were 
organised to meet Non-Executive and wider Board needs, supplementing weekly electronic updates and monthly 
Board meetings. 2 full day Board Development Sessions were held, the first in November 2021 and second in March 
2022.  
 
As a public sector body the Board has a duty to deliver Best Value and the governance framework described above 
helps support this. A periodic stocktake is undertaken of the mechanisms the Board has in place against the Best 
Value guidance to ensure there is comprehensive coverage. The latest stocktake was presented to the Audit 
Committee in January 2021 and to a Board Development event in February 2021.  NHS Lanarkshire is committed to 
learning from good practice and also from adverse events, complaints and other incidents that identify gaps in 
process and procedures and to take appropriate action to reduce the likelihood of similar events being experienced.  
 
The Board’s policy on reporting, recording and management of adverse events including undertaking Significant 
Adverse Event Reviews (SAER’s) was reviewed and updated in 2022, drawing on the National Framework issued 
by Healthcare Improvement Scotland in July 2018 and taking into account findings from Internal Audit reviews. The 
aim of the policy is to ensure that all adverse events are reported, acted upon, and analysed as appropriate and that 
the knowledge thus gained is regularly disseminated to improve quality, patient safety, staff safety and performance 
of the organisation. Enhancements continue to be made every year with recent improvements including; changes to 
the coding on Datix to ensure the correct categories are chosen, the introduction of Never Events to ensure safe 
systems are in place, a training module on investigation report writing and improvements in the learning bulletin 
which also now includes learning from complaints. In April 2021 a new ‘actions’ module was introduced to Datix to 
enable easy tracking and monitoring of any recommended action from adverse events. There have been 
improvements in the time taken to complete reviews and the quality of the reviews is also improving.  
 
More generally, the organisation is committed to continuous development and improvement: developing systems in 
response to any relevant reviews and developments in best practice.  
 
Covid-19 Pandemic Response 
 
Throughout the whole of 2021/22 the NHS in Scotland was on an emergency footing. The Covid-19 pandemic created 
a global and national crisis which directly impacted the communities of Lanarkshire and this had a profound impact 
on how services operated and how decision making and governance took place to support the pandemic response. 
The previous sections describe both the normal governance processes and adaptations needed during the 
pandemic. This section provides additional information specific to the Covid-19 response. 
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NHS Lanarkshire has a number of statutory duties across a range of legislation setting out when and how it should 
respond to incidents including being a category one responder under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. Emergency 
Planning in NHS Lanarkshire is based on guidance issued by the Scottish Government including ” preparing for 
emergencies“  issued by the Scottish Government Health Resilience Unit in 2013 which details the emergency 
response arrangements the NHS should have in place and “NHS Scotland: Standards for Organisational Resilience” 
which were updated in May 2018.   
 
Emergency planning is an ongoing discipline, designed to ensure that essential health care needs can still be met 
effectively when normal services become overloaded, restricted or non-operational for whatever reason. The NHS 
Lanarkshire Major Emergency plan sets out the generic response with specific sub sections such as pandemic 
influenza. These detail structures, responsibilities and responses to emergencies. 
 
On 2 March 2020 NHS Lanarkshire declared the Covid-19 a live incident under the terms of its pandemic flu plan 
and moved into confirmed response mode.  As described on page 1, a command and control structure was mobilised 
to facilitate rapid decision making and clear lines of communication during a fast evolving situation. A strategic, “Gold” 
command group to coordinate the response and take system wide decisions met as many times a week as was 
required from March 2020 until 5 May 2022 with only a brief period between 1 June and 14 September 2020 when it 
was deescalated and management of the incident reverted to usual business channels.  
 
A Board session to learn from the pandemic event to date took place in June 2021. 
 
On 17 April 2020, the Chief Executive of NHS Scotland requested that Health Boards deliver an enhanced system 
of assurance in relation to the safety and wellbeing of care home residents and staff in response to Covid-19, led by 
Directors of Public Health. A further letter was received on 20 April from the Chief Performance Officer of NHS 
Scotland to ask Health Boards to undertaken an initial assessment of all care homes, followed by a risk-assessed,  
 
prioritised programme of engagement with care homes to assess the adequacy of preparedness and response to 
the prevention and management of Covid-19, On the 17th of May the Scottish Government issued guidance to NHS 
Boards, Local Authorities and IJBS providing guidance on the comprehensive support arrangements to be put in 
place for care homes. This was supplemented by later correspondence confirming the extension of the NHS Nurse 
Directors responsibility for providing enhanced clinical and care professional oversight to care homes during Covid-
19.  A tactical Group was set up to take forward necessary actions under the Command structure. HQAIC also set 
up various assurance mechanisms to provide oversight in this new area. The extension of the Nurse Directors duties 
into professional oversight of care homes continued throughout 2021/22 and assurance mechanisms will remain in 
place.  
 
The Audit Committee in March 2021 considered a self-assessment against a Covid-19 guide produced by Audit 
Scotland which highlighted risks and issues for Public sector bodies to consider. This provided general assurance 
that the Board had adequately addressed key issues but it was noted that longer term sustainability was still a 
significant challenge and substantial transformation of services would be needed in future to allow recovery within 
available resources.  
 
A number of payment mechanisms were altered to provide financial sustainability during the service disruption. It 
was agreed that Service Level agreements between NHS Boards would continue to be paid at the same level as in 
the previous year with an uplift equal to the general allocation uplift. Payments to Family Health Service Contractors 
were also altered in line with Scottish Government guidance to cover additional costs incurred or loss of income due 
to Covid-19. Sustainability payments were introduced for Social Care providers. The funds were allocated to the NHS 
Board to be delegated to the IJBs who in turn relied on the Local Authorities to administer these payments. Funding 
for this and other aspects of the Covid-19 response, was provided to IJBs based on estimates after the first 9 months 
and any amounts unused as at 31st March 2022 were to be retained in reserves to meet additional expenditure due 
to Covid-19 in 2022/23. 
 
The NHS Board was fully funded by SG in 2021/22 for the additional capital and revenue costs it incurred in 
responding to the Covid-19 pandemic. This included £9m of financial support to make up for a shortfall in efficiency 
savings that could not be achieved due to the focus on the pandemic response.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.gov.scot/publications/preparing-emergencies-guidance-health-boards-scotland/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/preparing-emergencies-guidance-health-boards-scotland/
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Review of Adequacy and Effectiveness  
 
As Accountable Officer, I am responsible for reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal 
control.  My review is informed by: 
 

 Executive and senior managers who are responsible for developing, implementing and maintaining internal 

controls across their areas; 

 The work of the internal auditors, who submit to the Audit Committee regular reports which include their 

independent and objective opinion on the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance 

processes, together with recommendations for improvement. In particular, the Chief Internal Auditor 

prepares an annual report giving an overall assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Board’s 

governance arrangements; 

 Conclusions and recommendations from external auditors in their management letters and other reports;  

 A review of any external inspection reports received by the Board; 

 The results of any fraud investigations including the quarterly reports considered by the Audit Committee; 

 Comparative performance on key performance indicators;  

 The annual reports of the governance committees; 

 Regular reports on significant adverse events, regular review of the corporate risk register and in particular 

risks whose rating exceeds the stated risk tolerance;  
 The work of the service auditors in relation to the control frameworks operated by the following, which are 

reported through the Annual Service Audit Reports: 

o Practitioner and Counter Fraud Services (PCFS) in the discharge of their services to support the 

payments of family health services practitioners on behalf of NHS Scotland Health Boards; 

o Atos and NSS Digital and Security in the discharge of their services to support National IT Services 

on behalf of NHS Scotland Health Boards; and 
o NHS Ayrshire and Arran in the discharge of their services to operate the National Single Instance 

(NSI) financial ledger services on behalf of NHS Scotland Boards. 
 
In accordance with IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, the Financial Statements consolidate 
the legally separate NHS Lanarkshire Board Endowment Fund. The NHS Board’s Audit Committee has received an 
assurance report from the Endowment Trustees and there are no issues arising in respect of these Endowment 
Accounts that would require disclosure in this statement. 
 
 
Given the scale of the services for which planning and commissioning is now delegated to the IJBs, assurances have 
been received from the IJBs that they have an adequate and effective system of internal control in place, and 
assurances have been received on the financial information provided to NHS Lanarkshire for inclusion in the annual 
accounts. Similar assurances have been provided by NHS Lanarkshire to the IJBs on these matters. 
 
All NHS Lanarkshire specific external audit reports, are considered in full by the Audit Committee. The Audit 
Committee also ensures that any relevant learning from wider Audit Scotland reports is being considered by the 
organisation. The Audit Committee receives quarterly reports on all internal audits conducted as well as follow up 
reports which demonstrate a high level of management implementation of findings. The Chief Internal Auditor 
provided senior management with an Interim Control Evaluation in February 2022 so actions against any identified 
issues could be put in place and produced an annual report which gives a year end assessment to directly inform 
the governance statement. The Audit Committee determines the additional evidence it needs to receive on top of its 
own annual report in order to provide advice to myself as Accountable Officer on the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the system of risk management in operation within the organisation. Based on the work undertaken throughout the 
year, Internal Audit has concluded that the Board has adequate and effective internal controls in place and that the 
2021/22 internal audit plan has been delivered in line with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 
 
External Audit produce an opinion each year on the adequacy of the internal audit function. This confirms that in 
2021/22, it operated in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and has sound 
documentation and reporting procedures in place. In April 2019 an independent external quality assessment of the 
Internal Audit Function’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards was concluded, also confirming 
compliance.  This was considered by the Audit Committee in June 2019.  
 
During the year the Board has continued to develop its approach to assurance mapping as required by the Scottish 
Government 2018: Audit and Assurance Committee handbook and this work will continue in 2022/23. 
 

 
 
 
 

https://www.gov.scot/publications/audit-assurance-committee-handbook/
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Risk Management Arrangements 
 
NHS Scotland bodies are subject to the requirements of the Scottish Public Finance Manual (SPFM) and must 
operate a risk management strategy in accordance with relevant guidance issued by Scottish Ministers.  The general 
principles for a successful risk management strategy are set out in the SPFM. 
 
The Risk Management Strategy, which forms a key part of NHS Lanarkshire’s system of internal control, was 
approved at the January 2021 Board meeting. The Board acknowledges that the strategy will continue to be subject 
to change, reflecting any organisational and structural changes, learning from best practice and is normally reviewed 
annually, although some disruption to the schedule has been experienced this year. The Corporate Management 
Team considers a suite of information to maintain an overview of risk and risk management on a monthly basis.  In 
addition, the Corporate Management Team meets on a weekly basis and formally considers whether any of the 
issues considered during that meeting require an amendment to the corporate risk register. 
 
The Board considers an annual report on risk management. The 2021/22 report was reviewed by the Audit 
Committee in June 2022 and considered at the Board meeting in June 2022.  A structured review of the effectiveness 
of the Board’s risk management practices takes place annually, using the key lines of enquiry recommended in the 
Annex F of the revised Scottish Government Audit and Assurance Committee Handbook.  The Audit Committee 
considered this in March 2022. 
 
There is comprehensive guidance on the identification and assessment of risk and the effectiveness of controls. This 
guidance can be readily accessed by all relevant staff on a dedicated Risk Management Web-page which also 
contains the strategy, updated monthly corporate risk registers with signposting to other relevant sites. There is an 
electronic web-based risk recording and reporting system, integrated with the incident recording system, with 
mandatory training for anyone designated as a verifier. The system builds in review dates for each risk to ensure the 
assessment remains current and this is monitored and reported on a monthly basis through corporate management 
team and quarterly to the Audit Committee.   
 
Through this system each division maintains a register identifying and supporting the management of the operational 
risks facing the division.  The same process is used for business-critical programme of change risk management. 
Where risks are of such significance they may prevent corporate objectives being attained they are included in the 
corporate risk register.   
 

The corporate risk register is considered at each meeting of the Audit Committee and of the Board. The Board agreed 
a more focussed consideration and reporting of corporate risks that are graded very high (red), including all other 
very high graded risks that are managed at operational level, or through business-critical programmes of change e.g. 
the Monklands Replacement Project (MRP).  These risk areas are the subject of reports to each Board meeting so 
the adequacy of action plans to control and reduce risk can be assessed.   
 
Each corporate risk is aligned to a governance committee dependent on the type and nature of the risk, and a 
bespoke risk report has been received at every governance committee meeting over the year 2021/22 for assurance.  
 
Within the major incident plan, there is an agreed taxonomy of recording, reporting, oversight and escalation of the 
level of risk for each command group. This was put in place from the outset in March 2020 and has continued 
throughout 2021/22. It requires very high graded incident risks to be escalated to the Board through the risk register 
reporting, and reports to the Board were adapted to include Covid-19 risks. 
 
All corporate risks have an identified assurance committee for oversight. In April 2020 the Planning, Performance 
and Resource Committee (PPRC) and the frequency of the Population Health, Primary Care & Community Services 
Governance Committee (PHPC&CSGC) reduced to allow resources to be concentrated on the pandemic response, 
continuing into mid-2021. During this interim period, risks that had the PPRC or PHPC&CSGC identified as the 
assurance committee remained the responsibility of the Board.  The Board received reports on the risks that would 
normally have been overseen by PPRC and the PHPC&CSGC groups on a bi-monthly basis until the governance/risk 
reporting arrangements resumed from 1st July 2021. The Board maintained this oversight until its meeting in June 
2021. 
 
Corporate Risk Profile 
 
Twenty one (21) live corporate risks were reported to the NHS Board on 30th March 2022. The profile is shown in 
the heat map below. This compares to 37 live corporate risks at the end of March 2021 reflecting the change moving 
out of the critical Omicron surge during the pandemic. There are 8 very high graded risks. Based on the organisations 
risk appetite, each risk is assigned a tolerance level and a process has been introduced requiring the Board to be 
notified of where a very high risk sits outside the tolerance level. During the surge periods of the pandemic the 
majority of high and very high graded risks had increased tolerance levels that have since been reviewed and 
reduced. 

https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2021-january-27-board-papers/
https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/download/2022-march-30-board-papers/
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Corporate Risk Heatmap  
 

 

Score Risk Score Risk Score Risk Score Risk 

1-4 Low 5-9 Medium 10-15 High 16-25 Very High 
 

The sustainability of GP services remains a very high risk. The ongoing background risk sits on the South Health and 
Social Care Partnership register.  Practical measures to reduce the pressure on GP practices includes the 
implementation of the Primary Care Improvement Plan (additional pharmacists and advanced nurse practitioners, 
the transition of responsibility of vaccinations to Health Board staff, and a gradual rolling programme to transfer the 
property responsibility to the NHS board where GPs feel it the property burden is affecting the practice’s 
attractiveness).  However available additional workforce remains a challenge. A GP recruitment and retention group 
has been established and learning from experiences of working with struggling practices is being built up. 
Implementation of the national contract supporting this was slowed during the pandemic but has progressed on a 
number of fronts. The corporate risk register reflects an immediate risk specific to the ability to maintain existing GM 
Services across NHSL since placed on an emergency footing. GP practices maximised their use of Video and 
Telephone consultations to safely provide support to patients. To provide a separate pathway for suspected Covid-
19 cases, community assessment centres were established early in 2020/21 but became increasingly difficult to staff 
and in September 2021 it was judged better to redeploy the advanced nurse practitioners involved to directly support 
GP practices and any remaining GP shifts to help triage patients at a central flow navigation centre. The Scottish 
Government had published a framework PCA(M)2002/2,  whereby practices experiencing staffing difficulties could 
be formally recognised as only being able to provide a reduced bundle of services, designed to ensure the highest 
priority care for all was protected and these measures had to be invoked Lanarkshire wide on 10 January 2022 with 
practices being returned to level 1 on 16 February 2022.  Level 1 does not equate with pre pandemic services 
 
The Primary Care Out of Hours service has remained very fragile with the inability to cover every clinical session to 
sustain the two-site model, with significant periods of closure of the Airdrie site.  The risk level was raised to very 
high and this has continued throughout 2021/22. Active daily management has been required, with business 
continuity plans being invoked with planned redirection to A&E, improved triaging jointly with NHS 24, plans for further 
recruitment to the multi-disciplinary team - of salaried GP's and increased numbers of advanced Nurse practitioners 
supported by continuous communication & engagement. 
 
There are two related very high risks relating to ensuring the workforce is at safe levels and that staff resilience and 
wellbeing is maintained during the high levels of service pressure experienced. sustaining the workforce.  A range of 
health and wellbeing staff initiatives had been put in place, however, in aiming to suppress the virus, the staff 
sickness/absence was extremely high. NHSL introduced a ‘never service/function’ protocol that ensured critical 
services across the whole system were protected with staff deployment prioritised to these areas. Enhanced 
recruitment efforts operating continuously throughout the year, bringing in qualified nurses early, recruiting additional 
health care support workers, accepting increased agency usage and latterly looking at international recruitment.  
 
From October 2021 NHS Lanarkshire experienced severe pressure on acute beds, a problem that reflected 
difficulties across the whole health and social care system in maintaining patient flow in the face of Covid-19 
outbreaks and pent up demand. Previous separate risks on delayed discharge in hospital occupancy were 
consolidated into a very high risk on maintaining whole patient flow. NHSL provided support to care homes through 
liaison service, including infection control/ outbreak advice & support and risk assessment for onward movement of 
patients. Recruitment for social care staff ran continuously. Hospital site teams met regularly throughout the day to 
optimise the deployment of staff and bed availability. A limited number of surge beds were able to be opened on two 
sites though staff availability was the key constraint. Gold Command oversaw the current status and actions. At times 
of peak activity, a tactical Cross-Cutting Group was in place to continuously risk assess service changes and look at 
workforce deployment.  There were extensive communication releases, especially highlighting available emergency 
services and access to alternative services such as community pharmacy to minimise disease progression. 
Workstreams were set up to look at ways to smooth the process and ensure discharge without delay and to boost 
the input to help people to get home. On 4 May 2022 the risk was de-escalated from its national “black” status to the 
next level (“red”).  
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https://www.scot.nhs.uk/sehd/pca/PCA2002(P)02(M)05.pdf


NHS LANARKSHIRE 
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

32 

 

 
The ability to recruit and retain, despite the availability of additional funding from Scottish Government, has meant 
the risk to the delivery of the Child and Adolescent Mental Health (Camhs) service has been rated very high. As well 
as continued recruitment efforts there is prioritisation of referrals, active review of skill mix to match the complexity 
of cases and adoption of online interactions where appropriate. A new model, found to be successful in another 
health board areas is being adopted.   
 
Although the risk of achieving breakeven in 2021/22 was assessed as very high, the Board worked closely with the 
Scottish Government Health and Social Care Department to predict the level of additional financial support for the 
Covid-19 impact and agree the pace at which efficiency savings could be delivered whilst still recovering from the 
pandemic. Additional costs were fully funded including £9m to reflect efficiency savings that could not be achieved. 
This, combined with achieving £8m of efficiency and areas where cost growth was slower than predicted due to the 
continued impact of the pandemic, allowed the Board to break even and the risk to be closed. The way this was 
achieved however was largely non-recurring and 2022/23 starts with an estimated £22.254m gap which is forecast 
to grow to over £31m because of high inflation and new drugs, with national, regional and local developments taking 
the gap to over £38m. With very little identified by way of efficiency savings in 2022/23 at this stage the risk of 
achieving breakeven at 31 March 2023 has been ranked as very high.  
 
The 8th risk graded very high, because of its scale and complexity, relates to a specific project to re-procure the 
Laboratory managed service which has reached the end of its contract term. A programme Board is in place with 
progress being monitored regularly through the Audit Committee, PPRC and the Acute Governance Committee.   
 
During the Covid-19 pandemic, elective activity was curtailed. At peak times it was suspended to allow all staffing 
resources to be diverted to treat the surge of Covid-19 patients but, even in between, the need for additional physical 
distancing and infection control measures reduced the number of people who could be seen.   Given the numbers 
waiting and the continued impact working in an environment with Covid-19 present, the risk of not getting back to 
normal waiting times performance fully materialised. The new performance framework for 22/23 will be subject to 
risk assessment. To reduce harm, processes are in place to protect critical services (never services) and for regularly 
reviewing the waiting lists through a structured clinical prioritisation process to ensure the most urgent cases are 
seen first combined with a review of very long waits over 52 weeks. The next version of the Remobilisation plans is 
due for submission to Scottish Government in July 2022.   
 
Conclusion 
 
During the whole of 2021/22 the NHS in Scotland was operating under emergency powers and the Board revised its 
governance arrangements to allow the most effective response to the Covid-19 pandemic. Risks were well monitored  
 
and the emergency arrangements put in place by the Board were effective in allowing services to rapidly respond to 
each development. Against this unprecedented backdrop it is my assessment that during the financial year, no 
significant control weaknesses or issues have arisen, and no significant failures have arisen in the expected 
standards for good governance, risk management and internal control. Going forward the NHS will experience 
significant challenges in recovering from the pandemic. There will be a substantial backlog of activity to be cleared, 
a strain on workforce and financial resources and a need for the remobilisation plans and refreshed overarching 
strategy to have effective prioritisation and look to new evidenced approaches. 
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REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT 
 

Remuneration Report 
 
Policy on the remuneration of senior managers for current and future financial years 
 
Board members and senior employees are remunerated in accordance with the work and recommendations of the 
Senior Salaries Review Body. 
 
Determination of senior employee’s remuneration 
 
Remuneration levels are determined by the Remuneration Committee. 
 
Performance Management 
 
The Executive Pay arrangements established by MEL(2000)25 are mandatory for all employing authorities in NHS 
Scotland.  It is the responsibility of Health Boards and their Remuneration Committees, to oversee the local operation 
of these arrangements.  The deliberations of Health Boards and the Remuneration Committee are subject to normal 
arrangements for internal and external audit. 
 
Each member of staff has an annual appraisal the results of which are considered by the Remuneration Committee.  
The Remuneration Committee will ask to have sight of appraisal documentation where they consider this appropriate.  
The outcome of the appraisal process is used to determine performance uplifts in line with the relevant Health 
Department Letters. 
 
There are four performance levels in accordance with the following definitions: 
 
Superior 
The individual regularly exceeds all short-term objectives, makes excellent progress towards long-term objectives 
and demonstrates high levels of the appropriate behavioural competencies in the achievement of objectives and day 
to day contact with others. 
 
Fully Acceptable 
The individual consistently meets and occasionally exceeds all short-term objectives and makes satisfactory progress 
with all long-term objectives.  They will have a clear understanding of the appropriate behavioural competencies and 
the application and development of these can be identified in the achievement of objectives and in day to day contact 
with others. 
 
Incomplete 
The individual meets short-term objectives and makes adequate progress with long-term objectives.  May fall short 
of demonstrating application of the appropriate behavioural competencies but there is evidence of understanding the 
importance of these and commitment to personal development. 
 
Unsatisfactory 
The individual would fall short of the standard required for “incomplete”.  Active steps should be taken to address the 
poor performance associated with this rating. 
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*1. Prof S J Pravinkumar’s full year equivalent salary is £150,000 - £155,000. 
*2. Mr G Docherty’s full year equivalent salary was £115,000 - £120,000. 
*3. The Scottish Government issued an instruction to increase Mrs Mahal’s remuneration relating to increased duties as Chair of NHS Lanarkshire and 
national work. As the instruction was issued directly to Mrs Mahal as Chair in line with Scottish Government procedures, this resulted in a delay to the 
payment being made, and therefore the remuneration noted above includes arrears due from financial year 2020/21. 
*4. Mrs L Macer’s salary includes £45,000 - £50,000 in respect of non-board duties. 
*5. Mrs M Lees’ entire salary relates to non-board duties. 

NHS LANARKSHIRE 

REMUNERATION REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

(AUDITED INFORMATION) 

Remuneration Table 

 

Gross Salary  
 
 

(Bands of £5,000) 

Performance related 
bonus  

 
(Bands of £5,000) 

Benefits in Kind 
 
 

(£000) 

Total Earnings in 
Year  

 
(Bands of £5,000) 

Pension 
Benefits 

 
(£000) 

Total 
Remuneration 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

Remuneration of:     
 

  

Executive Members    
 

  

Chief Executive: 
Mrs H Knox 145 - 150 - - 145 - 150 80 225 - 230 

Director of Finance: 
Mrs L Ace  125 - 130 - - 125 - 130 50 175 - 180 

Medical Director: 
Dr J Burns 160 - 165 - - 160 - 165 0 160 - 165 

Director for Nurses, Midwives and 
AHP’s: 
Mr E Docherty 120 - 125 - - 120 - 125 38 160 - 165 

Director of Public Health & Health 
Policy: 
Prof S J Pravinkumar (from 
01/12/2021)*1 45 - 50 - - 45 - 50 52 100 - 105 

Director of Public Health & Health 
Policy: 
Mr G Docherty (to 01/12/2021)*2 75 - 80 - - 75 - 80 55 130 - 135 

Non-Executive Members       

The Chair: 
Mr M Hill (from 01/01/2022) 5 - 10 - - 5 - 10 0 5 - 10 

The Chair: 
Mrs N Mahal (to 31/12/2021)*3 105 - 110 - - 105 -110 0 105 -110 

Employee Director:  
Mrs L Macer*4 55 - 60 - - 55 - 60 17 70 - 75 

Cllr J McGuigan 5 - 10 - - 5 - 10 0 5 - 10 

Mr A Boyle 15 - 20 - - 15 - 20 0 15 - 20 

Mrs M Morris (to 31/08/2021) 5 - 10 - - 5 - 10 0 5 - 10 

Mrs M Lees*5 65 - 70 -  65 - 70 21 85 - 90 

Mr P Campbell (to 31/08/2021) 5 - 10 - - 5 - 10 0 5 - 10 

Dr A Osborne (to 28/02/2022) 10 - 15 - - 10 - 15 0 10 - 15 

Ms L McDonald 15 - 20 - - 15 - 20 0 15 - 20 

Mr B Moore 10 - 15 - - 10 - 15 0 10 - 15 

Mrs L Thomson 15 - 20 - - 15 - 20 0 15 - 20 

Cllr P Kelly 5 - 10 - - 5 - 10 0 5 - 10 

Mr N Findlay (from 01/10/2021) 0 - 5 - - 0 - 5 0 0 - 5 

Mr D Reid (from 01/10/2021) 0 - 5 - - 0 - 5 0 0 - 5 

Mr J Muir (from 01/10/2021) 0 - 5 - - 0 - 5 0 0 - 5 

Mr P Couser (from 01/02/2022) 0 - 5 - - 0 - 5 0 0 - 5 

Mr N Dar (from 01/02/2022) 0 - 5 - - 0 - 5 0 0 - 5 

Mr C Lee (from 01/02/2022) 0 - 5 - - 0 - 5 0 0 - 5 

Mrs S White (from 01/02/2022) 0 - 5 - - 0 - 5 0 0 - 5 

Senior Managers       

Director of HR: 
Mrs K Sandilands 95 - 100 - - 95 - 100 38 135 - 140 

Director of Information & Digital 
Technology: 
Mr D Wilson 105 - 110 - - 105 - 110 40 145 - 150 

Director of Planning, Property & 
Performance: 
Mr C Lauder 110 - 115 - - 110 - 115 48 155 - 160 

Director of Acute Services: 
Mrs J Park 115 - 120 - - 115 - 120 43 155 - 160 

Total     482  
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* The CETV calculator is obtained from the Scottish Public Pensions Agency and is updated for the NHS Pension scheme for factors advised by the 
Government Actuary’s Department (GAD).  As the factors supplied by GAD have changed, the “CETV at start of period” for 2021/22 can be different from 
the “CETV at end of period” reported for 2020/21. 
*** information not available 
 
 
 
 

NHS LANARKSHIRE 

REMUNERATION REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

(AUDITED INFORMATION) 

Pensions Values Table 

  

Total accrued pension 
at pensionable age at 

31 March  
(Bands of £5,000) 

Real increase in pension 
at pensionable age 
(Bands of £2,500) 

 Cash Equivalent Transfer 
value (CETV) at 31 March 

2021 
(£000)  

Cash Equivalent Transfer 
value (CETV) at 31 March 

2022 
(£000) 

Real increase in 
CETV in year 

(£000)  

Remuneration of:          

Executive Members       

Chief Executive: 
Mrs H Knox 

60 - 65 plus lump 
sum of 150 - 155 5 - 7.5 1,244 1,363 119  

Director of Finance: 
Mrs L Ace  

55 - 60 plus lump 
sum of 110 - 115 2.5 - 5 987 1,059 72  

Medical Director: 
Dr J Burns *** *** *** *** ***  

Director for Nurses, Midwives 
and AHP’s: 
Mr E Docherty 

35 - 40 plus lump 
sum of 65 - 70 2.5 - 5 566 614 48  

Director of Public Health & 
Health Policy: 
Prof S J Pravinkumar (from 
01/12/2021) 

40 - 45 plus lump 
sum of 75 - 80 2.5 - 5 696 748 52  

Director of Public Health & 
Health Policy: 
Mr G Docherty (to 01/12/2021) 

50 - 55 plus lump 
sum of 145 - 150 2.5 - 5 1,148 1,228 80  

Non-Executive Members       

The Chair: 
Mr M Hill (from 01/01/2022) 0 0 0 0 0  

The Chair: 
Mrs N Mahal (to 31/12/2022) 0 0 0 0 0  

Employee Director:  
Mrs L Macer 

15 - 20 plus lump 
sum of 55 - 60 0 - 2.5 422 453 32  

Cllr J McGuigan 0 0 0 0 0  

Mr A Boyle 0 0 0 0 0  

Mrs M Morris (to 31/08/2021) 0 0 0 0 0  

Mrs M Lees 
30 - 35 plus lump 

sum of 60 - 65 0 - 2.5 547 579 32  

Mr P Campbell (to 31/08/2021) 0 0 0 0 0  

Dr A Osborne (to 28/02/2022) 0 0 0 0 0  

Ms L McDonald 0 0 0 0 0  

Mr B Moore 0 0 0 0 0  

Mrs L Thomson 0 0 0 0 0  

Cllr P Kelly 0 0 0 0 0  

Mr N Findlay (from 01/10/2022) 0 0 0 0 0  

Mr D Reid (from 01/10/2022) 0 0 0 0 0  

Mr J Muir (from 01/10/2022) 0 0 0 0 0  

Mr P Couser (from 01/02/2022) 0 0 0 0 0  

Mr N Dar (from 01/02/2022) 0 0 0 0 0  

Mr C Lee (from 01/02/2022) 0 0 0 0 0  

Mrs S White (from 01/02/2022) 0 0 0 0 0  

      

Director of HR: 
Mrs K Sandilands 

35 - 40 plus lump 
sum of 90 - 95 0 - 2.5 746 803 56  

Director of Information & Digital 
Technology: 
Mr D Wilson 

35 - 40 plus lump 
sum of 65 - 70 2.5 - 5 580 629 49  

Director of Planning, Property & 
Performance: 
Mr C Lauder 

50 - 55 plus lump 
sum of 115 - 120 2.5 - 5 987 1,057 70  

Director of Acute Services: 
Mrs J Park 

50 - 55 plus lump 
sum of 130 - 135 2.5 - 5 1,064 1,133 69  

Total   8,987 9,666 679  
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*1. Mrs H Knox’s full year equivalent salary was £135,000 – £140,000 as chief executive, and £120,000 - £125,000 as director of acute services. 
*2. Mr C Campbell’s full year equivalent salary was £160,000 - £165,000. 
*3. Mrs L Macer’s salary includes £50,000 - £55,000 in respect of non-board duties. 
*4. Mrs M Lees’ entire salary relates to non-board duties. 
*5. Mrs J Park’s full year equivalent salary was £110,000 - £115,000. 
 
  

NHS LANARKSHIRE 

REMUNERATION REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 

(AUDITED INFORMATION) 

Remuneration Table 

 

Gross Salary  
 
 

(Bands of £5,000) 

Performance related 
bonus  

 
(Bands of £5,000) 

Benefits in Kind 
 
 

(£000) 

Total Earnings in 
Year  

 
(Bands of £5,000) 

Pension 
Benefits 

 
(£000) 

Total 
Remuneration 

(Bands of 
£5,000) 

Remuneration of:     
 

  

Executive Members    
 

  

Chief Executive: 
Mrs H Knox (from 15/06/2020)*1 105 – 110 - - 105 – 110 112 220 – 225 

Chief Executive: 
Mr C Campbell (to 15/06/2020)*2 40 – 45 - - 40 – 45 0 40 – 45 

Director of Finance: 
Mrs L Ace  120 – 125 - - 120 – 125 54 175 – 180 

Medical Director 
Dr J Burns 150 – 155 - - 150 – 155 0 150 – 155 

Director for Nurses, Midwives and 
AHP’s: 
Mr E Docherty (from 01/04/2020) 105 – 110 - - 105 – 110 81 190 – 195 

Director of Public Health & Health 
Policy: 
Mr G Docherty 115 – 120 - - 115 – 120 71 185 – 190 

Non-Executive Members       

The Chair: 
Mrs N Mahal  35 – 40 - - 35 – 40 0 35 – 40 

Employee Director:  
Mrs L Macer *3 60 – 65 - - 60 – 65 19 80 – 85 

Cllr J McGuigan 5 – 10 - - 5 – 10 0 5 – 10 

Mr A Boyle (from 01/04/2020) 10 – 15 - - 10 – 15 0 10 – 15 

Mrs M Morris 10 – 15 - - 10 – 15 0 10 – 15 

Mrs M Lees*4 65 – 70 - 2.5 65 – 70 30 95 – 100 

Mr P Campbell 15 – 20 - - 15 – 20 0 15 – 20 

Dr A Osborne  10 – 15 - - 10 – 15 0 10 – 15 

Ms L McDonald 10 – 15 - - 10 – 15 0 10 – 15 

Mr B Moore 10 – 15 - - 10 – 15 0 10 – 15 

Mrs L Thomson 10 – 15 - - 10 – 15 0 10 – 15 

Cllr P Kelly 5 – 10 - - 5 – 10 0 5 – 10 

Senior Managers       

Director of HR: 
Mrs K Sandilands (from 01/04/2020) 90 – 95 - - 90 – 95 93 185 – 190 

Director of Information & Digital 
Technology: 
Mr D Wilson 100 – 105 - - 100 -105 49 150 – 155 

Director of Planning, Property & 
Performance: 
Mr C Lauder 105 – 110 - - 105 – 110 58 160 – 165 

Director of Acute Services: 
Mrs J Park (from 15/06/2020)*5 90 – 95 - - 90 – 95 70 160 – 165 

Director of Acute Services: 
Mrs H Knox (to 15/06/2020)*1 25 – 30 - - 25 – 30 0 25 – 30 

Total   2.5  637  
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* The CETV calculator is obtained from the Scottish Public Pensions Agency and is updated for the NHS Pension scheme for factors advised by the 
Government Actuary’s Department (GAD).  As the factors supplied by GAD have changed, the “CETV at start of period” for 2020/21 can be different from 
the “CETV at end of period” reported for 2019/20. 
*** information not available 
  

NHS LANARKSHIRE 

REMUNERATION REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 

(AUDITED INFORMATION) 

Pensions Values Table 

  

Total accrued pension 
at pensionable age at 

31 March  
(Bands of £5,000) 

Real increase in pension 
at pensionable age 
(Bands of £2,500) 

 Cash Equivalent Transfer 
value (CETV) at 31 March 

2020 
(£000)  

Cash Equivalent Transfer 
value (CETV) at 31 March 

2021 
(£000) 

Real increase in 
CETV in year 

(£000)  

Remuneration of:          

Executive Members       

Chief Executive: 
Mrs H Knox (from 15/06/2020) 

55 – 60 plus lump 
sum of 140 - 145 5 – 7.5 1,063 1 206 143  

Chief Executive: 
Mr C Campbell (to 15/06/2020) *** *** *** *** ***  

Director of Finance: 
Mrs L Ace  

50 – 55 plus lump 
sum of 105 - 110 2.5 - 5 883 957 74  

Medical Director 
Dr J Burns *** *** *** *** ***  

Director for Nurses, Midwives 
and AHP’s: 
Mr E Docherty (from 
01/04/2020) 

30 – 35 plus lump 
sum of 60 - 65 2.5 - 5 467 549 82  

Director of Public Health & 
Health Policy: 
Mr G Docherty 

45 – 50 plus lump 
sum of 140 - 145 2.5 - 5 1,016 1,113 97  

Non-Executive Members       

The Chair: 
Mrs N Mahal  0 0 0 0 0  

Employee Director:  
Mrs L Macer 

15 – 20 plus lump 
sum of 50 - 55 0 – 2.5 375 409 34  

Cllr J McGuigan 0 0 0 0 0  

Mr A Boyle (from 01/04/2020) 0 0 0 0 0  

Mrs M Morris 0 0 0 0 0  

Mrs M Lees 
25 – 30 plus lump 

sum of 60- 65 0 – 2.5 492 531 39  

Mr P Campbell 0 0 0 0 0  

Dr A Osborne 0 0 0 0 0  

Ms L McDonald 0 0 0 0 0  

Mr B Moore 0 0 0 0 0  

Mrs L Thomson 0 0 0 0 0  

Cllr P Kelly 0 0 0 0 0  

Senior Managers      

Director of HR: 
Mrs K Sandilands (from 
01/04/2020) 

30 – 35 plus lump 
sum of 60 - 65 2.5 - 5 617 724 107  

Director of Information & Digital 
Technology: 
Mr D Wilson 

30 – 35 plus lump 
sum of 65 - 70 2.5 - 5 508 563 54  

Director of Planning, Property & 
Performance: 
Mr C Lauder 

45 – 50 plus lump 
sum of 110 - 115 2.5 - 5 881 958 77  

Director of Acute Services: 
Mrs J Park (from 15/06/2020) 

45 – 50 plus lump 
sum of 120 - 125 2.5 - 5 940 1,032 92  

Director of Acute Services: 
Mrs H Knox (to 15/06/2020) *** *** *** *** ***  

Total   7,242 8,042 799  
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Fair Pay Disclosures (Audited) 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest earning director 
in their organisation and the median, 25th and 75th percentile remunerations of the organisation’s workforce. The 
calculation for staff remuneration represents March salary extrapolated for full year effect and does not necessarily 
represent the actual gross pay received in the year. Occupational pension contributions are excluded for the purposes 
of this calculation. Agency and Bank Staff are excluded from the calculation as inclusion would distort the integrity of 
the percentile calculations. 
 

 2022 2021 Change 

  % 

Range of staff remuneration £19,487 - 
£377,475 

£18,478 - 
£383,695 

2.0% 

Highest earning director’s remuneration (£000s) 160 - 165 150 – 155 3.60% 

Median (total pay & benefits) £33,090 £31,992 3.43% 

Median (salary only) £33,072 £31,967 3.46% 

Ratio 4.86 4.76 2.10% 

25th percentile (total pay and benefits) £25,244 £24,407 3.43% 

25th percentile (salary only) £25,236 £24,317 3.78% 

Ratio 6.37 6.26 1.76% 

75th percentile (total pay & benefits) £42,721 £40,764 4.80% 

75th percentile (salary only) £42,530 £40,456 5.13% 

Ratio 3.78 3.76 0.53% 

Commentary 
The range of staff remuneration figures are based on the lowest and highest paid employees’ full time pay rate. 
The Highest Earning Director’s Total and the Median/Percentile Total Remuneration both exclude employer’s pension contributions, cash 
equivalent transfer values and severance payments. There are also other employees within the Board who are higher paid than the Highest 
Earning Director. 
All band 1-4 staff received a flat rate increase in pay of £1,009, with band 5-7s receiving a 4% pay uplift, and bands 8A-9 a 3% pay uplift during 
2021/22. The pay ratios and percentage movements between years are consistent for this pay award. 

 
STAFF REPORT 

 
NHS Lanarkshire works within a Staff Governance framework which ensures that all staff are treated fairly and 
consistently.  Specific arrangements are in place to support the Staff Governance Standard.  NHS Lanarkshire is also 
an equal opportunities employer. 
 
Equality & Diversity 

 NHS Lanarkshire upholds the standards and provisions of UK equal opportunities legislation. We are committed to 
reflecting the diverse geographical population in the workforce by attracting and retaining a diverse staff group.  In 
promoting equal opportunities, we are committed to ensuring that all staff are treated fairly and can give of their best. 

 
 NHS Lanarkshire welcomes applications for employment from all sections of society and will review working 

conditions and the working environment, where necessary, in order to help successful applicants take up post or for 
existing staff to remain in post, for example, to accommodate a disability. 

 
 Staff Governance 

As stated above, NHS Lanarkshire is a partnership organisation which has structures and processes in place to 
achieve the national Staff Governance Standard. 

 
 NHS Lanarkshire has a formal Partnership Agreement which sets out these structures and processes. The 

Partnership Agreement sets out the structure as follows:     
 
Area Partnership Forum 

The principal vehicle for partnership working is the Area Partnership Forum, which reports to the Staff Governance 
Committee.  The Area Partnership Forum ensures that staff, through their accredited representatives are involved in 
strategic decision making. 
 
The Area Partnership Forum is jointly chaired by the Chief Executive and Employee Director.  Its membership includes 
the eleven Directors of NHS Lanarkshire, including the Chief Executive, and eleven staff side representatives, 
including the Employee Director.  Staff side representatives must be accredited trade union/professional organisation 
representatives.  Full-time officers may attend meetings on an ex officio basis. 
 
Human Resources Forum 

A Human Resources Forum exists in NHS Lanarkshire to oversee the application of HR Policies, procedures and 
practice.    
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The Human Resources Forum exists to:- 

 

 Ensure a working interface between management and staff side representatives on Human Resources issue; 

 Oversee the application and implementation of terms and conditions of service for staff covered by Agenda 
for Change;  

 To monitor the achievement of the 4% sickness absence standard; 
 

 The management and ratification of HR policies and procedures. 
 
 
The HRF is jointly chaired by the Director of Human Resources and a Staff Side Representative and has the following 
membership: 

  

 The Divisional HR Directors (2); 

 A Manager nominated by the Divisional Director from the Divisional Partnership Forum (3); 

 The Director of Occupational Health; 

 The Deputy Director of Organisational Development; 

 Nine Staff Side Representatives, including the Chair. 
 
The Human Resources Forum has a number of sub-groups as set out below and other subgroups are established as 
and when necessary to deal with specific projects. 

 
Joint Policy Forum 
 
A Joint Policy Forum exists in NHS Lanarkshire to ensure partnership working in the development of HR policies. 

 
The Joint Policy Forum is jointly chaired by a Divisional HR Director and a Staff side Representative, and will 
comprise: 

 

 A Head of HR; 

 A representative from Occupational Health;  

 Three Management Representatives from the Divisions; 

 Six Staff Representatives, including the Chair. 
 
Occupational Health and Safety Management Group 

The Occupational Health and Safety Management Group reports directly to the Board and CMT.  This is the group 
with overall responsibility for the management of Occupational Health and Safety across Lanarkshire. 
 
The Occupational Health and Safety Management Group is chaired by the Director of Human Resources and 
comprises:  

  

 Representatives from the six local Health and Safety committees; 

 General Manager, Property and Support Services; 

 a number of Staff Representatives agreed by the Staff Side; 

 Specialist leads from the Occupational Health and Safety Service, Medical Physics, Patient Safety, Risk and 
Infection Control; 

 A General Manager nominated by each of the Local Health and Safety Forums to enhance Health and Safety 
working at all levels of our organisation. 
 

Other Groups 
 
The Medical and Dental Negotiating Committee, which deals with medical and dental terms, conditions and related 
matters.  
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a) Higher Paid Employees’ Remuneration 

   2022  2021 

   Number   Number 
Other employees whose remuneration fell within the following 
ranges:  

   

Clinicians      

£70,001 to £80,000   47  62 

£80,001 to £90,000   63  59 

£90,001 to £100,000   65  69 

£100,001 to £110,000   84  69 

£110,001 to £120,000   73  79 

£120,001 to £130,000   62  65 

£130,001 to £140,000   63  64 

£140,001 to £150,000   40  37 

£150,001 to £160,000   32  28 

£160,001 to £170,000   30  21 

£170,001 to £180,000   26  20 

£180,001 to £190,000   13  13 

£190,001 to £200,000   10  16 

£200,001 and above   15  8 

      

Other      

£70,001 to £80,000   84  66 

£80,001 to £90,000   29  17 

£90,001 to £100,000   26  19 

£100,001 to £110,000   8  5 

£110,001 to £120,000   3  3 

£120,001 to £130,000   0  2 

£130,001 to £140,000   0  0 

£140,001 to £150,000   0  0 

£150,001 to £160,000   0  0 

£160,001 to £170,000   0  0 

£170,001 to £180,000   0  0 

£180,001 to £190,000   0  0 

£190,001 to £200,000   0  0 

£200,001 and above   0  0 
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Reconciliation to Income and Expenditure (Note 3) 

 

 £’000 

Total employee expenditure as above 700,925 

Add: employee income included in Note 4 4,687 

Less: capital staff costs (200) 

Total employee expenditure disclosed in Note 3 705,412 

 

 
b) Staff Costs and Numbers 

 

 

Executive 
Board 

Members 

Non-
Executive 
Members 

Permanent 
Staff 

Inward 
Secondees 

Other 
Staff 

Outward 
Secondees 

2022 
 

Total 

  2021 
 

   Total 

 £’000 £’000 £'000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
STAFF COSTS         

Salaries and wages 681 298 499,059 0 0 (3,771) 496,267 487,455 

Social security costs 89 27 55,917 0 0 (352) 55,681 51,900 

NHS scheme employers' costs 107 10 91,983 0 0 (564) 91,536 84,751 

Other employers’ pension costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Inward secondees 0 0 0 31,113 0 0 31,113 28,562 

Agency staff 0 0 0 0 26,328 0 26,328 17,232 

TOTAL 877 335 646,959 31,113 26,328 (4,687) 700,925 669,900 

Included in the total Staff Costs above were costs of staff engaged directly on capital projects, charged to capital expenditure of: 200,084 178,000 
     

 

STAFF NUMBERS   
      

Whole Time Equivalent 5.0 16.0 12,436.9 405.0 260.1 (61.6) 13,061.4 12,740.6 

Included in the total staff numbers above were staff engaged directly on capital projects, charged to capital expenditure of: 3.1 3.1      3.1 

Included in the total staff numbers above were disabled staff of: 66.9 54.6      54.6 

Included in the total staff numbers above were Special Advisers of: 0 0      0 

   



NHS LANARKSHIRE 
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

 42  

 
c) Staff composition – an analysis of the number of persons of each sex who were directors and 

employees 

 2022 2021 

 Male Female Prefer 
not to 

say 

Total Male Female Prefer 
not to 

say 

Total 

Executive Directors 1 4 0 5 2 3 0 5 

Non-Executive 
Directors and Employee 
Director 

11 5 0 16 5 7 0 12 

Senior Employees 415 358 0 773 395 327 0 722 

Other 1,952 12,687 0 14,639 1,855 12,008 0 13,863 

Total Headcount 2,379 13,054 0 15,433 2,257 12,345 0 14,602 

 

d) Sickness absence data 

 2022 2021 

Sickness Absence Rate 6.6% 5.5% 

 

In addition to the above, covid-19 absences were 2.2% (2020/21 3.3%). 

 

e) Staff policies applied during the financial year relating to the employment of disabled persons 

The Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Policy sets out the aims of NHS Lanarkshire to:  
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Equality 
Act 2010 and less favourable treatment of other categories of worker as set out within other relevant legislation;  

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic (i.e. age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex or 
sexual orientation) and those who do not; Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not; and  

 Ensure that the organisation has due regard for the European Convention of Human Rights (ECHR) in the 
discharge of its function.  

 

f) Trade Union facility time 

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 came into force on 1 April 2017. The 
regulations place a legislative requirement on relevant public sector employers to collate and publish, on an annual 
basis, a range of data on the amount and cost of facility time within their organisation. The data is required to be 
published on a website maintained by or on behalf of the employer before 31st July each year. We intend to publish 
this data at the following link: https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/about-us/trade-union-facility-time. 
 
g) Exit packages 

 
There were no exit packages agreed in the current year.  

 

Summary data on the use of exit packages agreed in prior year.  

Exit Packages   2021 

Exit Package cost band Number of 
Compulsory 

Number of other 
departures 

agreed 

Total number of exit 
packages by cost 

band 

< £10,000 0 0 0 

£10,000 - £25,000 0 0 0 

£25,000 - £50,000 0 0 0 

£50,000 - £100,000 0 1 1 

£100,000 - £150,000 0 0 0 

>£200,000 0 0 0 

Total number of exit Packages by 
type 

0 1 1 

Total Resource Cost (£’000) 0 85 85 

 
 

https://www.nhslanarkshire.scot.nhs.uk/about-us/trade-union-facility-time
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PARLIAMENTARY ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT 
 
Losses and Special Payments 
 
On occasion, the Board is required to write off balances which are no longer recoverable. 
Losses and special payments over £300,000 require formal approval to regularise such transactions and their 
notation in the annual accounts. 
 
The write-off of the following losses and special payments has been approved by the Board: 

 No. Of 
Cases £000 

Losses 174 16,546 

 
In the year to 31 March 2022, the following balances in excess of £300,000 were written off: 

Reference Description 2022 
£000 

CNORIS  
Total claims paid under CNORIS scheme 

 
12,766 

 
In 2021/22 the Board was required to pay out £12.766m in respect of 6 claims individually greater than £300,000 
settled under the CNORIS scheme (2020/21: £1.675m, 5 cases). Further details on the scheme can be found in 
Note 1 (accounting policies) of the annual accounts. 
 
The Board is also required to provide for CNORIS claims notified to it and which will be settled at a future date; 
details of these provisions can be found in note 13. 
 
Fees and Charges 
 
As required in the fees and charges guidance in the Scottish Public Finance Manual, NHS Lanarkshire charges 
for services provided on a full cost basis, wherever applicable. 
 
NHS Lanarkshire is required to disclose any services it provides where the full annual cost is £1 million or more, 
and the full cost of the services are material to the financial statements. 
 
Salus is an NHS Lanarkshire based provider of Occupational Health, Safety and Return to Work services across 
the public and private sectors. The financial objective of Salus is to generate income which supports NHS patient 
care and economic growth. The full cost of providing these services to non-NHS bodies in 2021/22 was £9.0m. The 
income received for providing these services was £10.7m resulting in a surplus of £1.7m. 
 

 

 

 

 

Signed         Date 29 June 2022 

Chief Executive   
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Lanarkshire Health Board, the Auditor 
General for Scotland and the Scottish Parliament 

Reporting on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion on financial statements 

I have audited the financial statements in the annual report and accounts of Lanarkshire Health Board and its group 
for the year ended 31 March 2022 under the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978. The financial statements 
comprise the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position, the Consolidated Statement of Cashflows, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity 
and notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and UK adopted international accounting standards, as 
interpreted and adapted by the 2021/22 Government Financial Reporting Manual (the 2021/22 FReM). 

In my opinion the accompanying financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view in accordance with the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 and directions 
made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers of the state of the affairs of the board and its group as at 31 
March 2022 and of the net expenditure for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards, as 
interpreted and adapted by the 2021/22 FReM; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 
1978 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers.  

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)), 
as required by the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General for Scotland. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section 
of my report. I was appointed by the Auditor General on 18 July 2016. The period of total uninterrupted appointment 
is 6 years. I am independent of the board and its group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to my audit of the financial statements in the UK including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and 
I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. Non-audit services prohibited 
by the Ethical Standard were not provided to the board. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern basis of accounting 

I have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements 
is appropriate. 

Based on the work I have performed, I have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions 
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the ability of the board and its group to continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. 

These conclusions are not intended to, nor do they, provide assurance on the board’s current or future financial 
sustainability. However, I report on the board’s arrangements for financial sustainability in a separate Annual Audit 
Report available from the Audit Scotland website. 

Risks of material misstatement 

I report in my Annual Audit Report the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement that I identified and 
my judgements thereon. 

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2016/code_audit_practice_16.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/our-work/annual-audits
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Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Chief Executive's Responsibilities as the Accountable Officer, the 
Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the financial reporting framework, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the ability of the board 
and its group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to discontinue the board’s operations. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. I design procedures in 
line with my responsibilities outlined above to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including 
fraud. Procedures include: 

 obtaining an understanding of the applicable legal and regulatory framework and how the board is 
complying with that framework; 

 identifying which laws and regulations are significant in the context of the board; 

 assessing the susceptibility of the financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud 
might occur; and 

 considering whether the audit team collectively has the appropriate competence and capabilities to 
identify or recognise non-compliance with laws and regulations. 

The extent to which my procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is affected by the inherent 
difficulty in detecting irregularities, the effectiveness of the board’s controls, and the nature, timing and extent of the 
audit procedures performed. 

Irregularities that result from fraud are inherently more difficult to detect than irregularities that result from error as 
fraud may involve collusion, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. The 
capability of the audit to detect fraud and other irregularities depends on factors such as the skilfulness of the 
perpetrator, the frequency and extent of manipulation, the degree of collusion involved, the relative size of individual 
amounts manipulated, and the seniority of those individuals involved. 

A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council's website www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of my 
auditor’s report. 

Reporting on regularity of expenditure and income 

Opinion on regularity 

In my opinion in all material respects the expenditure and income in the financial statements were incurred or 
applied in accordance with any applicable enactments and guidance issued by the Scottish Ministers. 

https://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Audit-and-Actuarial-Regulation/Audit-and-assurance/Standards-and-guidance/Standards-and-guidance-for-auditors/Auditors-responsibilities-for-audit/Description-of-auditors-responsibilities-for-audit.aspx
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Responsibilities for regularity 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. In addition to my 
responsibilities in respect of irregularities explained in the audit of the financial statements section of my report, I 
am responsible for expressing an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the Public 
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. 

Reporting on other requirements 

Opinion prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland on the audited part of the 
Remuneration and Staff Report 

I have audited the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report described as audited. In my opinion, the audited part 
of the Remuneration and Staff Report has been properly prepared in accordance with the National Health Service 
(Scotland) Act 1978 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers. 

Other information  

The Accountable Officer is responsible for other information in the annual report and accounts. The other 
information comprises the Performance Report and the Accountability Report excluding the audited part of the 
Remuneration and Staff Report.  

My responsibility is to read all the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If I identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, I am required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon except on the Performance Report and Governance Statement to the extent explicitly 
stated in the following opinions prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland. 

Opinions prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland on the Performance Report and 
Governance Statement 

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

 the information given in the Performance Report for the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been prepared in accordance 
with the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish 
Ministers; and 

 the information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been prepared in accordance 
with the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish 
Ministers. 

Matters on which I am required to report by exception 

I am required by the Auditor General for Scotland to report to you if, in my opinion: 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept; or 

 the financial statements and the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report are not in agreement 
with the accounting records; or 

 I have not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit; or 

 there has been a failure to achieve a prescribed financial objective. 

I have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 
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Conclusions on wider scope responsibilities 

In addition to my responsibilities for the annual report and accounts, my conclusions on the wider scope 
responsibilities specified in the Code of Audit Practice are set out in my Annual Audit Report. 

Use of my report 

This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with the Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no other purpose. In accordance with paragraph 120 of the Code of Audit 
Practice, I do not undertake to have responsibilities to members or officers, in their individual capacities, or to third 
parties. 

 

 

Fiona Mitchell-Knight FCA 
Audit Director 
Audit Scotland  
4th Floor, South Suite  
The Athenaeum Building  
8 Nelson Mandela Place  
Glasgow  
G2 1BT 

29 June 2022 
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SECTION C: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

      
2021     2022 

£000                                                                                                        Note £000 

      
675,072  Staff costs 3a 705,412 

  Other operating expenditure 3b  

207,399   Independent Primary Care Services   215,002 

272,892   Drugs and medical supplies  290,853 

1,508,789   Other health care expenditure  1,597,407 

2,664,152  Gross expenditure for the year  2,808,674 

    
 

 

(978,540)  Less: operating income 4 (1,046,570) 

(33,781)  Associates and joint ventures accounted for on an equity basis  (57,296) 

      

1,651,831  Net expenditure for the year  1,704,808 

      
 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE 
 

2021     2022 

£000     £000 

     
4,808  Net (gain) / loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  (34,337) 

0  Net (gain) / loss on revaluation of intangibles  0 

0  Net (gain) / loss on revaluation of available for sales financial assets  0 

4,808  Other comprehensive expenditure  (34,337) 

      

1,656,639  Comprehensive net expenditure  1,670,471 

      
The Notes to the Accounts, numbered 1 to 26, form an integral part of these Accounts. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

       

Consolidated Board    Consolidated Board 
2021 2021    2022 2022 
£000 £000                                                                                                                  Note £000 £000 

    
 

  
541,891 541,891  Property, plant and equipment 7c 576,582 576,582 

2,189 2,189  Intangible assets 6a 1,750 1,750 

   Financial assets:    

6,399 1,151     Investments 10 6,703 1,133 
45,076 0     Investments in associates and joint ventures  102,372 0 
49,872 49,872     Trade and other receivables 9 58,875 58,875 

645,427 595,103  Total non-current assets  746,282 638,340 

       
   Current Assets:    

7,618 7,618  Inventories 8 7,368 7,368 
0 0  Intangible assets 6b 0 0 
   Financial assets:    

31,070 30,987    Trade and other receivables 9 44,611 44,594 
4,374 3,846     Cash and cash equivalents 11 14,305 13,878 

0 0  Available for sale financial assets 10 0 0 
0 0  Derivatives financial assets 23 0 0 

585 585  Assets classified as held for sale 7b 68 68 

43,647 43,036  Total current assets  66,352 65,908 

       

689,074 638,139  Total assets  812,634 704,248 

       
   Current liabilities    

(26,942) (26,942)  Provisions 13a           (31,190) (31,190) 

   Financial liabilities: 
 

  
(320,043) (320,002)     Trade and other payables 12        (440,873) (440,712) 

0 0  Derivatives financial liabilities 23 0 0 

(346,985) (346,944)  Total current liabilities  (472,063) (471,902) 

       

342,089 291,195  

Non-current assets plus / less net current 
assets / liabilities  340,571 232,346 

       
   Non-current liabilities    

(120,323) (120,323)  Provisions 13a (137,618) (137,618) 

   Financial liabilities: 
 

  
(124,334) (124,334)     Trade and other payables 12 (115,642) (115,642) 

0 0  Liabilities in associates and joint ventures  0 0 

(244,657) (244,657)  Total non-current liabilities  (253,260) 
             

(253,260) 

       

97,432 46,538  Assets less liabilities  87,311 (20,914) 

       
   Taxpayers' Equity    

(128,783) (128,783)  General fund SoCTE (224,804) (224,804) 
175,321 175,321  Revaluation reserve SoCTE 203,890 203,890 
45,076 0  Other reserves – associates and joint ventures SoCTE 102,372 0 
5,818 0  Fund held on Trust SoCTE 5,853 0 

97,432 46,538  Total taxpayers' equity  87,311 (20,914) 

       

The Notes to the Accounts, numbered 1 to 26, form an integral part of these Accounts. 
 
The financial statements on pages 46 to 50 were approved by the Board on 29 June 2022 and signed on their behalf by 
 

  ………………………………..Director of Finance        

 

   

Laura Ace 
    

   ………………………………..Chief Executive       
   Heather Knox     
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
 

      
2021    2022 2022 
£000   Note £000 £000 

      
  Cash flows from operating activities    

    (1,651,831)  Net expenditure SoCTE       (1,704,808)  

(7,533)  Adjustments for non-cash transactions 2b (27,597)  

13,986  Add back: interest payable recognised in net operating expenditure 2c 13,395  

(143)  Deduct: interest receivable recognised in net operating expenditure 4 (163)  

0  Investment income  0  

105,466  Movements in working capital 2d 107,278  

(1,540,055)  Net cash outflow from operating activities 26c             (1,611,895) 

      
  Cash flows from investing activities    

(25,406)  Purchase of property, plant and equipment 
 

(28,238)  

(315)  Purchase of intangible assets 
 

(258)  

(1,002)  Investment additions 10 (322)  

360  Transfer of assets (to)/from other NHS Scotland bodies  0  

3,720  Proceeds of disposal of property, plant and equipment  784  

0  Proceeds of disposal of intangible assets  0  

0  Receipts from sale of investments  0  

143  Interest received  163  

(22,500)  Net cash outflow from investing activities 26c 

 (27,871) 

      
  Cash flows from financing activities    

1,590,579  Funding SoCTE  1,660,505  

(4,765)  Movement in general fund working capital SoCTE  10,032  

1,585,814  Cash drawn down 
 

1,670,537  

(14,040) 

 

Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on-
balance sheet PFI/HUB contracts 

2b (7,445) 
 

986  Interest paid 
 

122  

(14,972)  

Interest element of finance leases and on-balance sheet PFI/HUB 
contracts 

2c 

(13,517)  

1,557,788  Net Financing 26c  1,649,697 

      

(4,767)  

Net Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the 
period   9,931 

9,141  Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period   4,374 

4,374  Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period   14,305 

      
  Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt/cash    

(4,767)  Increase / (decrease) in cash in year 11 

 9,931 

9,141  Net debt / cash at 1 April 
 

 4,374 

4,374  Net debt / cash at 31 March 
 

 14,305 
      
 
 
The Notes to the Accounts, numbered 1 to 26, form an integral part of these Accounts. 

  

file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/9FADC23F.xlsx%23SOCTE!C27
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/9FADC23F.xlsx%23RANGE!E47
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/9FADC23F.xlsx%23RANGE!G23
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/9FADC23F.xlsx%23RANGE!M21
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/9FADC23F.xlsx%23RANGE!F22
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/9FADC23F.xlsx%23RANGE!M32
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/9FADC23F.xlsx%23SOCTE!H31
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/9FADC23F.xlsx%23SOCTE!C32
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/9FADC23F.xlsx%23RANGE!F77
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/9FADC23F.xlsx%23RANGE!E43
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/9FADC23F.xlsx%23RANGE!M41
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/9FADC23F.xlsx%23RANGE!C14


NHS LANARKSHIRE 
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

 51  

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS’ EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

  

General 
Fund 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Other 
reserve - 

associates 
and joint 
ventures 

Funds Held on 
Trust 

Total 
Reserves 

 Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
       

Balance at 31 March 2021  (128,783) 175,321 45,076 5,818 97,432 
Retrospective restatements for changes in 
accounting policy and material errors 

21 

0 0 0 0 0 

Restated balance at 1 April 2021  (128,783) 175,321 45,076 5,818 97,432 

       

Changes in taxpayers' equity for 2021-22       
Net gain / (loss) on revaluation / indexation of 
property, plant and equipment 

7a 

0 35,646 0 0 35,646 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  0 (9,306) 0 0 (9,306) 
Revaluation and impairments taken to 
operating costs 

2a 

0 7,997 0 0 7,997 

Transfers between reserves  5,768 (5,768) 0 0 0 

Removal of Hospice Employee Bonus  (155) 0 0 0 (155) 

Net operating cost for the year 
 

(1,762,139) 0 57,296 35 (1,704,808) 

Total recognised income and expense for 
2021-22  (1,756,526) 28,569 57,296 35 (1,670,626) 

       
Funding:       

Drawn down 
 

1,670,537 0 0 0 1,670,537 

Movement in General Fund (creditor) / debtor 
 

(10,032) 0 0 0 (10,032) 

Balance at 31 March 2022 SoFP (224,804) 203,890 102,372 5,853 87,311 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS’ EQUITY – PRIOR YEAR 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 

  

General 
Fund 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Other 
reserve - 

associates 
and joint 
ventures 

Funds Held on 
Trust 

Total 
Reserves 

 Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
       

Balance at 31 March 2020  (35,929) 186,239 11,295 4,763 166,368 
Retrospective restatements for changes in 
accounting policy and material errors 

21 

0 0 0 0 0 

Restated balance at 1 April 2020  (35,929) 186,239 11,295 4,763 166,368 

       

Changes in taxpayers' equity for 2020-21       
Net gain / (loss) on revaluation / indexation of 
property, plant and equipment 

7a 

0 13,626 0 0 13,626 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  0 (27,183) 0 0 (27,183) 
Revaluation and impairments taken to 
operating costs 

2a 

0 8,749 0 0 8,749 

Transfers between reserves  6,110 (6,110) 0 0 0 
Transfer of Assets from other NHS and 
removal of Hospice Sustainability Fees  (2,876) 0 0 0 (2,876) 

Net operating cost for the year 
 

(1,686,667) 0 33,781 1,055 (1,651,831) 

Total recognised income and expense for 
2020-21  (1,683,433) (10,918) 33,781 1,055 (1,659,515) 

       
Funding:       

Drawn down 
 

1,585,814 0 0 0 1,585,814 

Movement in General Fund (creditor) / debtor 
 

4,765 0 0 0 4,765 

Balance at 31 March 2021 SoFP (128,783) 175,321 45,076 5,818 97,432 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 
1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
 1. Authority 
  

In accordance with the accounts direction issued by Scottish Ministers under section 19(4) of the Public 
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 appended, these Accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury, which 
follows International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted 
by the EU), IFRIC Interpretations and the Companies Act 2006 to the extent that they are meaningful and 
appropriate to the public sector. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the accounts.  

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in section 30 below. 
 
(a) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2021/22 

 
There are no new standards, amendments or interpretations early adopted this year. 

 
(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations early adopted in 2021/22 

 
There are no new standards, amendments or interpretations early adopted this year. 

 
(c) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not adopted in 2021/22 
 

 IFRS 16 - Leases 
 

 IFRS 16 Leases supersedes IAS 17 Leases and is being applied by HM Treasury in the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) from 1 April 2022. IFRS 16 introduces a single lessee accounting 
model that results in a more faithful representation of a lessee’s assets and liabilities, and provides 
enhanced disclosures to improve transparency of reporting on capital employed.  
 
Under IFRS 16, lessees are required to recognise assets and liabilities for leases with a term of more than 
12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. While no standard definition of ‘low value’ has been 
mandated, NHS Scotland have elected to utilise the capitalisation threshold of £5,000 to determine the 
assets to be disclosed. NHS Lanarkshire expects that its existing finance leases will continue to be 
classified as leases. All existing operating leases will fall within the scope of IFRS 16 under the 
‘grandfathering’ rules mandated in the FReM for the initial transition to IFRS 16. In future years new 
contracts and contract renegotiations will be reviewed for consideration under IFRS 16 as implicitly 
identified right-of-use assets. Assets recognised under IFRS 16 will be held on the Statement of Financial 
Position as (i) right of-use assets which represent the Board’s right to use the underlying leased assets; 
and (ii) lease liabilities which represent the obligation to make lease payments. 
 
The bringing of leased assets onto the Statement of Financial Position will require depreciation and interest 
to be charged on the right-of-use asset and lease liability, respectively. Cash repayments will also be 
recognised in the Statement of Cash Flows, as required by IAS 7.  
 
Impact of the new standard 
 
The Board has assessed the impact that the application of IFRS 16 will have on the comprehensive net 
expenditure for the financial year ending 31 March 2023 and on the Statement of Financial Position at that 
date. The figures below represent existing leases as at 31 March 2022. 
 
The standard is expected to increase total expenditure in 2022-23 by £5.044m. Right-of-use assets totalling 
£19.016m will be brought onto the Statement of Financial Position, with an associated lease liability of 
£19.016m. 
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  2022 

  £000  

IFRS 16 – Impacts to the SoCNE    
Anticipated depreciation  2,040 

Interest expense expected  149 

IAS 17- basis lease payments expected  (2,427) 

Net impact to SoCNE in the year to 31 March 2023  (238) 

    

   

  2022 

  £000  

IFRS 16 – Impacts to the SoFP   
Right of use asset from 1 April 2022  13,972 
Net additions/(disposals) to right-of-use asset as at 31 March 
2023  5,044 

Net impact to SoFP in the year to 31 March 2023  19,016 

   

   
Existing IAS 17 operating leases brought on at 1 April 2022  13,972 

Re-measurements to finance leases brought on at 1 April 2022  0 

Net additions/(disposals) to lease liability as at 31 March 2023  5,044 

Net liability as at 31 March 2023  19,016 

 
 
 
2. Basis of Consolidation 
 

Consolidation 
 
In accordance with IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements, the Financial Statements consolidate 
the Lanarkshire Health Board Endowment Fund.  
 
NHS Endowment Funds were established by the NHS (Scotland) Act 1978. The legal framework under 
which charities operate in Scotland is the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. Under the 
1978 Act Endowment Trustees are also members of the NHS Board. The Board members (who are also 
Trustees) are appointed by Scottish Ministers. 
 
The Lanarkshire Health Board Endowment Fund is a Registered Charity with the Office of the Charity 
Regulator of Scotland (OSCR) and is required to prepare and submit Audited Financial Statements to 
OSCR on an annual basis. 
 
The basis of consolidation used is Merger Accounting. Any intragroup transactions between the Board and 
the Endowment Fund have been eliminated on consolidation.  
 
The integration of health and social care services under the terms of the Public Bodies (Joint Working) 
(Scotland) Act 2014 and associated secondary legislation impacts on Health Board disclosure requirements 
in the annual accounts. 
 
In accordance with IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Arrangements, the primary financial 
statements have been amended for the additional disclosure required to accurately reflect the interest of 
the IJBs using the equity method of accounting.  
 
Note 26 to the Annual Accounts, details how these consolidated Financial Statements have been 
calculated. 

 
3. Retrospective Restatements 

 
None. 
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4. Going Concern  

 
The accounts are prepared on the going concern basis, which provides that the entity will continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
 

5. Accounting Convention 
  
 The Accounts are prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified by the revaluation of property, plant and 

equipment, intangible assets, inventories, available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets and 
liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value. 

 
6. Funding 
  
 Most of the expenditure of the Health Board as Commissioner is met from funds advanced by the Scottish 

Government within an approved revenue resource limit. Cash drawn down to fund expenditure within this 
approved revenue resource limit is credited to the general fund. 

 
 All other income receivable by the board that is not classed as funding is recognised in the year in which it 

is receivable.  
 
 Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in the following financial year, that 

income is deferred. 
 
 Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have 

been met, and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract. 
 
 Non-discretionary funding out with the RRL is allocated to match actual expenditure incurred for the 

provision of specific pharmaceutical, dental or ophthalmic services identified by the Scottish Government. 
Non-discretionary expenditure is disclosed in the accounts and deducted from operating costs charged 
against the RRL in the Statement of Resource Outturn. 

 
 Funding for the acquisition of capital assets received from the Scottish Government is credited to the 

general fund when cash is drawn down. 
 
 Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, 

and is measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Net Expenditure except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as 
property, plant and equipment. 

 
7. Property, plant and equipment 
  
 The treatment of capital assets in the accounts (capitalisation, valuation, depreciation, particulars 

concerning donated assets) is in accordance with the NHS Capital Accounting Manual. 
 
 Title to properties included in the accounts is held by Scottish Ministers. 
 

7.1 Recognition 
 

Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where: it is held for use in delivering services or for 
administrative purposes; it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be 
provided to, the Board; it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably. 
 
All assets falling into the following categories are capitalised: 
 
1) Property, plant and equipment assets which are capable of being used for a period which could 

exceed one year, and have a cost equal to or greater than £5,000. 
 

2) In cases where a new hospital would face an exceptional write off of items of equipment costing 
individually less than £5,000, the Board has the option to capitalise initial revenue equipment costs 
with a standard life of 10 years. 
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3) In line with 2.7.1 of the Capital Accounting Manual, assets of lesser value may be capitalised where 

they form part of a group of similar assets purchased at approximately the same time and cost over 
£20,000 in total, or where they are part of the initial costs of equipping a new development and total 
over £20,000. 

 
7.2 Measurement 

  
Valuation 
 
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly 
attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for 
it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  
 
All assets that are not held for their service potential (i.e. investment properties and assets held for sale), 
including operational assets which are surplus to requirements where there are no restrictions on disposal 
which would prevent access to the market, are measured subsequently at fair value as follows:  
 
Specialised NHS Land, buildings, equipment, installations and fittings are stated at depreciated 
replacement cost, as a proxy for fair value as specified in the FReM.  
 
Non-specialised land and buildings, such as offices, are stated at fair value.  
 
Valuations of all land and building assets are reassessed by valuers under an annual programme of 
professional valuations. The valuations are carried out in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual insofar as these terms are consistent with the agreed 
requirements of the Scottish Government.  
 
Non specialised equipment, installations and fittings are valued at fair value. Boards value such assets 
using the most appropriate valuation methodology available (for example, appropriate indices). A 
depreciated historical cost basis as a proxy for fair value in respect of such assets which have short useful 
lives or low values (or both).  
 
Assets under construction are valued at current cost. This is calculated by the expenditure incurred to which 
an appropriate index is applied to arrive at current value. These are also subject to impairment review.  
 
To meet the underlying objectives established by the Scottish Government the following accepted variations 
of the RICS Appraisal and Valuation Manual have been required:  
 
Specialised operational assets are valued on a modified replacement cost basis to take account of modern 
substitute building materials and locality factors only.  
 
Operational assets which are in use delivering front line services or back office functions, and surplus assets 
with restrictions on their disposal, are valued at current value in existing use. Assets have been assessed 
as surplus where there is no clear plan to bring the asset back into future use as an operational asset.  
 
Subsequent expenditure 
 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised into an asset’s carrying value when it is probable the future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Board and the cost can be measured reliably. Where 
subsequent expenditure does not meet these criteria, the expenditure is charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure. If part of an asset is replaced, then the part it replaces is de-recognised, 
regardless of whether or not it has been depreciated separately. 
 
Revaluations and Impairment 
 
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, 
and to the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, in which case they are recognised as income. Movements on revaluation 
are considered for individual assets rather than groups or land/buildings together. 
 
Permanent decreases in asset values and impairments are charged gross to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure. Any related balance on the revaluation reserve is transferred to the 
General Fund. 

Gains and losses on revaluation are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. 
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Temporary decreases in asset values or impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent 
that there is an available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure. 
   
7.3 Depreciation 

 
Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are depreciated to their estimated residual value over their 
remaining useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service 
delivery benefits. 
 
Depreciation is charged on each main class of tangible asset as follows: 

 
1) Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated. 

2)  Assets in the course of construction and residual interests in off-balance sheet PFI contract assets 
are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use or reverts to the Board, respectively. 

 
3) Property, Plant and Equipment which has been reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ ceases to be 

depreciated upon the reclassification.  
 
4)  Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on current value over the estimated remaining life 

of the asset, as advised by the appointed valuer.  They are assessed in the context of the maximum 
useful lives for building elements. 

 
5)  Equipment is depreciated over the estimated life of the asset.  
 
6) Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the 

lease term and the estimated useful life. 
 
Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis. 
 
The following asset lives have been used: 
 
Asset Category/Component      Useful Life 
Buildings Structure          55 - 80 
Buildings Engineering          30 - 35 
Buildings External Plant           25 - 30 
Office, short life medical and IT           3 - 5 
Vehicles and soft furnishings           5 - 7 
Mainframe IT Installations            5 - 8 
Furniture and medium life medical           5 - 10 
Engineering plant and long life medical        12 - 15 
  

8. Intangible Assets 
 

8.1 Recognition 
 
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold 
separately from the rest of the Board’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They 
are recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be 
provided to, the Board and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.  
 
Intangible assets that meet the recognition criteria are capitalised when they are capable of being used in 
a Board’s activities for more than one year and they have a cost of at least £5,000. 
 
The main classes of intangible assets recognised are: 
 

 Software 
  

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of 
the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of 
hardware e.g. application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. 
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 Software licences 

 
Purchased computer software licences are capitalised as intangible fixed assets where expenditure of at 
least £5,000 is incurred.  

 
8.2 Measurement 

 
Valuation 
 
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, 
produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. 
 
Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. Where an active (homogeneous) market exists, 
intangible assets are carried at fair value. Where no active market exists, the intangible asset is revalued, 
using indices or some suitable model, to the lower of depreciated replacement cost and value in use where 
the asset is income generating. Where there is no value in use, the intangible asset is valued using 
depreciated replacement cost. These measures are a proxy for fair value. 

 
Revaluation and Impairment 
 
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, 
and to the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, in which case they are recognised in income.  
 
Permanent decreases in asset values and impairments are charged gross to Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure. Any related balance on the revaluation reserve is transferred to the General Fund. 
 
Temporary decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent 
that there is an available balance for the asset concerned and are thereafter charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net expenditure. 
 
Intangible assets held for sale are reclassified to ‘non-current assets held for sale’ measured at the lower 
of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’. 
 
Operational assets which are in use delivering front line services or back office functions, and surplus 
assets with restrictions on their disposal, are valued at current value in existing use. Assets have been 
assessed as surplus where there is no clear plan to bring the asset back into future use as an operational 
asset. 

 
 8.3 Amortisation 
 

Intangible assets are amortised to their estimated residual value over their remaining useful economic lives 
in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. 
 
Amortisation is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure on each main class of 
intangible asset as follows: 

 
1) Internally generated intangible assets are amortised on a systematic basis over the period expected 

to benefit from the project. 
 
2)  Software is amortised over their expected useful life. 
 
3) Software licences are amortised over the shorter term of the licence and their useful economic lives. 

4)  Other intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful life. 
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5) Intangible assets which have been reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ ceases to be amortised upon the 

reclassification.  
 

Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis. 
 

The following asset lives have been used: 
 

Asset Category/Component     Useful Life 
     

Software Licences                5                         
Information Technology Software                   5 
 
 

9. Non-current assets held for sale 
 
Non-current assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria 
are met: 
 

 the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual 
and customary for such sales; 

 the sale must be highly probable i.e.: 
 management are committed to a plan to sell the asset; 
 an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale; 
 the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price; 
 the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘Held for 

Sale’; and 
 the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped, or 

significant changes made to it. 
 

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their 
‘fair value less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except 
where the ‘fair value less costs to sell’ falls below the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all 
material sale contract conditions have been met. 

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as 
‘Held for Sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s economic life is adjusted. 
The asset is de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs. 

 
10. Donated Assets 
 

 Non-current assets that are donated or purchased using donated funds are included in the Balance Sheet 
initially at the current full replacement cost of the asset. The accounting treatment, including the method of 
valuation, follows the rules in the NHS Capital Accounting Manual.  

 
11. Sale of Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and non-current assets held for sale 
  
 Disposal of non-current assets is accounted for as a reduction to the value of assets equal to the net book 

value of the assets disposed. When set against any sales proceeds, the resulting gain or loss on disposal 
will be recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. Non-current assets held for sale will 
include assets transferred from other categories and will reflect any resultant changes in valuation. 

 
12. Leasing 
 
 Finance leases 
  
 Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the Board, the asset 

is recorded as Property, Plant and Equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. Assets held under 
finance leases are valued at their fair values and are depreciated over the remaining period of the lease in 
accordance with IFRS. 
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 The asset and liability are recognised at the inception of the lease, and are de-recognised when the liability 

is discharged, cancelled or expires. The minimum lease payments (annual rental less operating costs e.g. 
maintenance and contingent rental) are apportioned between the repayment of the outstanding liability and 
a finance charge. The annual finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability using either the implicit 
interest rate or another relevant basis of estimation such as the sum of the digits method. Finance charges 
are recorded as interest payable in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. Contingent rental 
and operating costs are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 

 
 Operating leases 
  
 Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to expenditure on a straight-

line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease rentals 
and charged to expenditure over the life of the lease. 

 
 Leases of land and buildings 
  
 Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and 

the classification for each is assessed separately. Leased land is treated as an operating lease unless title 
to the land is expected to transfer. 
 
NHS Lanarkshire does not lease any assets to third parties. 
 

13. Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Where an asset 
is not held for the purpose of generating cash flows, value in use is assumed to equal the cost of replacing 
the service potential provided by the asset, unless there has been a reduction in service potential. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffer an impairment are reviewed 
for possible reversal of the impairment. Impairment losses charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure are deducted from future operating costs to the extent that they are identified as being 
reversed in subsequent revaluations. 
 

14. General Fund Receivables and Payables 
 

Where the Health Board has a positive net cash book balance at the year end, a corresponding creditor is 
created and the general fund debited with the same amount to indicate that this cash is repayable to the 
SGHSCD. Where the Health Board has a net overdrawn cash position at the year end, a corresponding 
debtor is created and the general fund credited with the same amount to indicate that additional cash is to 
be drawn down from the SGHSCD. 

 
15. Inventories 
  
 Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Taking into account the high turnover 

of NHS inventories, the use of average purchase price is deemed to represent current cost. Work in 
progress is valued at the cost of the direct materials plus the conversion costs and other costs incurred to 
bring the goods up to their present location, condition and degree of completion.  

 
16. Losses and Special Payments 
  
 Operating expenditure includes certain losses which would have been made good through insurance cover 

had the NHS not been bearing its own risks. Had the NHS provided insurance cover, the insurance 
premiums would have been included as normal revenue expenditure. 
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17. Employee Benefits 
 
 Short-term Employee Benefits 

 
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the year in which the service is 
received from employees.  The cost of annual leave and flexible working time entitlement earned but not 
taken by employees at the end of the year is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that 
employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following year. 

 
 Pension Costs 
  

The Board participates in the NHS Superannuation Scheme for Scotland providing defined benefits based 
on final pensionable pay, where contributions are credited to the Exchequer and are deemed to be invested 
in a portfolio of Government Securities. The Board is unable to identify its share of the underlying notional 
assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore accounts for the 
scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme, as required by IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’. As a result, 
the amount charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure represents the Board’s employer 
contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the year. The contributions deducted from employees are 
reflected in the gross salaries charged and are similarly remitted to Exchequer. The most recent actuarial 
valuation is published by the Scottish Public Pensions Agency and is available on their website. 

  
 Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the 

retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure at the time the Board commits itself to the retirement, 
regardless of the method of payment. 

 
18. Clinical and Medical Negligence Costs 
  
 Employing health bodies in Scotland are responsible for meeting medical negligence costs up to a threshold 

per claim. Costs above this limit are reimbursed to Boards from a central fund held as part of the Clinical 
Negligence and Other Risks Indemnity Scheme (CNORIS) by the Scottish Government. 

 
NHS Lanarkshire provide for all claims notified to the NHS Central Legal Office according to the value of 
the claim and the probability of settlement.  Claims assessed as ‘Category 3’ are deemed most likely and 
provided for in full, those in ‘Category 2’ as 50% of the claim and those in ‘category 1’ as nil.  The balance 
of the value of claims not provided for is disclosed as a contingent liability.  This procedure is intended to 
estimate the amount considered to be the liability in respect of any claims outstanding and which will be 
recoverable from the Clinical Negligence and Other Risks Indemnity Scheme in the event of payment by 
an individual health body.  The corresponding recovery in respect of amounts provided for is recorded as 
a debtor and that in respect of amounts disclosed as contingent liabilities are disclosed as contingent 
assets. 
 
NHS Lanarkshire also provides for its liability from participating in the scheme. The participation in CNORIS 
provision recognises the Board’s respective share of the total liability of NHS Scotland as advised by the 
Scottish Government and based on the information prepared by NHS Boards and Central Legal Office. The 
movement in the provisions between financial years is matched by a corresponding adjustment in AME 
provision and is classified as non-core expenditure. 

 
19. Related Party Transactions 
  
 Material related party transactions are disclosed in the note 24 in line with the requirements of IAS 24. 

Transactions with other NHS bodies for the commissioning of health care are summarised in Note 3. 
 
20. Value Added Tax 

 
Most of the activities of the Board are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply 
and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure 
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of non-current assets. Where output tax is charged 
or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

 
21. PFI/HUB/NPD Schemes 
 

Transactions financed as revenue transactions through the Private Finance initiative or alternative 
initiatives such as HUB or Non-Profit Distributing Model (NPD) are accounted for in accordance with the 
HM Treasury application of IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements, outlined in the FReM. 
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Schemes which do not fall within the application of IFRIC 12 are deemed to be off-balance sheet. Where 
the Board has contributed assets, a prepayment for their fair value is recognised and amortised over the 
life of the PFI contract by charge to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. Where, at the end 
of the PFI contract, a property reverts to the Board, the difference between the expected fair value of the 
residual on reversion and any agreed payment on reversion is built up on the balance sheet over the life of 
the contract by capitalising part of the unitary charge each year. 
 

 Transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM Treasury’s 
FReM, are accounted for as ‘on-balance sheet’ by the Board. The underlying assets are recognised as 
Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets at their fair value. An equivalent liability is recognised 
in accordance with IAS 17. Where it is not possible to separate the finance element from the service 
element of unitary payment streams this has been estimated from information provided by the operator and 
the fair values of the underlying assets. Assets are subsequently revalued in accordance with the treatment 
specified for their applicable asset categories. 

 The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance cost and 
the charges for services. The finance cost is calculated using the implicit interest rate for the scheme. 

The service charge and the finance cost interest element are charged in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure. 

 
22. Provisions  
  
 The Board provides for legal or constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount at the balance 

sheet date on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation.  
 
 Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated cash flows are discounted using 

the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury.  
 
23. Contingencies 
  
 Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one 

or more future events not wholly within the Board’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are disclosed 
in note 14 where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

 
 Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 14, unless the probability of a transfer of 

economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as: 
 

 Possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence 
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or 

 Present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic 
benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 

 
24. Corresponding Amounts 

 
Corresponding amounts are shown for the primary statements and notes to the financial statements. Where 
the corresponding amounts are not directly comparable with the amount to be shown in respect of the 
current financial year, IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’, requires that they should be adjusted 
and the basis for adjustment disclosed in a note to the financial statements. 

 
25. Financial Instruments 
 

Financial assets 
 
Business model  
The Board’s business model refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows 
and is determined at a level which reflects how groups of financial assets are managed to achieve a 
business objective, rather than assessment of individual instruments.  
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Classification  
When the Board first recognises a financial asset, it classifies it based on its business model for managing 
the asset and the asset’s contractual flow characteristics. The Board classifies its financial assets in the 
following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, amortised cost, and fair value through other 
comprehensive income. The default basis for financial assets is to be held at fair value through profit or 
loss, although alternative treatment may be designated where receivables are held to collect principal and 
interest and/or for sale.  
 
(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  

This is the default basis for financial assets.  
 
(b) Financial assets held at amortised cost  
 
A financial asset may be held at amortised cost where both of the following conditions are met:  

i. the financial asset is held within a business model where the objective is to collect contractual 
cash flows; and  

ii. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and related interest.  

 
(c) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  
 
A financial asset may be held at fair value through other comprehensive income where both of the following 
conditions are met:  

i. the financial asset is held within a business model where the objective is to collect contractual 
cash flows and sell the asset; and  

 
ii. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and related interest.  

 
Impairment of financial assets  
Provisions for impairment of financial assets are made on the basis of expected credit losses. The Board 
recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets and this is recognised in other 
comprehensive income, rather than reducing the carrying amount of the asset in the Statement of Financial 
Position.  
 
Lifetime expected credit losses are recognised and applied to financial assets by the Board where there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk since the asset’s initial recognition. Where the Board does not 
hold reasonable and supportable information to measure lifetime expected credit losses on an individual 
instrument basis, the losses are recognised on a collective basis which considers comprehensive credit 
risk information. 
  
Recognition and measurement  
Financial assets are recognised when the Board becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instrument.  
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or 
have been transferred and the Board has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.  
 
(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  
 
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and 
transaction costs are expensed in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.  
 
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains 
or losses arising from changes in the fair value are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure.  
 
(b) Financial assets held at amortised cost  
 
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. This is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of the asset.  
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(c) Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income  
 
Financial Liabilities  
 
Classification  
The Board classifies its financial liabilities in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, and 
amortised cost. The Board classifies all financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost, unless:  

i. these are measured at fair value on a portfolio basis in accordance with a documented risk 
management or investment strategy;  

ii. they contain embedded derivatives; and/or  

iii. it eliminates or reduces ‘accounting mismatch’ that would otherwise arise from measurement 
or recognition on an amortised costs basis.  

 
(a) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise derivatives. Liabilities in this category are 
classified as current liabilities. The NHS Board does not trade in derivatives and does not apply hedge 
accounting.  
 
(b) Financial liabilities held at amortised cost  
 
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost are disclosed in current liabilities, except for maturities greater 
than 12 months after the Statement of Financial Position date. These are classified as non-current liabilities.  
 
The NHS Board’s financial liabilities held at amortised cost comprise trade and other payables in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Recognition and measurement  
Financial liabilities are recognised when the NHS Board becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 
financial instrument.  
 
A financial liability is removed from the Statement of Financial Position when it is extinguished, that is when 
the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired.  
 
(a) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  
 
Financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and 
transaction costs are expensed in the income statement.  
 
Financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains 
or losses arising from changes in the fair value are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure.  
 
(b) Amortised costs  
 
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 
26.  Segmental reporting 

 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 
operating segments. This has been identified as the senior management of the Board. 
 
Operating segments are unlikely to directly relate to the analysis of expenditure shown in notes 3. 
 
The segmental reporting within Note 5 reflects that reported to NHS Lanarkshire Board on a monthly basis.   
This reflects the financial position at each operating division level (Acute, North and South Integrated Joint 
Boards and Corporate) and incorporates additional activities relating to Primary Care wide functions and 
healthcare providers out with the Board area.  

 
 
 
 
 



NHS LANARKSHIRE 
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

 65  

 
27. Cash and cash equivalents 
  
 Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, cash balances held with 

the Government Banking Service, balance held in commercial banks and other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet. Where the Government Banking Service 
is using National Westminster Bank to provide the banking services, funds held in these accounts should 
not be classed as commercial bank balances. 

 
28. Foreign exchange 
  

The functional and presentation currencies of the Board are sterling. 
 
A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at the 
spot exchange rate on the date of the transaction. 
 
Where the Board has assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the balance sheet date: 

 Monetary items (other than financial instruments measured at ‘fair value through income and 
expenditure’) are translated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March; 

 Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost are translated using the spot exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction; and 

 Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange rate 
at the date the fair value was determined. 

 
 Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on settlement of the transaction or on re-translation 

at the balance sheet date) are recognised in income or expenditure in the period in which they arise. 
 
 Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the same manner as 

other gains and losses on these items. 
 
29. Third party assets 
 
 Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the 

accounts since the Board has no beneficial interest in them. 
   
 However, they are disclosed in Note 25 to the accounts in accordance with the requirements of HM 

Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual. 
 
30. Key sources of judgement and estimation uncertainty 
 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
The Board makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The Board makes judgements in applying 
accounting policies. The estimates, assumptions and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the financial statements within 
the next financial year are addressed below. 

 

 Estimates: Assumptions regarding estimated impairment are applied in line with policy 13 above.  
Further detail included at policy 13 including the circumstances under which impairment would occur. 
There were no significant impairments during the year. 

 Estimates: Assumptions underlying the likelihood and outcome of material provisions.   The Pension 
provision is based on expected life tables and provides cover for annual pension payments.  Other 
provisions consist of non-medical claims for damages and future development costs.  The non-medical 
claims provision is based on risk categories assessed by the Central Legal Office (CLO).  Settlement 
of these claims is dependent on legal factors and is normally more than one year after the claim is 
notified.  Future development costs provision is mainly ring fenced funding which is project driven with 
agreed spend plans which are reflected within the provision.  Clinical & Medical negligence claims are 
provided in line with policy 18 above. The main areas of uncertainty such as the timing, probability and 
value of the settlement; 

 Estimates: Actuarial assumptions in respect of post-employment benefits are applied in line with policy 
17 above. There were no significant early retirals in year; 

 Estimates: Assumptions regarding timing and frequency of lease payments are to be annually in 
advance;  
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 Estimation of asset lives: The Board’s methodology for determining useful asset lives reflects the actual 
pattern of consumption of depreciated replacement cost assets. The methodology takes account of the 
impact of regular maintenance expenditure to align the lives of certain elements with that of the overall 
building. This results in a smoother and more consistent depreciation charge over the life of the asset. 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 
    

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
    

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
     
 
2. MEMORANDA TO THE PRIMARY STATEMENTS   

   2022 2022 
  
2a. SUMMARY OF RESOURCE OUTTURN 
 
SUMMARY OF CORE REVENUE RESOURCE OUTTURN Note  £000 £000 

     

Net expenditure SoCNE    1,704,808 

Total non-core expenditure (see below)    (29,425) 
Family Health Services non-discretionary allocation    (97,339) 

Donated assets income 2b   0 

Endowment net expenditure    35 

Associates and joint ventures accounted for on an equity basis    57,296 

Total core expenditure    1,635,375 

Core Revenue Resource Limit    1,635,375 

Saving/(excess) against Core Revenue Resource Limit     0 

     

     

SUMMARY OF NON-CORE REVENUE RESOURCE OUTTURN     

Capital grants to / (from) other bodies    0  

Depreciation / amortisation  
 

15,259  

Annually Managed Expenditure – impairments  
 

8,000  

Annually Managed Expenditure - creation of provisions  
 

(379)  

Annually Managed Expenditure - depreciation of donated assets 2b 

 
42  

Annually Managed Expenditure - pension valuation  
 

0  

Additional Scottish Government non-core funding  
 

0  

IFRS PFI/HUB expenditure  
 

6,503  

Total Non-Core Expenditure     

Non-Core Revenue Resource Limit     29,425 

Saving / (excess) against Non-Core Revenue Resource Limit    29,425 

     

     

SUMMARY RESOURCE OUTTURN 
 

Resource Expenditure 
Saving/ 
(Excess) 

  £000 £000 £000 

Core  1,635,375 1,635,375 0 

Non-Core   29,425 29,425 0 

Total  1,664,800 1,664,800 0 

     
 

The Notes to the Accounts, numbered 1 to 26, form an integral part of these Accounts.  
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 
 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
 

 
2b. Memoranda to the Statement of Cashflows: Consolidated adjustments for non-cash 

transactions 
     

2021    2022 
£000   Note £000 

  Expenditure not paid in cash           
21,044  Depreciation 7a  21,364 

711  Amortisation 6 697 
42  Depreciation of donated assets 7a  42 

27,299  Impairments on PPE charged to SoCNE  11,816 
(18,434)  Net revaluation on PPE charged to SoCNE  (1,309) 

(76)  Reversal of impairments on PPE charged to SoCNE  (2,507) 
0  Impairments on intangible assets charged to SoCNE 6 0 
0  Net revaluation on intangible assets charged to SoCNE 6 0 

0  
Reversal of impairments on intangible assets charged to 
SoCNE 6 0 

(40)  
(Gain)/loss on re-measurement of non-current assets 
held for sale 7b (3) 

0  Funding of Donated Assets 7a 0 
0  Loss/(profit) on disposal of intangible assets  0 

(1,062)  
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property plant and 
equipment  (246) 

0  Impairment of investments charged to SoCNE 10 0 

(33,781)  

Associates and joint ventures accounted for on an 
equity basis SoCNE (57,296) 

(3,313)  Removal of Hospice Employee Bonus  (155) 

77  

Fixed Asset Transfers from other Scottish Heath Boards 
& Department of Health  0 

(7,533)  Total expenditure not paid in cash CFS  (27,597) 

 
 
   

 
 

2c. Memoranda to the Statement of Cashflows: Interest payable recognised in operating 
expenditure 

     
2021   

 2022 
£000    £000 

  Interest payable   
0  Interest on late payment of commercial debt  0 
0  Bank and other interest payable  0 

14,972  PFI/HUB Finance lease charges allocated in the year 18b 13,517 
0  Other Finance lease charges allocated in the year  0 

(986)  Provisions - Unwinding of discount  (122) 

13,986  Net interest payable CFS  13,395 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 
 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
 
2d. Memoranda to the Statement of Cashflows: Consolidated movements in working capital 
 
       

2021      2022 
Net   Note Opening Closing Net 

Movement    balances balances movement 
£000    £000 £000 £000 

  INVENTORIES     
485  Balance Sheet 8     7,618 7,368  

485  Net decrease / (increase)                                  250 

       
  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES     

11,679  Due within one year 9 31,070 44,611  
9,992  Due after more than one year 9 49,872 58,875  

21,671    80,942 103,486  

0  

Less: property, plant & equipment (capital) 
included in above   

0 0 
 

0  

Less: intangible assets (capital) included in 
above  

0 0 
 

0  Less: General Fund debtor included in above 9 0 0  
    80,942 103,486  

21,671  Net decrease / (increase)                                  (22,544) 

  

 
     

  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES     
    92,294  Due within one year 12  320,043 440,873  

(7,446)  Due after more than one year 12  124,334 115,642  

(277)  

Less: property, plant & equipment (capital) 
included in above 

 
(5,983) (7,505)  

0  
Less: intangible assets (capital) included in 
above 

 
0 0  

0  Less: bank overdraft 12 0 0  
4,765  Less: General Fund creditor included in above 12  (3,846) (13,878)  

14,040  

Less: lease and PFI/HUB creditors included in 
above 

12  

(131,779) (124,334)  
0  Less: interest payable included in above 12 0 0  

    302,769 410,798  

103,376  Net decrease / (increase)                                  108,029 

       

  PROVISIONS     
(20,066)  Statement of Financial Position 13a  147,265 168,808  

   
    

(20,066)  Net decrease / (increase)                                  21,543 

       

105,466  Net movement (decrease) / increase CFS    107,278 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

         
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

                               
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

      
3. OPERATING EXPENSES    
      
3a. Staff costs      

2021    
2022 2022 

Total    Board Consolidated 
£000   Note £000 £000 

153,910  Medical and Dental  161,364 161,364 

303,748  Nursing  315,745 315,745 

217,414  Other Staff  228,303 228,303 

675,072  Total SoCNE 705,412 705,412 

      

Further detail and analysis of employee costs can be found in the Remuneration and Staff Report, forming part of the Accountability Report. 
      

3b. Other operating expenditure    

2021    2022 2022 

Total    Board Consolidated 
£000    £000 £000 

 Independent Primary Care Services:    

106,690  General Medical Services  110,403 110,403 

39,039  Pharmaceutical Services  39,076 39,076 

47,651  General Dental Services  51,625 51,625 

14,019  General Ophthalmic Services  13,898 13,898 

207,399 Total 
 

215,002 215,002 

 
 
Drugs and medical supplies:  

 
 

135,711  Prescribed drugs Primary Care  136,565 136,565 

82,502  Prescribed drugs Secondary Care  96,763 96,763 

13,136  PPE and testing kits  12,837 12,837 

41,543  Medical Supplies  44,688 44,688 

272,892 Total 
 

290,853 290,853 
   

   

 Other health care expenditure    

946,498  Contribution to Integration Joint Boards  1,024,196 1,024,196 

204,123  Goods and services from other NHS Scotland bodies  212,181 212,181 

1,546  Goods and services from other UK NHS bodies  1,072 1,072 

14,758  Goods and services from private providers  18,612 18,612 

9,225  Goods and services from voluntary organisations  9,249 9,249 

45,897  Resource Transfer              46,207 46,207 

0  Loss on disposal of assets  0 0 

286,122  Other operating expenses   285,154 285,154 

200  External Auditor's remuneration - statutory audit fee  203 203 

63                                          - other services - details provided below *  56 56 

357  Endowment Fund expenditure  0 477 

1,508,789 Total  1,596,930 1,597,407 

   
   

1,989,080 Total Other Operating Expenditure  2,102,785 2,103,262 

   

 

  

* Fees in respect of audit carried out of North and South Integration Joint Boards.  Fee for audit of Patients' Private Funds. 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

      
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

      
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

      
4. OPERATING INCOME    

      
2021    2022 2022 

Total    Board Consolidated 
£000   Note £000 £000 

      

684  Income from Scottish Government  600 600 

43,168  Income from other NHS Scotland bodies  47,255 47,255 

123  Income from NHS non-Scottish bodies  412 412 

0  Income from private patients  0 0 

891,919  Income for services commissioned by Integration Joint Board  931,370 931,370 

703  Patient charges for primary care  4,126 4,126 

1,761  Donations  7,140 7,140 

1,062  Profit on disposal of assets  246 246 

3,101  Contributions in respect of clinical and medical negligence claims 
 

14,785 14,785 

143  Interest received CFS 163 163 

  Non-NHS:    

23            Overseas patients (non-reciprocal)  15 15 

0  Non-patient care income generation schemes  0 0 

1,412  Endowment Fund Income  0 512 

34,441  Other   39,946 39,946 

978,540  Total Income SoCNE 1,046,058 1,046,570 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

        
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

        
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

        
5. SEGMENT INFORMATION        

        
Segmental information as required under IFRS has been reported for each strategic objective.    

        

      Other  
  Acute     Healthcare  
  Operating Corporate IJB IJB Providers Total 

  Division Functions North South NHSL Wide 2022 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

        
Net operating cost reported to Board at 31 March 
2022  453,836 197,879 382,560 515,001 212,863 1,762,139 

        

Net Operating Cost per Annual Accounts  453,836 197,879 382,560 515,001 212,863 1,762,139 

        

        

The Board has been designated as the Chief Operating Decision Maker because it directs and controls the overall business of Lanarkshire 
Health Board. The reported segments have been chosen, as this is the basis for reporting operating and financial information to the Board. 

        

        

SEGMENT INFORMATION - PRIOR YEAR        

        

Segmental information as required under IFRS has been reported for each strategic objective.    

        

        

      Other  
  Acute     Healthcare  
  Operating Corporate IJB IJB Providers Total 

  Division Functions North South NHSL Wide 2021 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

        
Net operating cost reported to Board at 31 March 
2021  428,240 179,157 344,681 479,250 255,339 1,686,667 

        

Net Operating Cost per Annual Accounts  428,240 179,157 344,681 479,250 255,339 1,686,667 

        
The Board has been designated as the Chief Operating Decision Maker because it directs and controls the overall business of Lanarkshire 
Health Board. The reported segments have been chosen, as this is the basis for reporting operating and financial information to the Board. 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

 
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

     

     
6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS     

6A. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (NON-CURRENT) - CONSOLIDATED 

  

Software 
Licences 

IT - 
software 

Total 

 Note £000 £000 £000 

Cost or Valuation:     

At 1 April 2021  4,458 2,098 6,556 
Additions CFS 219 39 258 
Transfers between asset categories  0 0 0 
Disposals  0 0 0 

At 31 March 2022  4,677 2,137 6,814 

     

Amortisation     
At 1 April 2021  3,032 1,335 4,367 
Provided during the year  473 224 697 
Transfers between asset categories  0 0 0 
Disposals  0 0 0 

At 31 March 2022  3,505 1,559 5,064 

     

Net book value at 1 April 2021  1,426 763 2,189 

Net book value at 31 March 2022 SoFP 1,172 578 1,750 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 
 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
 

6a. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (NON-CURRENT) - BOARD 

  

Software 
Licences 

IT - 
software 

Total 

  £000 £000 £000 

Cost or Valuation:     
At 1 April 2021  4,458 2,098 6,556 
Additions  219 39 258 
Transfers between asset categories  0 0 0 
Disposals  0 0 0 

At 31 March 2022  4,677 2,137 6,814 

     

Amortisation     
At 1 April 2021  3,032 1,335 4,367 
Provided during the year  473 224 697 
Transfers between asset categories  0 0 0 

Disposals  0 0 0 

At 31 March 2022  3,505 1,559 5,064 

     

Net book value at 1 April 2021  1,426 763 2,189 

Net book value at 31 March 2022 SoFP 1,172 578 1,750 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 
 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

     
6a. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (NON-CURRENT), cont. – CONSOLIDATED PRIOR YEAR  
 
 

  

Software 
Licences 

IT - 
software 

Total 

 Note £000 £000 £000 

Cost or Valuation:     
At 1 April 2020  3,377 2,829 6,206 
Additions  208 107 315 

Transfers between asset categories  873 (838) 35 
Disposals  0 0 0 

At 31 March 2021  4,458 2,098 6,556 

     

Amortisation     
At 1 April 2020  2,541 1,113 3,654 
Provided during the year  473 238 711 
Transfers between asset categories  18 (16) 2 
Disposals  0 0 0 

At 31 March 2021  3,032 1,335 4,367 

     
Net book value at 1 April 2020  836 1,716 2,552 

Net book value at 31 March 2021 SoFP 1,426 763 2,189 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 
 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
 

6a. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (NON-CURRENT), cont. – BOARD PRIOR YEAR 

  

Software 
Licences 

IT - 
software 

Total 

  £000 £000 £000 

Cost or Valuation:     
At 1 April 2020  3,377 2,829 6,206 
Additions           208 107 315 

Transfers between asset categories  873 (838) 35 

Disposals  0 0 0 

At 31 March 2021  4,458 2,098 6,556 

     
Amortisation     
At 1 April 2020  2,541 1,113 3,654 
Provided during the year  473 238 711 
Transfers between asset categories  18 (16) 2 
Disposals  0 0 0 

At 31 March 2021  3,032 1,335 4,367 

     
Net book value at 1 April 2020  836 1,716 2,552 

Net book value at 31 March 2021 SoFP 1,426 763 2,189 
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 NHS LANARKSHIRE 
 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
  

 7a. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – CONSOLIDATED 
            

            

  

Land 
(including 

under 
buildings) 

Buildings 
(excluding 
dwellings) 

 
Transport 
Equipment 

Plant & 
Machinery 

Information 
Technology 

Furniture 
& Fittings 

Assets Under 
Construction 

Total 

  £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or valuation           
At 1 April 2021  16,678 477,029  277 85,684 12,471 5,809 5,803 603,751 
Additions – purchased  6,750 2,304  (46) 9,040 1,422 100 10,190 29,760 
Additions - donated  0 0  0 0 0 0 0 0 
Completions  0 0  0 0 0 0 0 0 
Transfers between asset categories  0 0  0 (317) 0 317 0 0 
Transfer (to)/from non-current assets held for sale  0 0  0 0 0 0 0 0 
Revaluations  0 23,422  0 0 0 0 0 23,422 
Impairment charges  0 (1,309)  0 0 0 0 (9,954) (11,263) 
Impairments reversals  0 0  0 0 0 0 0 0 
Disposals - purchased  0 0  (140) (6,854) 0 0 0 (6,994) 
Disposals – donated  0 0  0 0 0 0 0 0 

At 31 March 2022  23,428 501,446  91 87,553 13,893 6,226 6,039 638,676 

           
Depreciation           
At 1 April 2021  0 0  169 47,385 8,762 5,544 0 61,860 
Provided during the year - purchased  0 14,178  17 5,981 1,074 114 0 21,364 

Provided during the year – donated 0 0  0 42 0 0 0 42    
Asset Transfers (to)/from other SG Consolidation Entities  0 0  0 0 0 0 0 0 
Transfers between asset categories  0 0  0 (195) 0 195 0 0 
Transfers (to)/from non-current assets held for sale  0 0  0 0 0 0 0 0 
Revaluations  0 (12,224)  0 0 0 0 0 (12,224) 
Impairment charges  0 553  0 0 0 0 0 553 
Impairment reversals  0 (2,507)  0 0 0 0 0 (2,507) 
Disposals – purchased  0 0  (140) (6,854) 0 0 0 (6,994) 
Disposals – donated  0 0  0 0 0 0 0 0 

At 31 March 2022  0 0  46 46,359 9,836 5,853 0 62,094 

Net book value at 1 April 2021  16,678 477,029  108 38,299 3,709 265 5,803 541,891 

Net book value at 31 March 2022 SoFP 23,428 501,446  45 41,194 4,057 373 6,039 576,582 

           
Open Market Value of Land in Land and Dwellings 
Included Above  45  

 
      

Asset financing:           
Owned – purchased  18,376 224,503  45 41,005 4,057 373 6,039 257,499 
Owned – donated  0 0  0 189 0 0 0 189 
Held on finance lease  0 0  0 0 0 0 0 0 
On-balance sheet PFI contracts  5,052 276,943  0 0 0 0 0 318,894 

Net book value at 31 March 2022 SoFP 23,428 501,446  45 41,194 4,057 373 6,039 576,582 
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 NHS LANARKSHIRE 
 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
 

7a. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - BOARD 
 

 
 
  

Land 
(including 

under 
buildings) 

Buildings 
(excluding 
dwellings) 

Transport 
Equipment 

Plant & 
Machinery 

Information 
Technology 

Furniture 
& Fittings 

Assets Under 
Construction 

Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or valuation          
At 1 April 2021  16,678 477,029 277 85,684 12,471 5,809 5,803 603,751 
Additions – purchased  6,750 2,304 (46) 9,040 1,422 100 10,190 29,760 
Additions – donated  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Completions  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Transfers between asset categories  0 0 0 (317) 0 317 0 0 
Transfer (to)/from non-current assets held for sale  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Revaluations  0 23,422 0 0 0 0 0 23,422 
Impairment charges  0 (1,309) 0 0 0 0 (9,954) (11,263) 
Impairment reversals  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Disposals – purchased  0 0 (140) (6,854) 0 0 0 (6,994) 
Disposals – donated  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

At 31 March 2022  23,428 501,446 91 87,553 13,893 6,226 6,039 638,676 

          
Depreciation          
At 1 April 2021  0 0 169 47,385 8,762 5,544 0 61,860 
Provided during the year – purchased  0 14,178 17 5,981 1,074 114 0 21,364 
Provided during the year - donated 0 0 0 42 0 0 0 42  
Asset Transfers (to)/from other SG Consolidation Entities  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Transfers between asset categories  0 0 0 (195) 0 195 0 0 
Transfers (to)/from non-current assets held for sale  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Revaluations  0 (12,224) 0 0 0 0 0 (12,224) 
Impairment charges  0 553 0 0 0 0 0 553 
Impairment reversals  0 (2,507) 0 0 0 0 0 (2,507) 
Disposals – purchased  0 0 (140) (6,854) 0 0 0 (6,994) 
Disposals – donated  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

At 31 March 2022  0 0 46 46,359 9,836 5,853 0 62,094 

          
Net book value at 1 April 2021  16,678 477,029 108 38,299 3,709 265 5,803 541,891 

Net book value at 31 March 2022 SoFP 23,428 501,446 45 41,194 4,057 373 6,039 576,582 

Open Market Value of Land in Land and Dwellings 
Included Above 

         

 45        
Asset financing: 
Owned – purchased  18,376 224,503 45 41,005 4,057 373 6,039 294,398 
Owned – donated  0 0 0 189 0 0 0 189 
Held on finance lease  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
On-balance sheet PFI contracts  5,052 276,943 0 0 0 0 0 281,995 

Net book value at 31 March 2021 SoFP 23,428 501,446 45 41,194 4,057 373 6,039 576,582 

 
 

file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/9FADC23F.xlsx%23SoFP!G12
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/9FADC23F.xlsx%23SoFP!G12


 

 79  

NHS LANARKSHIRE 
 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
 
7a. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – CONSOLIDATED & BOARD PRIOR YEAR 
 

  

Land 
(including 

under 
buildings) 

Buildings 
(excluding 
dwellings) 

Transport 
Equipment 

Plant & 
Machinery 

Information 
Technology 

Furniture 
& Fittings 

Assets Under 
Construction 

Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or valuation          
At 1 April 2020  16,743 495,309 186 74,697 11,824 5,663 1,995 606,417 
Additions - purchased  12 1,379 91 11,295 682 46 12,178 25,683 
Additions – donated  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Completions  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Transfers between asset categories  0 0 0 (100) (35) 100 0 (35) 
Transfers (to)/from non-current assets held for sale  (75) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (75) 
Revaluations  0 (1,224) 0 0 0 0 0 (1,224) 
Impairment charges  (2) (18,434) 0 0 0 0 (8,370) (26,806) 
Impairment reversals  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Disposals - purchased  0 (1) 0 (208) 0 0 0 (209) 
Disposals - donated  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

At 31 March 2021  16,678 477,029 277 85,684 12,471 5,809 5,803 603,751 

          
Depreciation          
At 1 April 2020  0 0 158 42,228 7,588 5,444 0 55,418 
Provided during the year - purchased  0 14,531 11 5,235 1,176 91 0 21,044 
Provided during the year - donated  0 0 0 42 0 0 0 42 
Asset Transfers (to)/from other SG Consolidation Entities  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Transfers between asset categories  0 0 0 (9) (2) 9 0 (2) 
Transfers (to)/from non-current assets held for sale  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Revaluations  0 (14,850) 0 0 0 0 0 (14,850) 
Impairment charges  0 395 0 98 0 0 0 493 
Impairment reversals  0 (76) 0 0 0 0 0 (76) 
Disposals - purchased  0 0 0 (209) 0 0 0 (209) 
Disposals – donated  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

At 31 March 2021  0 0 169 47,385 8,762 5,544 0 61,860 

          
Net book value at 1 April 2020  16,743 495,309 28 32,469 4,236 219 1,995 550,999 

Net book value at 31 March 2021 SoFP 16,678 477,029 108 38,299 3,709 265 5,803 541,891 

Open Market Value of Land in Land and Dwellings Included Above 
         

 565        
Asset financing:          
Owned - purchased  11,626 213,131 108 38,068 3,709 265 5,803 272,710 
Owned - donated  0 0 0 231 0 0 0 231 
Held on finance lease  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
On-balance sheet PFI contracts  5,052 263,898 0 0 0 0 0 268,950 

Net book value at 31 March 2021 SoFP 16,678 477,029 108 38,299 3,709 265 5,803 541,891 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 
 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
 
 
 

7b. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE - CONSOLIDATED & BOARD 
 
The following assets held for sale related to surplus land at Kilsyth and Croy Clinic. These assets 
have been approved for sale by NHS Lanarkshire Capital Investment Group. 

  

Property, Plant 
& Equipment 

Total 

 Note £000 £000 

At 1 April 2021  585 585 

Transfers from property, plant and equipment  0 0 

Transfers (to)/from intangible assets 6 0 0 
Gain or losses recognised on re-measurement of non-
current assets held for sale  3 3 

Disposals of non-current assets held for sale  (520) (520) 

At 31 March 2022 SoFP  68 68 
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 Note 

Property, 
Plant & 

Equipment 
Total 

  £000 £000 

At 1 April 2020  3,110 3,110 

Transfers from property, plant and equipment  75 75 

Transfers (to)/from intangible assets 6 0 0 
Gain or losses recognised on re-measurement of non-current 
assets held for sale 

 
40 40 

Disposals of non-current assets held for sale  (2,640) (2,640) 

At 31 March 2021 SoFP  585 585 

 
 

  
    

 
 

  

 
 
 

NHS LANARKSHIRE 

 
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

 
 
 
7b. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (PRIOR YEAR) – CONSOLIDATED & BOARD 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

       
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

       
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

       
7c. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT DISCLOSURES     

       

Consolidated  Board    Consolidated Board 
2021 2021    2022 2022 
£000 £000   Note £000 £000 

   

Net book value of property, plant and 
equipment at 31 March    

541,660 541,660  Purchased  576,393 576,393 
231 231  Donated  189 189 

541,891 541,891  Total SoFP 576,582 576,582 

       

565 565  

Net book value related to land valued at open 
market value at 31 March  45 45 

0 0  

Net book value related to buildings valued at open 
market value at 31 March  0 0 

       
   Total value of assets held under:    

0 0  Finance Leases   0 0 
0 0  Hire Purchase Contracts  0 0 

268,950 268,950  PFI and PPP Contracts  281,995 281,995 

268,950 268,950    281,995 281,995 

    
 

  

   

Total depreciation charged in respect of assets 
held under:    

0 0  Finance leases   0 0 
0 0  Hire Purchase Contracts  0 0 

6,552 6,552  PFI and PPP contracts  6,503 6,503 

6,552 6,552    6,503 6,503 

       

       

All land and 100% of buildings were revalued by an independent valuer.  The Valuation Office Agency, as at 
31/03/22 on the basis of fair value (market value or depreciated replacement costs where appropriate). The 
values were computed in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors statement of Asset 
Valuation Practice and Guidance notes, subject to the special accounting practices of the NHS. 

 
The net impact was an increase of £34.337m (2020-21: a decrease of £4.808m) which was credited to the 
revaluation reserve. Impairment of £8.000m (2020-21: £8.789m) was charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure and Summary of Resource Outturn. 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

       
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

       
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

       
7d. ANALYSIS OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURE    

       

Consolidated  Board    Consolidated Board 
2021 2021    2022 2022 
£000 £000   Note £000 £000 

   Expenditure    

315 315  Acquisition of intangible assets 6 258 258 

25,683 25,683  Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 7a 29,760 29,760 

0 0  Donated asset additions 7a 0 0 

0 0  HUB  0 0 

25,998 25,998  Gross Capital Expenditure  30,018 30,018 

       

   Income    

0 0  Net book value of disposal of intangible assets 6 0 0 

0 0  

Net book value of disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 

7a 

0 0 

0 0  Net book value of disposal of donated assets 7a 0 0 

2,640 2,640  Value of disposal of non-current assets held for sale 7b 520 520 

18 18  HUB - repayment of investment  18 18 

0 0  Donated asset income    

2,658 2,658  Capital Income  538 538 

       

23,340 23,340  Net Capital Expenditure 
 

29,480 29,480 

    
 

  

   SUMMARY OF CAPITAL RESOURCE OUTTURN    

       

23,340 23,340  Core capital expenditure included above  29,480 29,480 

23,340 23,340  Core Capital Resource Limit  29,480 29,480 

0 0  Saving / (excess) against Core Capital Resource Limit  0 0 

       

0 0  Non-core capital expenditure included above  0 0 

0 0  Non-core Capital Resource Limit  0 0 

0 0  

Saving / (excess) against Non-Core Capital Resource 
Limit 

 
0 0 

       

23,340 23,340  Total capital expenditure  29,480 29,480 

23,340 23,340  Total Capital Resource Limit  29,480 29,480 

0 0  Saving / (excess) against Total Capital Resource Limit  0 0 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

       
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

       
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

       
8. INVENTORIES   

       
Consolidated Board    Consolidated Board 

2021 2021    2022 2022 
£000 £000   Note £000 £000 

       

7,618 7,618  Raw materials and consumables  7,368 7,368 

7,618 7,618  Total inventories SoFP  7,368 7,368 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

       
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

       
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

       
9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES    
       

Consolidated Board    Consolidated Board 
2021 2021    2022 2022 
£000 £000   Note £000 £000 

   Receivables due within one year                      
       
   NHS Scotland    

333 333  Scottish Government Health & Social Care Directorate  307 307 
1,906 1.906  Boards  3,112 3,112 

2,239 2,239  Total NHS Scotland Receivables  3,419 3,419 

       
50 50  NHS non-Scottish bodies  105 105 
0 0  General Fund receivable  0 0 

4,526 4,526  VAT recoverable  4,339 4,339 
7,569 7,569  Prepayments  7,785 7,785 

229 229  Accrued income  368 368 
9,133 9,050  Other receivables  10,390 10,373 
7,324 7,324  Reimbursement of provisions  18,205 18,205 

0 0  Other public sector bodies  0 0 

31,070 30,987  Total Receivables due within one year SoFP 44,611 44,594 

       
   Receivables due after more than one year    
       

   NHS Scotland    
0 0  Scottish Government Health & Social Care Directorate  0 0 
0 0  Boards  0 0 

0 0  Total NHS Scotland Receivables  0 0 

       
0 0  Other Public Sector Bodies  0 0 

275 275  Prepayments  244 244 
570 570  Accrued income  762 762 

0 0  Other receivables  0 0 
49,027 49,027  Reimbursement of provisions  57,869 57,869 

49,872 49,872  Total Receivables due after more than one year SoFP 58,875 58,875 

       

80,942 80,859  TOTAL RECEIVABLES  103,486 103,469 

       

809 809  

The total receivables figure above includes a provision for impairments 
of:  802 802 

       
   WGA Classification    

1,906 1,906  NHS Scotland  3,112 3,112 
0 0  Central Government bodies  0 0 
0 0  Whole of Government bodies  0 0 

50 50  Balances with NHS bodies in England and Wales  105 105 
78,986 78,903  Balances with bodies external to Government  100,269 100,252 

80,942 80,859  Total   103,486 103,469 
       

2021 2021    2022 2022 

£000 £000  

Movements on the provision for impairment of receivables are as 
follows:  £000 £000 

       
1,042 1,042  At 1 April  809 809 

809 809  Provision for impairment  0 0 
(7) (7)  Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable  0 0 

(1,035) (1,035)  Unused amounts reversed  (7) (7) 

809 809  At 31 March  802 802 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 
 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
 

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d) 

 
As of 31 March 2022, receivables with a carrying value of £0.802m (2020-21: £0.809m) were impaired and provided for.  The ageing of these 
receivables is as follows: 
 

Consolidated Board    Consolidated Board 
2021 2021    2022 2022 
£000 £000    £000 £000 

30 30  Up to 3 Months past due  25 25 
92 92  3 to 6 months past due  29 29 

687 687  Over 6 months past due  748 748 

809 809    802 802 

       
The receivables assessed as individually impaired were mainly [English, Welsh and Irish NHS Trusts/Health Authorities, other Health Bodies, 
overseas patients, research companies and private individuals] and it was assessed that not all of the receivable balance may be recovered. 
       
A review was carried out in 2021/22 to assess the % of debt not likely to be recovered.  This % is based on age of debt, category of customer 
and value outstanding over the preceding three years.  Based on this assessment as at 31 March 2022, receivables with a carrying value of 
£9.290m (2020-21: £5.276m) were past their due date but not impaired. The ageing of receivables which are past due but not impaired is as 
follows: 
       

2021 2021    2022 2022 
£000 £000    £000 £000 

4,081 4,081  Up to 3 months past due  8,635 8,635 
995 995  3 to 6 months past due  242 242 
200 200  Over 6 months past due  413 413 

5,276 5,276    9,290 9,290 
       
The receivables assessed as past due but not impaired were mainly NHS Scotland Health Boards, Local Authorities and Universities and there is 
no history of default from these customers recently. 
 
 
Concentration of credit risk is limited due to customer base being large and unrelated/government bodies.  Due to this, management believe that 
there is no future credit risk provision required in excess of the normal provision for doubtful receivables. 
 

The credit quality of receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is assessed by reference to external credit ratings where available. Where 
no external credit rating is available, historical information about counterparty default rates is used. 

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are shown by their credit risk below: 
       

2021 2021    2022 2022 
£000 £000  Counterparties with external credit ratings  £000 £000 

0 0  A  0 0 
0 0  BB  0 0 

0 0  
BBB 

 0 0 
0 0  Counterparties with no external credit rating:  0 0 
0 0  New customers  0 0 

76,806 76,796  Existing customers with no defaults in the past  102,684 102,667 
0 0  Existing customers with some defaults in the past  0 0 

76,806 76,796  Total neither past due or impaired  102,684 102,667 

   

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of each class of 
receivable. The NHS Board does not hold any collateral as security.    

2021 2021    2022 2022 

£000 £000  

The carrying amount of receivables are denominated in the following 
currencies:  £000 £000 

80,942 80,859  Pounds  103,486 103,469 

0 0  Euros  0 0 

0 0  US Dollars  0 0 

80,942 80,859    103,486 103,469 
       

All non-current receivables are due within 54 years (2020-21: 55 years) from the balance sheet date. 
       
The carrying amount of short-term receivables approximates their fair value. 
       
The fair value of long-term other receivables is £58.875m (2020-21: £49.872m). 
       
The effective interest rate on non-current other receivables is a combined interest rate of 103.51% for year 1, 105.71% for 2 years, 107.32% for 3 
years (2020-21 combined interest rate of 101.22% for 1 year, 102.86% for 2 years, 104.94% for 3 years). 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

       
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

       
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

       
10.  INVESTMENTS    

       
Consolidated Board    Consolidated Board 

2021 2021    2022 2022 

£000 £000    £000 £000 

       

0 0  Government securities  0 0 

6,399 1,151  Other  6,703 1,133 

6,399 1,151  TOTAL SoFP  6,703 1,133 

       

       

       

5,415 1,169  At 1 April  6,399 1,151 

1,002 0  Additions CFS  322 0 

(18) (18)  Disposals  (18) (18) 

0 0  Impairment recognised in SoCNE 2 0 0 

0 0  Revaluation surplus / (deficit) transferred to equity 
 

0 0 

6,399 1,151  At 31 March  6,703 1,133 

       

0 0  Current  SoFP  0 0 

6,399 1,151  Non-current SoFP  6,703 1,133 

6,399 1,151  At 31 March  6,703 1,133 

       

0 0  

The carrying value includes an impairment 
provision of  0 0 

       
Other financial assets comprised of an initial investment of £975,164 in Hub SW NHSL Holdco Ltd in the form of 
10.50% fixed coupon unsecured loan notes. Interest was subsequently rolled up into this investment during the 
build phase of each of the Hubs on the same terms as the initial investment. The investment is repayable in full 
with interest over a period of 25 years to NHS Lanarkshire. 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

     
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

     
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

     
11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS     

  2022  2021 

 Note £000  £000 

     

Balance at 1 April  4,374  9,141 

Net change in cash and cash equivalent balances CFS  9,931  (4,767) 

Balance at 31 March SoFP  14,305  4,374 

Overdrafts  0  0 

Total Cash - Cash Flow Statement  14,305  4,374 

The following balances at 31 March were held at:     

     

Government Banking Service  13,844  3,810 

Commercial banks and cash in hand  34  36 

Overdrafts  0  0 

Short term investments  0  0 

Endowment cash  427  528 

Balance at 31 March  14,305  4,374 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

       
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

       
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

       

12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES    
       
Consolidated  Board    Consolidated  Board 

2021 2021    2022 2022 
£000 £000   Note £000 £000 

   Payables due within one year    
   NHS Scotland    

0 0  

Scottish Government Health & Social Care 
Directorate 

 
0 0 

13,950 13,950  Boards SFR 30.0 16,428 16,428 

13,950 13,950  Total NHS Scotland Payables  16,428 16,428 

       
1,067 1,067  NHS Non-Scottish bodies  508 508 
3,846 3,846  Amounts payable to General Fund  13,878 13,878 

43,330 43,330  FHS practitioners  52,455 52,455 
7,484 7,443  Trade payables  14,654 14,557 

187,689 187,689  Accruals  279,120 279,115 
8,241 8,241  Deferred income  6,733 6,674 
7,445 7,445  Net obligations under PFI/Hub Contracts 18b 8,692 8,692 

0 0  Bank overdrafts 11 0 0 
13,358 13,358  Income tax and social security  13,643 13,643 
10,375 10,375  Superannuation  10,829 10,829 
22,757 22,757  Holiday pay accrual  23,463 23,463 

501 501  Other payables  470 470 

320,043 320,002  Total Payables due within one year SoFP 440,873 440,712 

       
   Payables due after more than one year    
   NHS Scotland    

0 0  

Scottish Government Health & Social Care 
Directorate 

 
0 0 

0 0  Boards SFR 30.0 0 0 

0 0  Total NHS Scotland Payables  0 0 

       
   Other public sector bodies    

8,692 8,692  

Net obligations under PFI/Hub contracts 
due within 2 years 

18b 
10,128 10,128 

35,579 35,579  

Net obligations under PFI/Hub contracts 
due after 2 years but within 5 years 

18b 
41,299 41,299 

80,063 80,063  

Net obligations under PFI/Hub contracts 
due after 5 years 

18b 
64,215 64,215 

124,334 124,334  

Total Payables due after more than one 
year 

SoFP 

115,642 115,642 

       

444,377 444,336  TOTAL PAYABLES  556,515 556,354 

       
       

   WGA Classification    
13,950 13,950  NHS Scotland SFR 30.0 16,428 16,428 

0 0  Central Government bodies  0 0 
0 0  Whole of Government bodies  0 0 

0 0  

Balances with NHS bodies in England and 
Wales 

 
0 0 

430,427 430,386  

Balances with bodies external to 
Government  540,087 539,926 

444,377 444,336  Total  556,515 556,354 

       
   Borrowings included above comprise:    

0 0  Bank overdrafts  0 0 
0 0  Finance leases  0 0 

131,779 131,779  PFI contracts  124,334 124,334 

131,779 131,779    124,334 124,334 

       

   

The carrying amount and fair value of the 
non-current borrowings are as follows    

   Carrying amount    

0 0  Finance leases  0 0 
124,334 124,334  PFI contracts  115,642 115,642 

124,334 124,334    115,642 115,642 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

       

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

       

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
 

       

12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (cont’d) 

 
 
Consolidated 

2021 

 
Board 
2021    

Consolidated 
2022 

Board 
2022 

Fair 
 value 

Fair  
Value  

The carrying amount and fair value of the 
non-current borrowings are as follows  

Fair  
value 

Fair  
Value 

£000 £000  Fair value  £000 £000 
0 0  Finance leases  0 0 

124,334 124,334  PFI contracts  124,334 124,334 

124,334 124,334    124,334 124,334 

       

   

The carrying amount of short-term 
payables approximates their fair value.    

2021 2021    2022 2022 

£000 £000  

The carrying amount of payables are 
denominated in the following currencies:  £000 £000 

444,377 444,336  Pounds  556,515 556,354 
0 0  Euros  0 0 
0 0  US Dollars  0 0 

444,377 444,336    556,515 556,354 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 
 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
 

13a. PROVISIONS – CONSOLIDATED AND BOARD 
       
       

 
Pensions and 

similar 
obligations 

Clinical & 
Medical Legal 
Claims against 

NHS Board 

Participation 
in CNORIS 

Other (non-
endowment) 

2022 
TOTAL 

 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000  
At 1 April 2021 11,527 54,948 80,765 25 147,265  
Arising during the year 488 47,155 4,321 219 52,183  
Utilised during the year (788) (14,895) (2,721) 0 (18,404)  
Unwinding of discount 10 (132) 0 0 (122)  
Reversed unutilised (331) (11,759) 0 (24) (12,114)  

At 31 March 2022 10,906 75,317 82,365 220 168,808  

       

       

 
Pensions and 

similar 
obligations 

Clinical & 
Medical Legal 
Claims against 

NHS Board 

Participation 
in CNORIS 

Other (non-
endowment) 

2022 
TOTAL 

 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000  
Payable in one year 1,427 8,999 20,544 220 31,190  
Payable between 2 - 5 years 3,218 32,492 50,054 0 85,764  
Payable between 6 - 10 years 3,223 3,871 4,258 0 11,352  
Thereafter 3,038 29,955 7,509 0 40,502  

At 31 March 2022 10,906 75,317 82,365 220 168,808  
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 
 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

PROVISIONS – CONSOLIDATED AND BOARD (PRIOR YEAR) 

 
Pensions 

and similar 
obligations 

Clinical & Medical 
Legal Claims 
against NHS 

Board 

Participation 
in CNORIS 

Other (non-
endowment) 

2021 
TOTAL 

 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000  
At 1 April 2020 11,916 74,251 80,852 312 167,331  
Arising during the year 905 30,573 4,194 12 35,684  
Utilised during the year (811) (3,719) (4,281) (95) (8,906)  
Unwinding of discount 16 (998) 0 (4) (986)  
Reversed unutilised (499) (45,159) 0 (200) (45,858)  

At 31 March 2021 11,527 54,948 80,765 25 147,265  

       

 
Pensions 

and similar 
obligations 

Clinical & Medical 
Legal Claims 
against NHS 

Board 

Participation 
in CNORIS 

Other (non-
endowment) 

2021 
TOTAL 

 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000  

Payable in one year 819 5,953 20,145 25 26,942  
Payable between 2 - 5 years 3,341 27,491 49,081 0 79,913  
Payable between 6 - 10 years 3,443 0 4,175 0 7,618  
Thereafter 3,924 21,504 7,364 0 32,792  

At 31 March 2021 11,527 54,948 80,765 25 147,265  
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 
 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

 
13a. PROVISIONS CONTINUED 

Pensions and similar obligations 

The Board meets the additional costs of benefits beyond the normal NHS Superannuation Scheme for 
Scotland benefits in respect of employees who retire early by paying the required amounts annually to 
the NHS Superannuation Scheme for Scotland over the period between early departure and normal 
retirement age. The Board provides for this in full when the early retirement programme becomes 
binding by establishing a provision for estimated payments discounted by the Treasury discount rate of 
(1.30%) (2020-21 0.95%) in real terms.  The expenditure is incurred over the period of time according 
to estimated life expectancy as advised by the Government Actuary. 

         
Clinical & Medical legal Claims against NHS Board 

The Board holds a provision to meet costs of all outstanding and potential clinical and medical damage 
claims. All legal claims notified to the Board are processed by the Scottish NHS Central Legal office 
who will decide upon risk liability and likely outcome of each case. The provision contains sums for 
settlement awards, legal expenses and third-party costs. Clinical and medical negligence cases lodged 
can be extremely complex. It is expected that expenditure will be charged to this provision for a period 
of up to 10 years. The amounts disclosed are stated gross and the amount of any expected 
reimbursements are shown separately as debtors in the notes to the accounts. 
 
The combined Treasury discount rates used to assess the time value of money are 103.51% for 1 year, 
105.71% for 2 years. 107.32% for 3 years (2020-21 combined interest rate of 101.22% for 1 year, 
102.86% for 2 years, 104.94% for 3 years).   
 
Other (non-endowment) 
 

Provision is made to cover non-medical claims for damages, such as accidents at work, third party 
claims and administrative failures. 

The provision is based on risk categories assessed by the Central Legal Office (CLO). 

Settlement of these claims is dependent on legal factors and is normally more than one year after the 
claim is notified. 

Also included here are provisions for future development costs. 
The combined Treasury discount rates used to assess the time value of money are 103.51% for 1 year, 
105.71% for 2 years and 107.32% for 3 years (2020-21 combined interest rates of 101.22% for 1 year, 
102.86% for 2 years, 104.94% for 3 years). 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

 
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

 
 
 

13b. CLINICAL NEGLIGENCE AND OTHER RISKS INDEMNITY SCHEME (CNORIS)   

     
2021   Note 2022 
£000    £000 

54,957 
 Provision recognising individual claims against the NHS Board as at 31 March  

75,537 

(56,351)  Associated CNORIS receivable at 31 March  9 (76,074) 

80,765  
Provision recognising the NHS Board's liability from participating in the scheme at 
31 March 

13a 82,365 

79,371  Net Total Provision relating to CNORIS at 31 March   
81,828 

     

     
The Clinical Negligence and Other Risks Scheme (CNORIS) has been in operation since 2000.  Participation in the 
scheme is mandatory for all NHS boards in Scotland.   The scheme allows for risk pooling of legal claims in relation to 
clinical negligence and other risks and works in a similar manner to an insurance scheme. CNORIS has an agreed 
threshold of £25k and any claims with a value less than this are met directly from within boards’ own budgets. 
Participants e.g. NHS boards contribute to the CNORIS pool each financial year at a pre-agreed contribution rate 
based on the risks associated with their individual NHS board. If a claim is settled the board will be reimbursed by the 
scheme for the value of the settlement, less a £25k “excess” fee. The scheme allows for the risk associated with any 
large or late in the financial year legal claims to be managed and reduces the level of volatility that individual boards 
are exposed to. 
 
When a legal claim is made against an individual board, the board will assess whether a provision or contingent liability 
for that legal claim is required. If a provision is required, then the board will also create an associated receivable 
recognising reimbursement from the scheme if the legal claim settles. The provision and associated receivable are 
shown in the first two lines above. The receivable has been netted off against the provision to reflect reimbursement 
from the scheme. 
  
As a result of participation in the scheme, boards should also recognise that they will be required to make contributions 
to the scheme in future years. Therefore, a second provision that recognises the board’s share of the total CNORIS 
liability of NHS Scotland has been made and this is reflected in third line above. 
 
Therefore, there are two related but distinct provisions required as a result of participation in the scheme. Both of these 
provisions as well as the associated receivable have been shown in the note above to aid the reader’s understanding 
of CNORIS. 
 
 
Further information on the scheme can be found at: http://www.clo.scot.nhs.uk/our-services/cnoris.aspx  
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

    
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

    
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

 
    
14. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  

    
The following contingent liabilities have not been provided for in the Accounts: 

    
2021   2022 

£000         £000 

  Nature  
42,660  Clinical and medical compensation payments          36,618 

42,660  TOTAL CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36,618 

    
The Board has not entered into the following unquantifiable contingent liabilities by offering 
guarantees, indemnities or by giving letters of comfort. None of these is a contingent liability within 
the meaning of IAS 37, since the possibility of a transfer of economic benefits in settlement is too 
remote. 

    

  Guarantees  

  None  

  Indemnities  

  None  

  Letter of comfort  

  None  

    

  CONTINGENT ASSETS  

    
42,292  Clinical and medical compensation payments          36,273 

42,292   36,273 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

 
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

 

 
15. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING YEAR 

 
There are no events after the end of the reporting period having a material effect on the accounts. 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 
       

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
       

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

 

 
       
16. COMMITMENTS  
       

Capital Commitments 

The Board has the following capital commitments which have not been provided for in the accounts 
       

2021 

   

Property, 
plant and 

equipment 
2022 

 
£000    £000 £000  

  Contracted     
80  Laboratory Information Management System  0 0  

100  Hairmyres Combined Heat and Power  0 0  

63  Day Surgery Air Handling Unit Replacement  0 0  

400  Hairmyres Vascular Surgery  1,118 1,118  

0  Monklands Ward 16 Ventilation  2,513 2,513  

0  Endoscopy Theatre Ventilation  230 230  

0  Above Ground Drainage  112 112  

0  Aseptic Plan (Pharmacy)  134 134  

0  Theatre 5 Refurbishment  400 400  

0  WoS Traumatic Brain Injury Service  197 197  

0  CAMHS  316 316  

0  West of Scotland Laundry equipment  600 600  
643  Total  5,620 5,620  

       
  Authorised but not Contracted     

1,574  Monklands Business Continuity  0 0  
900  Continuous Batch Washer  0 0  

275  Computer Aided Facilities Management  0 0  
2,749  Total  0 0  

 

 

 

 

      
Other Financial Commitments 
       

The Board has not entered into any significant non-cancellable contracts other than leases, capital commitments and PFI 
contracts. 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

     
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

     
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

     
17. COMMITMENTS UNDER LEASES   

     
Operating Leases 
Total future minimum lease payments under operating leases are given in the table below for the 
each of the following periods: 

     
Obligations under operating leases comprise: 

     
2021    2022 

£000   
 £000 

  Land   

0  Not later than one year  0 

0  Later than one year, not later than 2 years  0 

0  Later than two year, not later than five years  0 

0  Later than five years  0 

     

  Buildings   

1,761  Not later than one year  1,690 

1,483  Later than one year, not later than 2 years  1,564 

3,141  Later than two year, not later than five years  3,923 

1,906  Later than five years  9,153 

     

  Other   

2,024  Not later than one year  3,528 

1,545  Later than one year, not later than 2 years  3,206 

237  Later than two year, not later than five years  118 

0  Later than five years  0 

     

  Amounts charged to Operating Costs in the year were:   

2,892  Hire of equipment (including vehicles)  2,215 

3,249  Other operating leases  2,676 

6,141  Total  4,891 

    
 

  

Contingent rents recognised as an expense in the 
period were:   

0  Contingent rents  0 

     
Finance Leases 
None 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 
      

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
      

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
      
18. COMMITMENTS UNDER PFI CONTRACTS - On Balance Sheet 
      
The Board has entered into the following on-balance sheet PFI projects.  
 
ON BALANCE SHEET 
University Hospital Hairmyres 
The provision of a large general hospital.  The period of contract is 26 March 2001 to 30 June 2031.  The 
estimated capital value is £73.241m.  The hospital and services are provided under a contract between 
Lanarkshire Health Board and Prospect Healthcare (Hairmyres) Limited, with hard and soft facilities management 
services being supplied under a subcontract to ISS Mediclean Limited.  The hospital building is provided by way 
of a capital rental which is non indexed linked and is profiled for the duration of the contract.  Major maintenance, 
risk overhead and margin are set within the contracts financial framework, but these increase on an annual basis 
in line with the retail price index.  Hard facilities management services include the provision of estates services, 
information technology, window cleaning, pest control and energy services.  These services are subject to 
increase in line with retail price index.  Soft facilities management services include full provision of catering 
services for patients and staff, housekeeping/ward hostess, linen, portering, transport, security, switchboard and 
waste management.  These services are subject to increase in line with the retail price index.  The services 
provided are subject to a performance regime where reductions in the payments charged are recovered in line 
with the performance measurement regime.  The services provided are subject to "market testing" every seven 
years. 
      
University Hospital Wishaw 
The provision of a large general hospital.  The period of contract is 28 May 2001 to 30 November 2028.  The 
estimated capital value is £155.671m.  The hospital and services are provided under a contract between 
Lanarkshire Health Board and Summit Healthcare (Wishaw) Limited, with hard and soft facilities management 
services being supplied under a subcontract to SERCO Health Limited.  A managed radiology service is provided 
by Siemens Ltd. and under this service all major radiology diagnostic equipment is provided, maintained and 
replaced in line with an investment programme.  This sum is fixed within the contract and increased in line with 
the retail price index.  The hospital building is provided by way of an Availability Payment which is non indexed 
linked and is profiled for the duration of the contract.  Life cycle maintenance costs and insurance are set within 
the contracts financial framework, but these increase on an annual basis in line with the retail price index.  Hard 
facilities management services include the provision of estates and energy services.  These services are subject 
to increase in line with retail price index.  Soft facilities management services include full provision of catering 
services for patients and staff, cleaning/domestics, linen, portering, security, switchboard and waste 
management.  The services are set to increase in line with the retail price index.  The services provided are 
subject to a performance regime where reductions in the payments charged are recovered in line with the 
performance measurement regime.  The services provided are subject to "market testing" every seven years.       

Stonehouse Hospital 
The provision of a small community hospital.  The period of contract is 1 May 2004 to 30 April 2034.  The 
estimated capital value is £4.298m.  The hospital is provided under a contract between Lanarkshire Health Board 
and Stonehouse Hospitals Limited, with the service arrangements provided internally by Lanarkshire Health 
Board. 

      
HUB Projects 
The provision of three community Health Centres in East Kilbride, Kilsyth and Wishaw under the Scottish Future 
Trust Hubco leased model.  These new facilities opened in 2015/16 and are provided by HUB South West 
Scotland under a 25-year contract.  The Hubco provides the centres and is responsible for lifecycle and hard 
facilities management services which are delivered under a subcontract with Graham Facilities Management Ltd.  
The contract is managed under a performance regime with deduction applied to the payment for performance 
failures.  The current estimated capital value of these facilities is £43.733m. 

 
Total obligations under on-balance sheet PFI/PPP/Hub contracts for the following periods comprises: 
Under IFRIC 12 the asset is treated as an asset of the Board and included in the Board’s accounts as a non-
current asset.  The liability to pay for the property is in substance finance lease obligation.  Contractual payments 
therefore comprise two elements, imputed finance lease charges and service charges.  The imputer finance 
lease obligation as follows: 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

  

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

 
18. COMMITMENTS UNDER PFI/HUB CONTRACTS – On Balance Sheet (cont’d) 

 

2021 
Gross Minimum Lease Payments 

 
Hairmyres Wishaw Stonehouse Hubs 

2022 
TOTAL 

£000  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 

20,962 Rentals due within 1 year 
 

0 17,314 434 3,663 21,411 
21,411 Due within 1 to 2 years  0 17,813 434 3,663 21,910 
67,462 Due within 2 to 5 years  0 57,036 1,303 10,989 69,328 

113,017 Due after 5 years  0 38,582 3,039 47,619 89,240 

222,852 Total  0 130,745 5,210 65,934 201,889 

         

2021 
Less Interest Element 

 
Hairmyres Wishaw Stonehouse Hubs 

2022 
TOTAL 

£000  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 

(13,517) Rentals due within 1 year 
 

0 (9,693) (305) (2,721) (12,719) 
(12,719) Due within 1 to 2 years  0 (8,842) (291) (2,649) (11,782) 
(31,883) Due within 2 to 5 years  0 (19,802) (775) (7,452) (28,029) 
(32,954) Due after 5 years  0 (5,508) (968) (18,549) (25,025) 

(91,073) Total  0 (43,845) (2,339) (31,371) (77,555) 

 
  

 

     

2021 
Present value of minimum lease payments 

Note 
Hairmyres Wishaw Stonehouse Hubs 

2022 
TOTAL 

£000  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 

7,445 Rentals due within 1 year 12 0 7,621 129 942 8,692 
8,692 Due within 1 to 2 years 12 0 8,971 143 1,014 10,128 

35,579 Due within 2 to 5 years 12 0 37,234 528 3,537 41,299 
80,063 Due after 5 years 12 0 33,074 2,071 29,070 64,215 

131,779 Total  0 86,900 2,871 34,563 124,334 

         
  

           
2021    2022       
Total    Total       
£000    £000       

 
14,972 Interest charges 

 
    2c 13,517    

   

33,875 Other charges   43,317       

48,847 Total   56,834       

 
 
   

 

    

   

2021    2022       
£000    £000       

 
1,074 

Contingent rents (included in Other 
Charges) 

  
1,123 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 
 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
 

19. PENSION COSTS 
 

(a) NHS Lanarkshire participates in the NHS Pension Scheme (Scotland). The scheme is an unfunded statutory 
public service pension scheme with benefits underwritten by the UK Government. The scheme is financed by 
payments from employers and from those current employees who are members of the scheme and paying 
contributions at progressively higher marginal rates based on pensionable pay, as specified in the regulations. 
The rate of employer contributions is set with reference to a funding valuation undertaken by the scheme actuary. 
The last four-yearly valuation was undertaken as at 31 March 2016. This valuation informed an employer 
contribution rate from 1 April 2019 of 20.9% of pensionable pay and an anticipated yield of 9.6% employees 
contributions 
 
(b) NHS Lanarkshire has no liability for other employers’ obligations to the multi-employer scheme 
 
(c) As the scheme is unfunded there can be no deficit or surplus to distribute on the wind-up of the scheme or 
withdrawal from the scheme 
 
(d)  
(i) The scheme is an unfunded multi-employer defined benefit scheme. 
 
(ii) It is accepted that the scheme can be treated for accounting purposes as a defined contribution scheme in 
circumstances where NHS Lanarkshire is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of 
the scheme. 
 
(iii) The employer contribution rate for the period from 1 April 2021 is 20.9% of pensionable pay. The employee 
rate applied is variable and is anticipated to provide a yield of 9.6% of pensionable pay. 
 
(iv) While a valuation was carried out as at 31 March 2016, work on the cost cap valuation was suspended by 
the UK Government following the decision by the Court of Appeal (McCloud (Judiciary scheme)/Sargeant 
(Firefighters’ Scheme) cases) that the transitional protections provided as part of the 2015 reforms unlawfully 
discriminated on the grounds of age. Following consultation and an announcement in February 2021 on 
proposals to remedy the discrimination, the UK Government confirmed that the cost control element of the 2016 
valuations could be completed. The UK Government has also asked the Government Actuary to review whether, 
and to what extent, the cost control mechanism is meeting its original objectives.  The 2020 actuarial valuations 
will take the report’s findings into account. The interim report is complete (restricted) and is currently being 
finalised with a consultation. Alongside these announcements, the UK Government confirmed that current 
employer contribution rates would stay in force until 1 April 2024. 
 
(v) NHS Lanarkshire’s level of participation in the scheme is 6.68% based on the proportion of employer 
contributions paid in 2020-21. 
 
All other members automatically joined the NHS 2015 scheme on 1 April 2015.  
Further information is available on the Scottish Public Pensions Agency (SPPA) web site at www.sppa.gov.uk. 
 
National Employment Savings Trust (NEST) 
The Pensions Act 2008 and 2011 Automatic Enrolment regulations required all employers to enrol workers 
meeting certain criteria into a pension scheme and pay contributions toward their retirement. For those staff not 
entitled to join the NHS Superannuation Scheme (Scotland), the Board utilised an alternative pension scheme 
called NEST to fulfil its Automatic Enrolment obligations. 
 
NEST is a defined contribution pension scheme established by law to support the introduction of Auto Enrolment. 
Contributions are taken from qualifying earnings, which are currently from £6,240 up to £50,270, but will be 
reviewed every year by the government. The initial employee contribution is 1% of qualifying earnings, with an 
employer contribution of 1%. This will increase in stages to meet levels set by government. 
     
Date Employee Contribution Employer Contribution Total Contribution   

1st March 2013 1% 1% 2%   

1st October 2018 3% 2% 5%   

1st October 2019 5% 3% 8%   
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

    
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

    
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

 
 
Pension members can choose to let NEST manage their retirement fund or can take control themselves and alter 
contribution levels and switch between different funds. If pension members leave the Board they can continue to 
pay into NEST. 
 
NEST Pension members can take money out of NEST at any time from age 55. If suffering from serious ill health 
or incapable of working due to illness members can request to take money out of NEST early. They can take the 
entire retirement fund as cash, use it to buy a retirement income or a combination. Additionally, members can 
transfer their NEST retirement fund to another scheme. 
 
NEST is run by NEST Corporation, a trustee body which is a non-departmental public body operating at arm’s 
length from government and is accountable to Parliament through the Department for Work and Pensions. 

 

 2022 2021 

 £000 £000 

Pension cost charge for the year 91,286 84,444 

Additional costs arising from early retirement 0 0 

Provisions/liabilities/prepayments included in the Statement of Financial Position 10,906 11,527 

Pension costs for the year for staff transferred from local authority 0 0 

 

 

20. RETROSPECTIVE RESTATEMENTS   
     
There were no exceptional items of prior year adjustments in the financial year. 

 

    
21.  RESTATED PRIMARY STATEMENTS 
 
 
There were no exceptional items of retrospective restatements in the financial year. 
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

        
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

        
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

        
22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS         

        
22a. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY        
        
Financial Assets        
        

CONSOLIDATED   

Financial 
assets as 
fair value 

through OCI 

Financial 
assets at 
amortised 

cost 

Financial 
assets at 
fair value 
through 

profit/loss 

Total 

  

 Note £000 £000 £000 £000   
AS AT 31 MARCH 2022        
Assets per balance sheet        
Investments 10 0 0 6,703 6,703   
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments, reimbursements of 
provisions and VAT recoverable. 

9 11,625 0 0 11,625 
  

Cash and cash equivalents 11 14,305 0 0 14,305   

 
 25,930 0 6,703 32,633   

        

BOARD  

Financial 
assets as 
fair value 

through OCI 

Financial 
assets at 
amortised 

cost 

Financial 
assets at 
fair value 
through 

profit/loss 

Total 

  
 Note £000 £000 £000 £000   
AS AT 31 MARCH 2022        
Assets per balance sheet        
Investments 10 0 0 1,133 1,133   
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments, reimbursements of 
provisions and VAT recoverable. 

9 11,608 0 0 11,608 
  

Cash and cash equivalents 11 13,878 0 0 13,878   

 
 25,486 0 1,133 26,619   

        

CONSOLIDATED (Prior Year)  

Financial 
assets as 
fair value 

through OCI 

Financial 
assets at 
amortised 

cost 

Financial 
assets at 
fair value 
through 

profit/loss 

Total 

  
 Note £000 £000 £000 £000   
At 31 March 2021        
Assets per balance sheet        
Investments 10 0 0 6,399 6,399   
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments, reimbursements of 
provisions and VAT recoverable. 

9 9,982 0 0 9,982 
  

Cash and cash equivalents 11 4,374 0 0 4,374   

 
 14,356 0 6,399 20,755   

        

BOARD (Prior Year)  

Financial 
assets as 
fair value 

through OCI 

Financial 
assets at 
amortised 

cost 

Financial 
assets at 
fair value 
through 

profit/loss 

Total 

  
 Note £000 £000 £000 £000   
At 31 March 2021        
Assets per balance sheet        
Investments 10 0 0 1,151 1,151   
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments, reimbursements of 
provisions and VAT recoverable. 

9 9,899 0 0 9,899 
  

Cash and cash equivalents 11 3,846 0 0 3,846   

 
 13,745 0 1,151 14,896   
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NHS LANARKSHIRE 

       
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

       
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

       

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont.)       
       
Financial Liabilities       
       

CONSOLIDATED    

Liabilities 
at Fair 
Value 

through 
the SoCNE 

Financial 
liabilities 

at 
amortised 

cost 

Total 

 
 Note  £000 £000 £000  
AS AT 31 MARCH 2022       
Liabilities per balance sheet       
PFI Liabilities 12  0 124,334 124,334  
Trade and other payables excluding statutory liabilities (VAT and income 
tax and social security), deferred income and superannuation 

12 

 0 384,548 384,548  

 
 

 0 508,882 508,882  
       

BOARD   

Liabilities 
at Fair 
Value 

through 
the SoCNE 

Financial 
liabilities 

at 
amortised 

cost 

Total 

 
 Note  £000 £000 £000  
AS AT 31 MARCH 2022       
Liabilities per balance sheet       
PFI Liabilities 12  0 124,334 124,334  
Trade and other payables excluding statutory liabilities (VAT and income 
tax and social security), deferred income and superannuation 

12 

 0 384,446 384,446  

 
 

 0 508,780 508,780  

       

CONSOLIDATED (Prior Year)   

Liabilities 
at Fair 
Value 

through 
the SoCNE 

Financial 
liabilities 

at 
amortised 

cost 

Total 

 
 Note  £000 £000 £000  
At 31 March 2021       
Liabilities per balance sheet       
PFI Liabilities 12  0 131,779 131,779  
Trade and other payables excluding statutory liabilities (VAT and income 
tax and social security) and superannuation 

12 

 0 266,674 266,674  

 
 

  0 398,453 398,453  
       

BOARD (Prior Year)   

Liabilities 
at Fair 
Value 

through 
the SoCNE 

Financial 
liabilities 

at 
amortised 

cost 

Total 

 
 Note  £000 £000 £000  
At 31 March 2021       
Liabilities per balance sheet       
PFI Liabilities 12  0 131,779 131,779  
Trade and other payables excluding statutory liabilities (VAT and income 
tax and social security) and superannuation 

12 

 0 266,633 266,633  

 
 

 0 398,412 398,412  

       

  

file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/7CEC5210.xlsx%23RANGE!F78
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/7CEC5210.xlsx%23RANGE!F42
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/7CEC5210.xlsx%23RANGE!G78
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/7CEC5210.xlsx%23RANGE!G42
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/7CEC5210.xlsx%23RANGE!A78
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/7CEC5210.xlsx%23RANGE!A42
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/7CEC5210.xlsx%23RANGE!B78
file:///C:/Users/drumma/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/7CEC5210.xlsx%23RANGE!B42


 

105 

 

NHS LANARKSHIRE 
       

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
       

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
       
22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, cont.       
       
22b. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS       
       
Exposure to Risk 

The NHS Board's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 

Credit risk - the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due. 

Liquidity risk - the possibility that the NHS Board might not have funds available to meet its commitments to make payments. 

Market risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise as a result of changes in such measures as interest rates, stock market 
movements or foreign exchange rates. 

Because of the largely non-trading nature of its activities and the way in which government departments are financed, the NHS 
Board is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities.  
 
a) Credit Risk 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and other institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including 
outstanding receivables and committed transactions. 
 
For banks and other institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of 'A' are accepted.  

Customers are assessed, taking into account their financial position, past experience and other factors, with individual credit limits being set in 
accordance with internal ratings in accordance with parameters set by the NHS Board. 
 
The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.  
No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting period and no losses are expected from non-performance by any counterparties in relation 
to deposits.  

b) Liquidity Risk 
The Scottish Parliament makes provision for the use of resources by the NHS Board for revenue and capital purposes in a Budget Act for each 
financial year. Resources and accruing resources may be used only for the purposes specified and up to the amounts specified in the Budget 
Act. The Act also specifies an overall cash authorisation to operate for the financial year. The NHS Board is not therefore exposed to significant 
liquidity risks. 
 
The table below analyses the financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet to 
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months 
equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.      

  

  

Less than 
1 year 

Between 1 
and 2 years 

Between 2 
and 5 years 

Over 5 
years  

AS AT 31 MARCH 2022  £000 £000 £000 £000  
PFI Liabilities  21,411 21,910 69,328 89,240  
Total  21,411 21,910 69,328 89,240  

  
 

    

  

Less than 
1 year 

Between 1 
and 2 years 

Between 2 
and 5 years 

Over 5 
years  

At 31 March 2021  £000 £000 £000 £000  
PFI Liabilities  20,962 21,411 67,462 113,017  
Total  20,962 21,411 67,462 113,017  

  

 

    
c) Market Risk       
The NHS Board has no powers to borrow or invest surplus funds.  Financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities 
and are not held to manage the risks facing the NHS Board in undertaking its activities. 
  
i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 
The NHS Board has no significant interest-bearing assets or liabilities and as such income and expenditure cash flows are substantially 
independent of changes in market interest rates. 
 
ii) Foreign Currency Risk 
The NHS Board is not exposed to foreign currency risk. 
 
iii) Price risk 
The NHS Board is not exposed to equity security price risk. 
 

22c. FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION 
Fair Value is not considered to be materially different to carrying value. 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

 
 
     
23. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Consolidated and Board)    

     
Lanarkshire Health Board has not entered into any such transactions. 
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24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Lanarkshire Health Board Endowment Fund is managed by Trustees who are also Directors of the 
Board (as notified in the Remuneration Report), and is therefore a related party.  During the year, the 
Board did not receive from or make any payments to the Lanarkshire Health Board Endowment Fund. 
There is a balance outstanding due to the Board from the Lanarkshire Health Board Endowment Fund 
of £75,298 at the year end. 
 
North Lanarkshire Integration Joint Board (IJB) is a related party of NHS Lanarkshire.  During 2021/22 
the Board received payments from the IJB of £389,017,000 and made payments to the IJB of 
£447,714,000.  There is an outstanding balance of £33,167,000 at the year end, being the Board’s 
share of the IJB surplus. 
 
South Lanarkshire Integration Joint Board (IJB) is a related party of NHS Lanarkshire.  During 2021/22 
the Board received payments from the IJB of £519,374,000 and made payments to the IJB of 
£576,482,000.  There is an outstanding balance of £24,129,000 at the year end, being the Board’s 
share of the IJB surplus. 
 
The NHS Lanarkshire Board members who are also members of the Integration Joint Board can be 
found within the Accountability Report of these accounts. 
 
Glasgow Caledonian University (GCU) is a related party of NHS Lanarkshire.   Mrs Neena Mahal, Board 
Chair and Non-Executive Director, holds the position of Lay Governor on the Court of Glasgow 
Caledonian University (GCU).   During 2021/22 the Board received payments from GCU of £30,163 
and made payments to GCU of £155,997.   There is a balance due from GCU of £3,636 and due to 
GCU of £675 at the year end. 
 
NHS Lanarkshire is an executive non-departmental public body, sponsored by the Scottish Government 
– Heath and Social Care Directorate which is regarded as a related party. During the period, NHS 
Lanarkshire was almost entirely funded by the Scottish Government.  
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25. THIRD PARTY ASSETS      

Third party assets managed by the Board consist of balances on Patients Private Funds Accounts. 
 
 
These are not departmental assets and are not included in the accounts. The assets held at the reporting 
period date to which it was practical to ascribe monetary values comprised monetary assets, such as bank 
balances and monies on deposit, and listed securities. They are set out in the table immediately below. 

     

 
2021 

Gross 
Inflows 

Gross 
Outflows 

2022 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Monetary amounts such as bank balances and 
monies on deposit 618 237 (426) 429 

Total Monetary Assets 618 237 (426) 429 

 
 
 
  



 

109 

 

 
 

NHS LANARKSHIRE 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
 

 
 
26a. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE 
 

          

          
         

Group     Board Endowment 

Integration 
Joint Board 

South 
Lanarkshire 

Integration 
Joint Board 

North 
Lanarkshire 

Consolidated 

2021     2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 
£000                                                                                                        Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

          

   

Total income and 
expenditure       

675,072  Staff costs 3 705,412 0 0 0 705,412 

 Other operating expenditure 3      

207,399   

Independent Primary 
Care Services 

 
215,002 0 0 0 215,002 

272,892   

Drugs and medical 
supplies 

 
290,853 0 0 0 290,853 

1,508,789   

Other health care 
expenditure  1,596,930 477 0 0 1,597,407 

2,664,152 Gross expenditure for the year  2,808,197 477 0 0 2,808,674 

          

(978,540) Less: operating income 4 (1,046,058) (512) 0 0 (1,046,570) 

    
 

     
 
 

(33,781) 

Associates and joint ventures 
accounted for on an equity 
basis 

 0 
 

(24,129) (33,167) (57,296) 

    
 

     

1,651,831   Net Expenditure 
 

1,762,139 (35) (24,129) (33,167) 1,704,808 

          

 
The Board recharges £30,000 staff costs per year to the Endowment Fund. 
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26b. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITIONS 
 

 
 
         

Consolidated    Board 

 

Endowment 

Integration 
Joint Board 

South 
Lanarkshire 

Integration 
Joint Board 

North 
Lanarkshire Consolidated 

2021    2022  2022 2022 2022 2022 
£000                                                                                                                  Note £000  £000 £000 £000 £000 

  Non-current assets:        

541,891  

Property, plant and 
equipment 

SoFP 

576,582 
 

0 0 0 576,582 
2,189  Intangible assets SoFP 1,750  0 0 0 1,750 

  Financial assets:        

6,399     Investments SoFP 1,133  5,570 0 0 6,703 

45,076  

   Investments in associates 
and joint ventures 

SoFP 
0 

 
0 42,646 59,726 102,372 

49,872  

   Trade and other 
receivables 

SoFP 

58,875 
 

0 0 0 58,875 

645,427  Total non-current assets  638,340  5,570 42,646 59,726 746,282 

          
  Current Assets:        

7,618  Inventories SoFP 7,368  0 0 0 7,368 
0  Intangible assets SoFP 0  0 0 0 0 
  Financial assets:        

31,070    Trade and other receivables SoFP 44,594  17 0 0 44,611 
4,374     Cash and cash equivalents SoFP 13,878  427 0 0 14,305 

0     Investments SoFP 0  0 0 0 0 
0     Derivatives financial assets SoFP 0  0 0 0 0 

585  

Assets classified as held for 
sale 

SoFP 

68 
 

0 0 0 68 

43,647  Total current assets  65,908  444 0 0 66,352 

          

689,074  Total assets  704,248  6,014 42,646 59,726 812,634 

          
  Current liabilities        

(26,942)  Provisions SoFP (31,190)  0 0 0 (31,190) 
  Financial liabilities:        

(320,043)     Trade and other payables SoFP (440,712)  (161) 0 0 (440,873) 

0  

   Derivatives financial 
liabilities 

SoFP 

0 
 

0 0 0 0 

(346,985)  Total current liabilities  (471,902)  (161) 0 0 (472,063) 

          

342,089  

Non-current assets plus / 
less net current 
assets/liabilities  232,346 

 

5,853 42,646 59,726 340,571 

     
 

    
  Non-current liabilities        

(120,323)  Provisions SoFP (137,618)  0 0 0 (137,618) 
  Financial liabilities:        

(124,334)    Trade and other payables SoFP (115,642)  0 0 0 (115,642) 

0  

   Liabilities in associates and 
joint ventures 

 SoFP 
0 

 
0 0 0 0 

(244,657)  Total non-current liabilities  (253,260)  0 0 0 (253,260) 

          

97,432  Assets less liabilities  (20,914)  5,853 42,646 59,726 87,311 

     
 

    
  Taxpayers' Equity        

(128,783)  General fund SoFP (224,804)  0 0 0 (224,804) 
175,321  Revaluation reserve SoFP 203,890  0 0 0 203,890 

0  Other reserves SoFP 0  0 0 0 0 
45,076  Other reserves - joint venture SoFP 0  0 42,646 59,726 102,372 
5,818  Funds Held on Trust SoFP 0  5,853 0 0 5,853 

97,432  Total taxpayers' equity  (20,914)  5,853 42,646        59,726 87,311 
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26b. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (cont’d) 
 

 

        

    Board Endowment 

Integration 
Joint Board 

South 
Lanarkshire 

Integration 
Joint Board 

North 
Lanarkshire Consolidated 

  PRIOR YEAR  2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 

    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

  Non-current assets:       
  Property, plant and equipment SoFP 541,891 0 0 0 541,891 

  Intangible assets SoFP 2,189 0 0 0 2,189 

  Financial assets:       

     Investments SoFP 1,151 5,248 0 0 6,399 

  

   Investments in associates and 
joint ventures 

 
0 0 18,517 26,559 45,076 

     Trade and other receivables SoFP 49,872 0 0 0 49,872 

  Total non-current assets  595,103 5,248 18,517 26,559 645,427 

         

  Current Assets:       

  Inventories SoFP 7,618 0 0 0 7,618 

  Intangible assets SoFP 0 0 0 0 0 

  Financial assets:       

    Trade and other receivables SoFP 30,987 83 0 0 31,070 

     Cash and cash equivalents SoFP 3,846 528 0 0 4,374 

     Investments SoFP 0 0 0 0 0 

     Derivatives financial assets SoFP 0 0 0 0 0 

  Assets classified as held for sale SoFP 585 0 0 0 585 

  Total current assets  43,036 611 0 0 43,647 

         

  Total assets  638,139 5,859 18,517 26,559 689,074 

         

  Current liabilities       

  Provisions SoFP (26,942) 0 0 0 (26,942) 

  Financial liabilities:       

     Trade and other payables SoFP (320,002) (41) 0 0 (320,043) 

     Derivatives financial liabilities SoFP 0 0 0 0 0 

  Total current liabilities  (346,944) (41) 0 0 (346,985) 

         

  

Non-current assets plus / less 
net current assets/liabilities  291,195 5,818 18,517 26,559 342,089 

         

  Non-current liabilities       

  Provisions SoFP (120,323) 0 0 0 (120,323) 

  Financial liabilities:       

     Trade and other payables SoFP (124,334) 0 0 0 (124,334) 

  

   Liabilities in associates and joint 
ventures  0 0 0 0 0 

  Total non-current liabilities  (244,657) 0 0 0 (244,657) 

         

  Assets less liabilities  46,538 5,818 18,517 26,559 97,432 

         

  Taxpayers' Equity       

  General fund SoFP (128,783) 0 0 0 (128,783) 

  Revaluation reserve SoFP 175,321 0 0 0 175,321 

  Other reserves SoFP 0 0 0 0 0 

  Other reserves - joint venture SoFP 0 0 18,517 26,559 45,076 

  Funds Held on Trust SoFP 0 5,818 0 0 5,818 

  Total taxpayers' equity  46,538 5,818 18,517 26,559 97,432 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

        
26c. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS 
       

Consolidated   Board Endowment 

Integration 
Joint Board 

South 
Lanarkshire 

Integration 
Joint Board 

North 
Lanarkshire 

Consolidated 

2021   2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 
£000   £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

  Cash flows from operating activities  
   

 
(1,651,831)  Net operating expenditure (1,762,139) 35 24,129 33,167 (1,704,808) 

(7,533)  Adjustments for non-cash transactions 29,699 0 (24,129) (33,167) (27,597) 

13,986  

Add back: interest payable recognised 
in net operating expenditure 13,395 0 0 0 13,395 

(143)  

Deduct: interest receivable recognised 
in net operating expenditure (163) 0 0 0 (163) 

0  Investment income 0 0 0 0 0 
105,466  Movements in working capital 107,092 186 0 0 107,278 

(1,540,055)  

Net cash outflow from operating 
activities (1,612,116) 221 0 0 (1,611,895) 

        
  Cash flows from investing activities      

(25,406)  

Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment (28,238) 0 0 0 (28,238) 

(315)  Purchase of intangible assets (258) 0 0 0 (258) 
(1,002)  Investment additions 0 (322) 0 0 (322) 

360  

Transfer of assets (to)/from other NHS 
bodies 0 0 0 0 0 

3,720  

Proceeds of disposal of property, plant 
and equipment 784 0 0 0 784 

0  

Proceeds of disposal of intangible 
assets 0 0 0 0 0 

0  Receipts from sale of investments 0 0 0 0 0 
143  Interest received 163 0 0 0 163 

(22,500)  

Net cash outflow from investing 
activities (27,549) (322) 0 0 (27,871) 

        
  Cash flows from financing activities      

1,590,579  Funding 1,660,505 0 0 0 1,660,505 

(4,765)  

Movement in general fund working 
capital 10,032 0 0 0 10,032 

1,585,814  Cash drawn down 1,670,537 0 0 0 1,670,537 

(14,040)  

Capital element of payments in respect 
of finance leases and on-balance sheet 
PFI contracts (7,445) 0 0 0 (7,445) 

986  Interest paid 122 0 0 0 122 

(14,972)  

Interest element of finance leases and 
on-balance sheet PFI / PPP contracts 

 
(13,517) 0 0 0 (13,517) 

1,557,788  Net Financing 1,649,697 0 0 0 1,649,697 

        

(4,767)  

Net Increase / (decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents in the period 10,032 (101) 0 0 9,931 

9,141  

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the period 3,846 528 0 0 4,374 

4,374  

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the period 13,878 427 0 0 14,305 

        

  

Reconciliation of net cash flow to 
movement in net debt / cash      

(4,767)  Increase / (decrease) in cash in year 10,032 (101) 0 0 9,931 
9,141  Net debt / cash at 1 April 3,846 528 0 0 4,374 

4,374  Net debt / cash at 31 March 13,878 427 0 0 14,305 
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26c. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS (cont’d) 
       

       

   Board Endowment 

Integration 
Joint Board 

South 
Lanarkshire 

Integration 
Joint Board 

North 
Lanarkshire 

Consolidated 

  PRIOR YEAR 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 

   £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

  Cash flows from operating activities  
   

 
  Net operating expenditure (1,686,667) 1,055 15,429 18,352 (1,651,831) 

  Adjustments for non-cash transactions 26,248 0 (15,429) (18,352) (7,533) 

  

Add back: interest payable recognised 
in net operating expenditure 13,986 0 0 0 13,986 

  

Deduct: interest receivable recognised 
in net operating expenditure (143) 0 0 0 (143) 

  Investment income 0 0 0 0 0 

  Movements in working capital 105,521 (55) 0 0 105,466 

  

Net cash outflow from operating 
activities (1,541,055) 1,000 0 0 (1,540,055) 

        

  Cash flows from investing activities      

  

Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment (25,406) 0 0 0 (25,406) 

  Purchase of intangible assets (315) 0 0 0 (315) 

  Investment additions 0 (1,002) 0 0 (1,002) 

  

Transfer of assets to/(from) other NHS 
bodies 360 0 0 0 360 

  

Proceeds of disposal of property, plant 
and equipment 3,720 0 0 0 3,720 

  

Proceeds of disposal of intangible 
assets 0 0 0 0 0 

  Receipts from sale of investments 0 0 0 0 0 

  Interest received 143 0 0 0 143 

  

Net cash outflow from investing 
activities (21,498) 

 
(1,002) 0 0 (22,500) 

        

  Cash flows from financing activities      

  Funding 1,590,579 0 0 0 1,590,579 

  

Movement in general fund working 
capital (4,765) 0 0 0 (4,765) 

  Cash drawn down 1,585,814 0 0 0 1,585,814 

  

Capital element of payments in respect 
of finance leases and on-balance sheet 
PFI contracts (14,040) 0 0 0 (14,040) 

  Interest paid 986 0 0 0 986 

  

Interest element of finance leases and 
on-balance sheet PFI / PPP contracts 

(14,972) 
0 0 0 (14,972) 

  Net Financing 1,557,788 0 0 0 1,557,788 

        

  

Net Increase / (decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents in the period (4,765) (2) 0 0 (4,767) 

  

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the period 8,611 530 0 0 9,141 

  

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the period 3,846 528 0 0 4,374 

        

  

Reconciliation of net cash flow to 
movement in net debt / cash      

  Increase / (decrease) in cash in year (4,765) (2) 0 0 (4,767) 

  Net debt / cash at 1 April 8,611 530 0 0 9,141 

  Net debt / cash at 31 March 3,846 528 0 0 4,374 
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